Sublethal and lethal effects of pharmaceuticals and agricultural chemicals on the reproduction of freshwater crayfish



Jan Laurenz

Kiel

Sublethal and lethal effects of pharmaceuticals and agricultural chemicals on the reproduction of freshwater crayfish



Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

Doctor rerum naturalium

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

vorgelegt von

Jan Laurenz

Kiel, September 2020

Erster Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Heinz Brendelberger Zweiter Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Carsten Schulz Tag der Disputation: 25.11.2020 Zum Druck genehmigt: 25.11.2020

Contents

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG1						
SI	SUMMARY					
1	OVERALL INTRODUCTION					
	1.1	ORGANISMS				
	1.1.1	Astacus astacus				
	1.1.2	Procambarus virginalis				
	1.2	SUBSTANCES				
	1.2.1	Terbuthylazine				
	1.2.2	Diclofenac				
	1.3	AIM OF STUDY				
	1.4	REFERENCES OVERALL INTRODUCTION				
2	2 GONADAL DEVELOPMENT					
	2.1	EFFECTS OF DICLOFENAC AND TERBUTHYLAZINE ON GONADAL MATURATION OF NOBLE CRAYFISH				
	2.1.1	Abstract				
	2.1.2	Introduction				
	2.1.3	Material and Methods23				
	2.1.4	Results				
	2.1.5	Discussion				
	2.1.6	References Effects of Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine on gonadal maturation of noble crayfish				
		32				
	2.2	EFFECTS OF DICLOFENAC AND TERBUTHYLAZINE ON GONADAL MATURATION OF MARBLED CRAYFISH				
	2.2.1	Introduction				
	2.2.2	Material and methods				
	2.2.3	Results				
	2.2.4	Conclusion				
3	EMB	RYONIC DEVELOPMENT				
	3.1	NOBLE CRAYFISH ARE MORE SENSITIVE TO TERBUTHYLAZINE THAN PARTHENOGENETIC MARBLED CRAYFISH				
	3.1.1	Abstract				
	3.1.2	Introduction				
	3.1.3	Material & methods				
	3.1.4	Results				
	3.1.5	Discussion				
	3.1.6	Declarations				

	3.1.7	References Noble crayfish are more sensitive to Terbuthylazine than parthenogenetic	
	marble	d crayfish	52
	3.2 E	FFECTS OF DICLOFENAC ON THE EMBRYONIC DEVELOPMENT OF FRESHWATER CRAYFISH	56
	3.2.1	Abstract	57
	3.2.2	Introduction	57
	3.2.3	Material and methods	58
	3.2.4	Results	61
	3.2.5	Discussion	65
	3.2.6	Conclusion	68
	3.2.7	Acknowledgments	68
	3.2.8	Competing interests	68
	3.2.9	Authors' contributions	68
	3.2.10	References Effects of Diclofenac on the embryonic development of Freshwater Crayfi	sh 69
4	INFLUE	ENCES UNDER OUTDOOR CONDITIONS	73
-			
	4.1 Fi	RESHWATER CRAYFISH IN FIELD EXPERIMENTS: DESIGN AND EFFICIENCY OF THREE NOVEL ENCLOSURES	73
	4.1.1	Abstract	74
	4.1.2	Introduction	75
	4.1.3	Material and Methods	76
	4.1.3.1	STUDY ANIMALS	76
	4.1.3.2	ENCLOSURE DESIGNS	76
	4.1.3.4	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	79
	4.1.4	Results	79
	4.1.4.1	Adult animals	79
	4.1.4.2	EMBRYONIC DEVELOPMENT	80
	4.1.5	Discussion	82
	4.1.5.1	ENCLOSURE QUALITY AND HANDLING	83
	4.1.6	References Freshwater crayfish in field experiments: design and efficiency of three nove	1
	enclosu	ures	85
	4.2 Si	EWAGE TREATMENT PLANTS AFFECT EMBRYONIC DEVELOPMENT OF ASTACUS ASTACUS (LINNAEUS 1758)	88
	4.2.1	Abstract	89
	4.2.2	Introduction	89
	4.2.3	Material and methods	90
	4.2.4	Results	94
	4.2.5	Discussion	101
	4.2.6	Conclusion	104
	4.2.7	References Sewage treatment plants affect embryonic development of Astacus astacus	
	(Linnae	eus 1758)	105

5	OVERALL DISCUSSION AND PERSPECTIVE110		
	5.1	DISCUSSION AND CONNECTION OF CHAPTERS 2, 3 AND 4	
	5.2	PERSPECTIVE	
	5.3	REFERENCES OVERALL DISCUSSION AND PERSPECTIVE	
6	APPE	NDIX	
	6.1	LIST OF FIGURES	
	6.2	LIST OF TABLES	
	6.4	SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL CHAPTER 2	
	6.5	SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL CHAPTER 3	
	6.5.1	Noble crayfish are more sensitive to Terbuthylazine than parthenogenetic marbled crayfish	
		128	
	6.5.2	Effects of Diclofenac on the embryonic development of freshwater crayfish	
	6.6	SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL CHAPTER 4	
	6.6.1	Agrolab study site Data131	
	6.7	Acknowledgments	
7	EIDE	SSTATTLICHE ERKLÄRUNG	

Zusammenfassung

"Unter Oecologie verstehen wir die gesammte Wissenschaft von den Beziehungen des Organismus zur umgebenden Aussenwelt, wohin wir im weiteren Sinne alle "Existenz-Bedingungen" rechnen können. Diese sind theils organischer, theils anorganischer Natur; sowohl diese als jene sind, wie wir vorher gezeigt haben, von der grössten Bedeutung für die Form der Organismen, weil sie dieselbe zwingen, sich ihnen anzupassen."

So lautet die erste Definition des Begriffes Ökologie aus dem Jahr 1866, in dem von Ernst Haeckel verfassten Werk "Generelle Morphologie der Organismen". Noch heute, mehr als 150 Jahre später, hat diese Definition nicht an Bedeutung verloren. Im Gegenteil, die Forschung der letzten Jahrzehnte befasst sich zunehmend mit einem ganzheitlichen biologischen Ansatz.

Der Einbezug anthropogener Einflüsse nimmt dabei eine immer wichtigere Rolle ein. Vor allem die Betrachtung negativer Effekte aufgrund eingetragener Chemikalien in Oberflächengewässer auf Organismen und somit auf das gesamte Ökosystem gewinnt dabei stetig an Bedeutung. Daher wird dieser Aspekt auch in der vorliegenden Dissertation aufgegriffen. Um das Verständnis von Auswirkungen chemischer Belastungen zu erweitern, wurde in dieser Arbeit untersucht, ob und wie bestimmte Stoffe die Reproduktion von Flusskrebsen – eine Gruppe, die für das Ökosystem aufgrund ihrer Ernährungsweise und ihres Einflusses auf die Gewässerstruktur einen besonderen Stellenwert innehat – beeinflussen.

Zu diesem Zweck wurde zunächst in Laboruntersuchungen der Einfluss zweier Chemikalien auf die Gonadenreifung und die Embryonalentwicklung der einheimischen, gefährdeten Edelkrebse (*Astacus astacus*) und der nicht endemischen, sich parthenogenetisch vermehrenden Marmorkrebse (*Procambarus virginalis*) untersucht. Die Stoffe Diclofenac und Terbuthylazin wurden hierfür aufgrund ihres hohen Vorkommens in Oberflächengewässern sowie ihrer bekannten Toxizität ausgewählt. Diclofenac ist ein Arzneimittel, das bei Schmerzen und Entzündungen sowohl human- als auch veterinärmedizinische Anwendung findet, wohingegen Terbuthylazin ein Vorauflauf-Herbizid darstellt, welches vornehmlich im Sorghum-, Zitrus-, Mais-, Wein- und Apfelanbau verwendet wird. Die Ergebnisse zeigen eine Beeinträchtigung von Edelkrebsen in allen getesteten Konzentrationen, die so gewählt wurden, dass sowohl real gemessene Konzentrationen in Oberflächengewässern als auch weit größere Dosen beider Stoffe abgedeckt wurden. Vor allem subletale Effekte, wie histopathologische Veränderungen und Größendefizite der Nachkommen, treten hier auf. Marmorkrebse hingegen zeigen gegenüber Schadstoffen eine höhere Resistenz. Während die durch Diclofenac ausgelösten Effekte auf die Embryonalentwicklung noch vergleichbar mit denen der Edelkrebse sind, zeigt sich bei den übrigen Ergebnissen, dass die Reproduktion von Marmorkrebsen erst bei Konzentrationen, die bereits ein

Vielfaches über den Stoffmengen liegen, die in Oberflächengewässern nachgewiesen werden können, beeinträchtigt wird. Die Ergebnisse der Laboruntersuchungen zeigen also, dass die Reproduktion und damit auch die Populationsdynamik von Edelkrebsen durch aktuell in den Oberflächengewässern bestehende Stoffkonzentrationen negativ beeinflusst wird. Zusätzlich konnte gezeigt werden, dass die Nutzung des Marmorkrebses als Modellorganismus für die Effektgrenzenbestimmung einzelner Stoffe nur bedingt möglich ist.

Da jedoch beide Stoffe in der Umwelt in der Regel nicht als alleinige Verunreinigung auftreten, sondern meist mit einer Reihe anderer Stoffe durch Drainagen der Landwirtschaft oder Auslässe von Kläranlagen in Oberflächengewässer eingetragen werden, wurden auch Auswirkungen real existierender Mischkontamination im Feld untersucht. Zu diesem Zweck wurden eitragende Edelkrebsweibchen verschieden stark belastetem Oberflächengewässer ausgesetzt. Die Verschmutzung, die punktuell durch einen Kläranlagenabfluss eingeleitet wird, hatte immense Auswirkungen auf die Embryonalentwicklung der Tiere. Sowohl letale, als auch subletale Effekte konnten nachgewiesen werden.

Insgesamt zeigt diese Arbeit, dass Konzentrationen von Umweltchemikalien, die momentan in Gewässern Europas und der Welt gemessen werden, die Reproduktion und damit die Arterhaltung der gefährdeten Edelkrebse negativ beeinflussen. Als Konsequenz sollte daraus folgen, dass die Kontamination von Gewässern stärker überwacht und die Einleitung chemischer Stoffe effektiver verhindert werden muss.

Summary

"By ecology, we understand the entire science of the organism's relations to the surrounding outside world, which include all "conditions of existence" in a broader sense. These are partly organic, partly inorganic; both are, as we have previously shown, of the greatest importance for the form of organisms, because they force it to adapt to them."

This is the first definition of the term ecology from 1866, written down in the work "Generelle Morphologie der Organismen" (General Morphology of Organisms) by Ernst Haeckel. Even today, more than 150 years later, this definition has not lost its meaning. On the contrary, research has increasingly focused on a holistic biological approach in recent decades.

The inclusion of anthropogenic impacts is a growing field of study. In particular, the consideration of negative effects on organisms and, thus, on the entire ecosystem due to chemicals introduced into surface waters has become more and more important. Therefore, this aspect is focused on in this dissertation. In order to expand the understanding of the effects of chemical pollution, this thesis investigates whether and how certain substances affect the reproduction of crayfish, a group that is of particular importance for the ecosystem due to their diet and their impact on the structure of the water body.

To this end, the influence of two chemicals on the gonadal maturation and embryonic development of the endangered, native noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) and the non-native parthenogenetically reproducing marbled crayfish (Procambarus virginalis) was investigated in laboratory studies. The substances Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine were selected for this study because of their high incidence in surface water bodies and their known toxicity. Diclofenac is a drug that is used to treat pain and inflammation in both human and veterinary medicine, while Terbuthylazine is a pre-emergence herbicide used primarily in the cultivation of sorghum, citrus fruits, corn, grapes and apples. The results show the impairment of noble crayfish reproduction in all tested concentrations, which were chosen to cover both, actually measured concentrations in surface waters and much higher doses of both substances. Especially sublethal effects such as histopathological changes and size deficits of the offspring occurred. In contrast, marbled crayfish show a higher resistance to the pollutants. While the effects induced by Diclofenac are still comparable to those on noble crayfish, the other results show that the reproduction of marbled crayfish is only impaired at concentrations that are multiple times higher than the amounts of substances that can actually be detected in surface waters. Therefore, the results of the laboratory investigations show that the reproduction and also the population dynamics of noble crayfish are impaired by currently existing substance concentrations in surface waters. In

addition, it was shown that the use of marbled crayfish as model organisms for the determination of effective concentrations of individual substances is only possible to a limited extent.

Since both substances do not usually occur in the environment as single contaminants but are usually introduced into surface waters together with a number of other chemicals through agricultural drains or outlets of sewage treatment plants, the effects of real mixed contamination were also investigated. For this purpose, egg-carrying female noble crayfish were exposed to different levels of contamination in surface waters in a field study. The pollution, which was discharged through a sewage treatment plant outlet, had immense effects on the embryonic development of the animals. Both lethal and sub-lethal effects could be demonstrated.

Overall, this work shows that concentrations of environmental chemicals, currently measured in surface waters of Europe and beyond, influence the reproduction and, thus, the conservation of endangered noble crayfish. As a consequence, the contamination of water bodies should be controlled more closely, and the discharge of chemical substances should be prevented more effectively.

1 Overall introduction

The ecology of freshwater ecosystems is influenced by human actions in various ways: structural changes resulting in an unnatural flow regime, the intervention in flora and fauna due to overfishing and stocking of non-indigenous species and the discharging of chemically contaminated wastewater leading to a disruption of ecological networks. The aim of the European water framework directive (WFD) is the improvement of deficient structures of water bodies. The species protection law and the regulation (EU) No. 1143/2014 on the prevention and management of the introduction and spread of invasive alien species aims to protect the endemic flora and fauna. The handling of problems regarding chemicals induced to water bodies is more difficult to address. Apart from an upper limit of all toxic substances in drinking waters of $0.1 \mu g/L$, only regulations and recommendations of usage and cleaning of water introduced in surface water bodies are available.

At least 223 chemicals are frequently detected in European freshwater bodies (Malaj et al., 2014), each of which can show different effects on the present species. The vast majority of chemicals originate from agricultural or pharmaceutical substances (Murray et al., 2010). While agricultural substances, intentionally used as fertilisers or plant protection products, occur in surface waters in peaks during the application period, pharmaceuticals are used and introduced throughout the whole year. Pharmaceuticals can represent the entire range of human and veterinarian medicine. Both chemical groups can lead to the formally intended effects, side effects and totally unexpected effects in nontarget organisms.

The Impact of substances on the ecosystem is highest, when organisms that have an extraordinary influence on their surroundings are affected. Freshwater crayfish are of exceptional importance for their environment. They affect nearly every trophic level of their habitat and influence their structural environment due to their burrowing activity. Therefore, these largest invertebrates of freshwater bodies are called "keystone species" and "ecosystem engineers" (Weinländer and Füreder, 2016). Consequently, the habitat directive protects all native freshwater crayfish species in Europe (European Commission, 2000). Nevertheless, these species are highly endangered. Invasive species, the crayfish plague (*Aphanomyces astaci*), structural stress and chemical load cause population decline (Chucholl, 2011). Especially the influences of presumed toxic chemicals on sensitive life stages affect population recruitment and dynamics. Therefore, freshwater crayfish and their sensitive life stages during reproduction are the focus of this investigation, in combination with a selection of chemicals, which will be described in the following chapters. The native noble crayfish *Astacus astacus* is exceptionally well-suited for this study due to its preferred habitat, which is often found in surface waters influenced by wastewater plants and agriculture (Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002). In addition to this species, the non-endemic marbled crayfish *Procambarus virginalis* was investigated. Its reproduction cycle, which

is described in more detail in the following chapters, enables the researcher to carry out investigations on toxicological effects much safer and faster than for other freshwater crayfish. If the observed effects are comparable to those of other crayfish species, the marbled crayfish could serve as a model organism and be of great importance in future crayfish studies.

Due to their known toxic effects and the regular detection of these substances, Terbuthylazine (TBA) and Diclofenac (DCF) are of special concern in toxicological investigations. Therefore, these two chemicals were used in laboratory experiments. Additionally, a field experiment was conducted to evaluate the effects a real sewage treatment plant (STP) output can have on freshwater crayfish.

1.1 Organisms

1.1.1 Astacus astacus

The European noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus*, Linnaeus 1758, Figure 1.1) is an arthropod of the class Crustacea, the subclass Malacostraca and the order Decapoda and is a member of the family Astacidae. Other members of this family are *Astacus leptodactylus* (Eschscholz 1823), *Austropotamobius pallipes* (Lereboulette 1858), *Austropotamobius torrentium* (Schrank 1803) and *Astacus pachypus* (Rathke 1837). *Astacus* shows three subspecies: *A. astacus*, *A. balcanicus* and *A. colchicu*. Male noble crayfish can reach a length of more than 15 cm without claws and a weight of 250 g. Female body and claw size is smaller and they reach up to 15 cm and 200 g (Hager, 2003). As in all freshwater crayfish, the body of noble crayfish consists of a cephalothorax and a pleon. Dorsal colour is dark brown, but can vary to a brighter beige; in some cases, even blue or red animals occur (Füreder, 2009).



Figure 1.1: Adult male Astacus astacus. Picture: Daniel Konn-Vetterlein.

The carapace is smooth and does not show thorns or humps, but it has lateral granular tubercles. As distinguishing features, the noble crayfish has two thorns or humps behind the cervical furrow and two postorbital ridges (Füreder and Machino, 2002). Claws of noble crayfish are bigger in male specimens. They are heavily grained and dorsally of the same colour as the carapace. The colour of the ventral side of the body and of the end of the pereiopods is red to red-brown (Füreder and Machino, 2002).

The individuals can live up to 15 years and sexual maturity is reached at a size of 60 to 70 mm for male individuals. Females reach sexual maturity at 62 to 85 mm. In outdoor populations, these sizes are reached between the third and fifth year after hatching (Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002). Mating takes place between September and November as temperatures decrease (Ackerfors, 1999). As in most crayfish species, male noble crayfish attach spermatophores between the second and fourth pleopods and the telson of females. During oviposition, the eggs get in contact with the spermatophores for fertilisation and are attached to the pleopods for the rest of the embryonic development until the first moulting of juvenile crayfish (Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002). Embryonic development will last for 1900 degree days. In Germany, this is equivalent to a hatching in May to June (Burk, 2004). Noble crayfish are omnivorous. Their main food source consists of semiaquatic vegetation, benthic invertebrates and detritus. Further, zooplankton, tadpoles and small fishes can be a food resource (Olsson et al., 2008).

The noble crayfish is commonly known as a species requiring extraordinarily clear and cold water to survive and reproduce. Therefore, its presence is regarded as an indicator of good water parameters.

Low pH-values, however, can cause a lack of calcium carbonate and pose a problem for the synthesis of chitin. Furthermore, temperatures over 25 °C are critical for the survival this species (Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002). The assumption about the crayfish's distribution in clear and cold water can be explained by the occurrence of the crayfish plague, which does not appear in these kind of water bodies. The oomycete, the causative agent of the crayfish plague, is a key threat to crayfish biodiversity worldwide (Svoboda et al., 2017). North American crayfish species, which have co-evolved with A. astaci, are considered to be chronic but largely asymptomatic carriers. They combat A. astaci through consistent production of prophenoloxidase, which activates a cascade resulting in melanization of hyphae that prevents their invasion into host soft tissues (Persson et al., 1987). European, Japanese and Australian freshwater crayfish species like Astacus astacus, however, have been found to be highly susceptible to the crayfish plague fungus. Mortalities occur in percentages of 100 % for these species after a fungal attack (Unestam, 1969). The mycelia grow rapidly through the cuticle and reach the internal body cavity, which results in crayfish death within 6–10 days (Unestam and Weiss, 1970). Outbreaks of the crayfish plague have eradicated many populations of native crayfish all over Europe, including Astacus astacus populations (Kozubíková-Balcarová et al., 2014). Therefore, the crayfish plague in combination with an unnatural water flow regime caused by human interference in water structure as well as chemical loads in surface waters are considered the main reasons for the decreasing numbers of A. astacus populations (Svobodová et al., 2012). As a result, this species is on the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species and is also protected through the habitat directive (Edsman et al., 2015).

1.1.2 Procambarus virginalis

The marbled crayfish *Procambarus virginalis* (Lyko 2017, Figure 1.2) occurred for the first time in 1995. Its origin is unknown, but this species developed most likely through breeding for aquaristic distribution (Vogt, 2018). Due to its appealing appearance and the special parthenogenetic reproduction method, the animals were popular in pet shops, and this species was the most demanded crayfish in northern America in 2015 (Faulkes, 2015). In 2010, (Martin et al.) found the origin of this species in the slough crayfish *Procambarus fallax* (Hagen, 1870), which belongs to the family of Cambaridae. The triploid set of chromosomes of marbled crayfish was caused by a fusion of a not-reduced, diploid ovum with a haploid sperm cell or the fusion of a normal ovum with two haploid spermatophores, respectively. Analyses showed that all gametes of *P. virginalis* have their origin in *P. fallax*. Therefore, *P. virginalis* is no hybrid (Vogt, 2015), but an autopolyploid, which often results in parthenogenetic reproduction just like in the example of the marbled crayfish (Martin et al., 2015). The parthenogenetic reproduction of this species is apomictic, which means that there is no reduction division of the egg cells of the marbled crayfish. Thus, the genome of the offspring of apomictic animals is identical with their mother's genome, so that there are only female animals known (Simon et al.,

2003). Thanks to their parthenogenetic reproduction, this species is able to lay eggs every 8 to 9 weeks under optimal conditions (Vogt, 2010).

Adult marbled crayfish reach lengths of 4–8 cm without claws and a weight of 1.5–15 g. Some individuals can even reach up to 12 cm and 25 g (Vogt, 2011). The lifespan of this species of two to four years is noticeably lower than for noble crayfish. First reproduction normally starts between 150 to 250 days after hatching (Vogt, 2010). The main characteristic of this species is the smooth, marbled carapace, which is the origin of its trivial name. There are several thorns behind the cervical furrow. The claws of this species, which are normally smaller than half of the carapace, also show the characteristic marbling. They are lightly grained on the dorsal side, and a clear spike is visible on the root of the two parts of the claw. They also have a pair of postorbital ridges.

These animals have lower demands on their environment than noble crayfish. The preferred temperature lays between 20 and 25 °C (Seitz et al., 2005). However, they are able to outlast temperatures below 8 and over 30 °C, but without being able to reproduce (Hunter et al., 2011).

The extraordinary reproduction strategy of these animals is advantageous for researchers. The steady supply of offspring and the genetic conformity makes them a suitable model organism (Vogt, 2010). On the downside, this fast reproduction results in uncontrollable populations in outdoor water bodies if one animal escapes or is released into nature. Additionally, this species is known as a carrier of the crayfish plague, which results in a high-risk potential for endemic crayfish species, especially in combination with the potentially high reproduction rate and the food and habitat competition. In many countries, including Germany, wild and stable populations of marbled crayfish are known to date (Chucholl et al., 2012).



Figure 1.2: Adult Procambarus virginalis with eggs. Picture: Jan Laurenz.

1.2 Substances

1.2.1 Terbuthylazine

Terbuthylazine (N2-tert-butyl-6-chloro-N4-ethyl-1,3,5-triazine-2,4diamine, Figure 1.3) is a chloro-striazine characterized by ethylamino and tert-butylamino side chains. It is a replacement of the herbicide Atrazine (Figure 1.3), which was banned in Germany and Italy in 1991 (Sassine et al., 2017) and in the remaining countries of the European Union in 2004 (Fingler et al., 2017) due to the widespread contamination of ground and surface waters as well as its associated endocrine disrupting activity. TBA is one of the most frequently detected pesticides in natural waters (Tasca et al., 2018). Concentrations of up to 34.0 μ g/L were detected in surface waters (Herrero-Hernández et al., 2017). Not only high concentrations and persistence (average half-life of 22 days), but also the deethylated metabolite desethylterbuthylazine occurs, which has been found to be one of the most abundant polar plant protection metabolites in EU aquifers (Loos et al., 2010).



Figure 1.3: Structural formula of Atrazine (left) and Terbuthylazine (right).

TBA is used as a pre-emergence herbicide to inhibit the photosynthesis of the target organisms, such as annual dicotyledonous weeds or the cockspur *Echinochloa crus-galli*.

Approximately 60 % of the combined area in corn production in Europe receives TBA. It is used in more than 45 countries and remains a key weed control tool in crops such as corn, sorghum, pea, bean, lupin, grape, pome fruit, citrus and vine (Heri et al., 2008).

We can find toxicological effects of TBA a wide range of LOECs (lowest observed effective concentrations). The approval report for successor T, for instance, describes median effective concentrations for *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata* at 12 μ g/L, for *Lemna gibba* at 13.3 μ g/L and for *Daphnia magna* at 19 μ g/L. Bókony et al. (2020) showed effects starting at 0.3 μ g/L for *Rana dalmatina*. Velisek et al. (2015) showed LOEC of TBA on common carp at 2.9 μ g/L. For freshwater crayfish, there are no direct data for Terbuthylazine, but a derivate, terbuthylazine-2-hydroxy, was tested. Koutnik et al. (2017) showed effects on weight of juvenile marbled crayfish (*Procambarus virginalis*) at 75 mg/L. Stara et al. (2016) showed effects of terbuthylazine-desethyl on the histology of red swamp crayfish (*Prombarus clarkii*) from 2.9 μ g/L. The log KOW (octanol/water partition coefficient) of 3.4 leads to a higher possibility of bioaccumulation over time (Barbieri et al., 2019) and,

therefore, even higher impacts of this pesticide on organisms over time and as well for animals in higher trophic levels.

Investigations that reflect the actual chemical load of surface waters are of severe importance for crayfish populations. The pollution of water bodies is composed of several different chemicals (Kienzler et al., 2014). Velisek et al. (2017) showed a higher risk of mixtures of triazine derivates on crayfish than the single components. Therefore, investigations regarding effects of chemical mixtures including triazines are also of great importance to improve the understanding of effects caused by these substances.

1.2.2 Diclofenac

Diclofenac (2-(2,6-dichloranilino) phenylacetic acid, Figure 1.4) is one of the most used pharmaceuticals in the world. It is a human and veterinary drug and approximately 940 tons are used worldwide per year (Zhang et al., 2008). In Europe, 179.8 tons per year were sold in 1999 (Ferrari et al., 2003), whereas most was applied in Germany with 82 tons in 2009 (Bergmann et al., 2011). The non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) reduces inflammation or is applied as a pain reliever in certain conditions (Hunter et al., 2011). It decreases the production of thromboxanes and prostaglandins (Satoh et al., 2015) to reduce pain, inflammation and fever in target organisms. Similar to Terbuthylazine, Diclofenac has a high log KOW of 4.05. Therefore, the bioaccumulation over time or trophic levels is even higher than for TBA.



Figure 1.4: Structural formula of Diclofenac.

DCF is relatively stable in the environment, but similar to other NSAIDs it is sensitive to photolysis (Epold et al., 2012). Therefore, the missing UV-clarification in sewage treatment plants leads to relatively high concentrations in surface and ground waters. Bouju et al. (2016) showed that only 40 % of Diclofenac can be removed in 18 days in wastewater treatment plants. It has been found in concentrations of up to 29.8 μ g/L in surface waters (Lin et al., 2008) and is, with 3.996 positively detected MECs (measured environmental concentrations), the most detected substance of the chemicals on the watch list of the database "Pharmaceuticals in the environment" of the UBA (German Environment Agency). It is considered a "contaminant of emerging concern" and was included in the previous watch list of EU Decision 2015/495 (Li et al., 2019; Lonappan et al., 2016; Sousa et al., 2018)

to gather sufficient monitoring information on surface waters (Sathishkumar et al., 2020). Further, this prevalent anti-inflammatory drug was detected in 55 countries (Dusi et al., 2019). The photolytic degradation of DCF in combination with less light, lower temperature and water chemistry is leading to higher concentrations in surface waters during winter and, therefore, over the reproduction or embryonic development time of freshwater crayfish.

The effects of DCF on prostaglandin expression can also show a wide range of effects on non-target organisms. Prostaglandin influences not only symptoms of pain and fever, but is also essential for ion-transport, oogenesis, spermatogenesis, sperm maturation and the immune defense (Rossitto et al., 2015; Rowley et al., 2005). Eades and Waring (2010) showed effects of DCF on osmoregulation of *Carcinus maenas* at concentrations of 10–100 ng/L. Median lethal concentrations (LC_{50}) for regularly used organisms for admission procedures like *Daphnia magna* ($LC_{50}^{48h} = 60.7 \text{ mg/L}$) and *Moina macrocopa* ($LC_{50}^{48h} = 142,6 \text{ mg/L}$) were much higher than actual concentrations in surface waters (Lee et al., 2011). Nevertheless, the same study showed that DCF influences time and ratio of hatching of *Oryzias latipes*. Even more alarming, DCF reduces reproduction success of the second generation to zero even though only the first generation was exposed to 10 mg/L DCF. Du et al. (2016) investigated the influences of DCF on the total number of broods per female and the total egg production number per female (Figure 1.5). The median effective concentration peak during the reproduction and embryonic development, paired with the high influence of DCF on these sensitive live stages, shows the importance of investigations dealing with these effects.



Figure 1.5: Adverse effects of Diclofenac on the reproduction of D. magna with endpoints including the total number of broods per female and the total egg production number per female at 21 days. Significant differences (p\0.05) among the treatments for the total number of carapaces per adult and body length were indicated by different letters (a, b, c, d, e, f and a', b', c', d', e', f'), respectively (changed after Du et al. (2016).

1.3 Aim of study

The available literature data reveal the lack of information on influences of chemicals on the vast majority of non-target organisms. This study will help to fill some of these gaps and can initiate new approaches to questions regarding toxicology on freshwater crayfish. Therefore, two main questions are examined:

1: Are reproduction stages of freshwater crayfish influenced by the chemicals TBA and DCF or by the mixture of chemicals with in the sewage of treatment plants?

2: Are marbled crayfish suitable as model organisms in toxicological studies?

To address the first question, the whole reproduction cycle of both crayfish species *Astacus astacus* and *Procambarus virginalis* has to be investigated. Because of the complexity of the reproduction and the accompanying difficulty to detect the time and type of appearing effects on the animals, the reproduction cycle is split into two parts. The first part, described in chapter 2, covers effects on gonadal maturation of both female and male crayfish. This approach involves the exposure of mature crayfish to the two chemicals mentioned above.

The second part is designed to show effects occurring during the embryonic development of the two species in chapter 3. Therefore, the embryos were analysed while being separated from maternal animals. Investigated parameters represent both lethal and sublethal effects on the two species.

To reflect and evaluate laboratory experiment results, a field experiment analysing the effects of wastewater treatment plants was carried out. The unknown influences of mixtures of anthropogenically produced and discharged concentrations of chemicals in surface waters are investigated in the last manuscript in chapter 4. To this end, adult egg-carrying female crayfish were exposed to an area influenced by wastewater.

The inclusion of marbled crayfish in these studies is supposed to reveal possible similarities in responses to DCF and TBA concentrations in the two crayfish species. The highly invasive potential of this species excludes it from all outdoor setups. In laboratory experiments, however, these animals could improve the data in quantity and quality due to their high reproduction number and genetic conformity so that they could serve as model organisms for native freshwater crayfish species.

1.4 References overall introduction

- Ackerfors, H., 1999. Observations on the yearly life cycle of *Astacus astacus* in a small lake in Sweden. Freshwater Crayfish 12 (1), 413–429.
- Barbieri, M.V., Postigo, C., Monllor-Alcaraz, L.S., Barceló, D., López de Alda, M., 2019. A reliable LC-MS/MS-based method for trace level determination of 50 medium to highly polar pesticide residues in sediments and ecological risk assessment. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry 411 (30), 7981–7996.
- Bergmann, A., Fohrmann, R., Weber, F.-A., 2011. Zusammenstellung von Monitoringdaten zu Umweltkonzentrationen von Arzneimitteln. Texte 66. Umweltbundesamt, Dessau, Germany, 108 pp.

https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/461/publikationen/4188.pdf. Accessed 23 September 2020.

- Bókony, V., Verebélyi, V., Ujhegyi, N., Mikó, Z., Nemesházi, E., Szederkényi, M., Orf, S., Vitányi, E., Móricz, Á.M., 2020. Effects of two little-studied environmental pollutants on early development in anurans. Environmental pollution (Barking, Essex : 1987) 260, 114078.
- Bouju, H., Nastold, P., Beck, B., Hollender, J., Corvini, P.F.-X., Wintgens, T., 2016. Elucidation of biotransformation of Diclofenac and 4'hydroxyDiclofenac during biological wastewater treatment. Journal of Hazardous Materials 301, 443–452.
- Burk, C., 2004. Artenschutzprojekt Edelkrebs. Landesfischereiverband Westfalen und Lippe e.V Bd. 5. Landesfischereiverb. Westfalen und Lippe, Münster, 57 pp.
- Chucholl, C., 2011. Disjunct distribution pattern of *Procambarus clarkii* (Crustacea, Decapoda, Astacida, Cambaridae) in an artificial lake system in Southwestern Germany. Al 6 (1), 109–113.
- Chucholl, C., Morawetz, K., Groß, H., 2012. The clones are coming strong increase in Marmorkrebs [*Procambarus fallax* (Hagen, 1870) f. virginalis] records from Europe. Al 7 (4), 511–519.
- Du, J., Mei, C.-F., Ying, G.-G., Xu, M.-Y., 2016. Toxicity Thresholds for Diclofenac, Acetaminophen and Ibuprofen in the Water Flea *Daphnia magna*. Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology 97 (1), 84–90.
- Dusi, E., Rybicki, M., Jungmann, D., 2019. The database "Pharmaceuticals in the Environment" Update and new analysis, Dessau-Roßlau : Umweltbundesamt, Juni 2019, 103 pp.
- Eades, C., Waring, C.P., 2010. The effects of Diclofenac on the physiology of the green shore crab *Carcinus maenas*. Marine environmental research 69 Suppl, S46-8.
- Edsman, L., Füreder, L., Gherardi, F. & Souty-Grosset, C., 2015. *Astacus astacus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, 18 pp.
- Epold, I., Dulova, N., Trapido, M., 2012. Degradation of Diclofenac in aqueous solution by homogeneous and heterogeneous photolysis. J Environ Eng Ecol Sci 1 (1), 3.

- European Commission, 2000. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy: WFW directive.
- Faulkes, Z., 2015. Marmorkrebs (*Procambarus fallax f. virginalis*) are the most popular crayfish in the North American pet trade. Knowl. Manag. Aquat. Ecosyst. (416), 20.
- Ferrari, B., Paxéus, N., Lo Giudice, R., Pollio, A., Garric, J., 2003. Ecotoxicological impact of pharmaceuticals found in treated wastewaters: Study of carbamazepine, clofibric acid, and Diclofenac. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 55 (3), 359–370.
- Fingler, S., Mendaš, G., Dvoršćak, M., Stipičević, S., Vasilić, Ž., Drevenkar, V., 2017. Herbicide micropollutants in surface, ground and drinking waters within and near the area of Zagreb, Croatia. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24 (12), 11017–11030.
- Füreder, L., 2009. Flusskrebse: Biologie Ökologie Gefährdung. Veröffentlichungen des Naturmuseums Südtirol, Bozen 6. Folio-Verl., Wien, Bozen, 144 pp.
- Füreder, L., Machino, Y., 2002. A revised determination key of freshwater crayfish in Europe. nat.-med. Verein Insbruck 2002 (89), 169–178.
- Hager, J., 2003. Edelkrebse: Biologie, Zucht, Bewirtschaftung, 2., überarb. Aufl. ed. Praxisbuch. Stocker, Graz, 128 pp.
- Heri, W., Carroll, B., Parshley, T., Nabors, J.B., 2008. Production, Development, and Registration of Triazine Herbicides, in: LeBaron, H.M., McFarland, J.E., Burnside, O. (Eds.), The triazine herbicides.
 50 years revolutionizing agriculture. Chemicals in agriculture v.3. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Boston, pp. 31–43.
- Herrero-Hernández, E., Rodríguez-Cruz, M.S., Pose-Juan, E., Sánchez-González, S., Andrades, M.S., Sánchez-Martín, M.J., 2017. Seasonal distribution of herbicide and insecticide residues in the water resources of the vineyard region of La Rioja (Spain). The Science of the total environment 609, 161– 171.
- Hunter, L., Wood, D., Dargan, 2011. The patterns of toxicity and management of acute nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) overdose. OAEM, 39.
- Kienzler, A., Berggren, E., Bessems, J., Bopp, S., van der Linden, S., Worth, A., 2014. Assessment of mixtures: Review of regulatory requirements and guidance. EUR, Scientific and technical research series 26675. Publications Office, Luxembourg.
- Koutnik, D., Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., Velisek, J., 2017. The chronic effects of terbuthylazine-2hydroxy on early life stages of marbled crayfish (*Procambarus fallax f. virginalis*). Pesticide biochemistry and physiology 136, 29–33.

- Kozubíková-Balcarová, E., Beran, L., Ďuriš, Z., Fischer, D., Horká, I., Svobodová, J., Petrusek, A., 2014. Status and recovery of indigenous crayfish populations after recent crayfish plague outbreaks in the Czech Republic. Ethology Ecology & Evolution 26 (2-3), 299–319.
- Lee, J., Ji, K., Lim Kho, Y., Kim, P., Choi, K., 2011. Chronic exposure to Diclofenac on two freshwater cladocerans and Japanese medaka. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 74 (5), 1216–1225.
- Li, Y., Zhang, L., Liu, X., Ding, J., 2019. Ranking and prioritizing pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment of China. The Science of the total environment 658, 333–342.
- Lin, A.Y.-C., Yu, T.-H., Lin, C.-F., 2008. Pharmaceutical contamination in residential, industrial, and agricultural waste streams: Risk to aqueous environments in Taiwan. Chemosphere 74 (1), 131–141.
- Lonappan, L., Brar, S.K., Das, R.K., Verma, M., Surampalli, R.Y., 2016. Diclofenac and its transformation products: Environmental occurrence and toxicity - A review. Environment international 96, 127– 138.
- Loos, R., Locoro, G., Comero, S., Contini, S., Schwesig, D., Werres, F., Balsaa, P., Gans, O., Weiss, S., Blaha, L., Bolchi, M., Gawlik, B.M., 2010. Pan-European survey on the occurrence of selected polar organic persistent pollutants in ground water. Water Research 44 (14), 4115–4126.
- Malaj, E., Ohe, P.C. von der, Grote, M., Kühne, R., Mondy, C.P., Usseglio-Polatera, P., Brack, W., Schäfer, R.B., 2014. Organic chemicals jeopardize the health of freshwater ecosystems on the continental scale. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111 (26), 9549–9554.
- Martin, P., Dorn, N.J., Kawai, T., van der Heiden, C., Scholtz, G., Arntzen, J.W., 2010. The enigmatic Marmorkrebs (marbled crayfish) is the parthenogenetic form of *Procambarus fallax* (Hagen, 1870). CTOZ 79 (3), 107–118.
- Martin, P., Thonagel, S., Scholtz, G., 2015. The parthenogenetic Marmorkrebs (Malacostraca: Decapoda: Cambaridae) is a triploid organism. J Zoolog Syst Evol Res 54 (1), 13–21.
- Murray, K.E., Thomas, S.M., Bodour, A.A., 2010. Prioritizing research for trace pollutants and emerging contaminants in the freshwater environment. Environmental Pollution 158 (12), 3462–3471.
- Olsson, K., Nyström, P., Stenroth, P., Nilsson, E., Svensson, M., Granéli, W., 2008. The influence of food quality and availability on trophic position, carbon signature, and growth rate of an omnivorous crayfish. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 65 (10), 2293–2304.
- Persson, M., Cerenius, L., Soderhall, K., 1987. The influence of haemocyte number on the resistance of the freshwater crayfish, *Pacifastacus leniusculus* Dana, to the parasitic fungus *Aphanomyces astaci*. J Fish Diseases 10 (6), 471–477.
- Rossitto, M., Ujjan, S., Poulat, F., Boizet-Bonhoure, B., 2015. Multiple roles of the prostaglandin D2 signaling pathway in reproduction. REPRODUCTION 149 (1), R49-R58.

- Rowley, A.F., Vogan, C.L., Taylor, G.W., Clare, A.S., 2005. Prostaglandins in non-insectan invertebrates: Recent insights and unsolved problems. The Journal of experimental biology 208 (Pt 1), 3–14.
- Sassine, L., Le Gal Salle, C., Khaska, M., Verdoux, P., Meffre, P., Benfodda, Z., Roig, B., 2017. Spatial distribution of triazine residues in a shallow alluvial aquifer linked to groundwater residence time. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24 (8), 6878–6888.
- Sathishkumar, P., Meena, R.A.A., Palanisami, T., Ashokkumar, V., Palvannan, T., Gu, F.L., 2020. Occurrence, interactive effects and ecological risk of Diclofenac in environmental compartments and biota - a review. The Science of the total environment 698, 134057.
- Satoh, K., Tanabe, H., Ichiishi, E., Ando, K., 2015. Diagnosis and treatment of aspirin—and NSAIDinduced peptic ulcers. Nihon rinsho. Japanese journal of clinical medicine 73 (7), 1110–1115.
- Seitz, R., Vilpoux, K., Hopp, U., Harzsch, S., Maier, G., 2005. Ontogeny of the Marmorkrebs (marbled crayfish): A parthenogenetic crayfish with unknown origin and phylogenetic position. J. Exp. Zool. 303A (5), 393–405.
- Simon, J.-C., Delmotte, F., Rispe, C., Crease, T., 2003. Phylogenetic relationships between parthenogens and their sexual relatives: The possible routes to parthenogenesis in animals. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 79 (1), 151–163.
- Skurdal, J., Taugbøl, T., 2002. Astacus, in: , Biology of Freshwater Crayfish, pp. 467–510.
- Sousa, J.C.G., Ribeiro, A.R., Barbosa, M.O., Pereira, M.F.R., Silva, A.M.T., 2018. A review on environmental monitoring of water organic pollutants identified by EU guidelines. Journal of Hazardous Materials 344, 146–162.
- Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., Velisek, J., 2016. Effects of terbuthylazine-desethyl, a terbuthylazine degradation product, on red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*). The Science of the total environment 566-567, 733–740.
- Svoboda, J., Mrugała, A., Kozubíková-Balcarová, E., Petrusek, A., 2017. Hosts and transmission of the crayfish plague pathogen *Aphanomyces astaci*: A review. Journal of fish diseases 40 (1), 127–140.
- Svobodová, J., Douda, K., Štambergová, M., Picek, J., Vlach, P., Fischer, D., 2012. The relationship between water quality and indigenous and alien crayfish distribution in the Czech Republic: Patterns and conservation implications. Aquatic Conserv: Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 22 (6), 776–786.
- Tasca, A.L., Puccini, M., Fletcher, A., 2018. Terbuthylazine and desethylterbuthylazine: Recent occurrence, mobility and removal techniques. Chemosphere 202, 94–104.
- Unestam, T., 1969. On the Adaptation of *Aphanomyces astaci* as a Parasite. Physiol Plant 22 (2), 221–235.
- Unestam, T., Weiss, D.W., 1970. The Host-Parasite Relationship between Freshwater Crayfish and the Crayfish Disease Fungus *Aphanomyces astaci*: Responses to Infection by a Susceptible and a Resistant Species. Journal of General Microbiology 60 (1), 77–90.

- Velisek, J., Stara, A., Koutnik, D., Zuskova, E., 2015. Effects of terbuthylazine on early life stages of common carp. Neuro endocrinology letters 36 Suppl 1, 120–125.
- Velisek, J., Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., 2017. Effects of three triazine metabolites and their mixture at environmentally relevant concentrations on early life stages of marbled crayfish (*Procambarus fallax f. virginalis*). Chemosphere 175, 440–445.
- Vogt, G., 2010. Suitability of the clonal marbled crayfish for biogerontological research: A review and perspective, with remarks on some further crustaceans. Biogerontology 11 (6), 643–669.
- Vogt, G., 2011. Marmorkrebs: Natural crayfish clone as emerging model for various biological disciplines. Journal of biosciences 36 (2), 377–382.
- Vogt, G., 2015. Bimodal annual reproductive pattern in laboratory-reared marbled crayfish. Invertebrate Reproduction & Development 59 (4), 218–223.
- Vogt, G., 2018. Annotated bibliography of the parthenogenetic marbled crayfish *Procambarus virginalis*, a new research model, potent invader and popular pet. Zootaxa 4418 (4), 301.
- Weinländer, M., Füreder, L., 2016. Native and alien crayfish species: Do their trophic roles differ? Freshwater Science 35 (4), 1340–1353.
- Zhang, Y., Geissen, S.-U., Gal, C., 2008. Carbamazepine and Diclofenac: Removal in wastewater treatment plants and occurrence in water bodies. Chemosphere 73 (8), 1151–1161.

2 Gonadal development

2.1 Effects of Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine on gonadal maturation of noble crayfish

The first step of the reproduction of freshwater crayfish, even before mating, is the development of gonads. Therefore, this period is the first that was investigated in this study. The following section explains our experimental approach as well as the results and conclusion. These can help us to understand the influences of chemicals on the reproduction and on population dynamics of freshwater crayfish.

The included version of the manuscript represents the state of preparation prior to full corrections and approval of co-authors. Submission is planned for the journal: "Ecotoxicology".

Effects of Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine on gonadal maturation of noble crayfish

Jan Laurenz¹, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201; Prof. Dr. Heinz Brendelberger¹; Kai Lehmann¹, ORCID: 0000-0002-1302-9529;

¹Christian-Albrechts-University, Zoological Institute, Limnology, Kiel, Germany, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201

JL and KL conceived and designed the experiments. JL performed the experiments. JL analysed the data. JL, KL and HB wrote the manuscript; all authors provided editorial advice.

Short title: Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine effect crayfish gonadal maturation

Keywords: noble crayfish, Diclofenac, Terbuthylazine, gonadal

2.1.1 Abstract

In recent decades, the production and use of pharmaceuticals and pesticides has increased significantly. However, this does not only lead to improvements in the human quality of life. Sooner or later, large quantities are discharged into surface waters through sewage treatment plants or agricultural drains. The effects of these substances on the aquatic environment are largely unknown. Therefore, part of these effects will be investigated in this study.

Since noble crayfish are of particular importance for functioning ecosystems, we investigated the effects of two frequently detected and toxically relevant substances. In particular, we investigated the influence of Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine on the gonadal maturation and histopathology of the hepatopancreas of noble crayfish. The results show that even at the lowest tested concentrations of $40 \mu g/L$ Diclofenac and 25 $\mu g/L$ Terbuthylazine, sperm production and histology of the hepatopancreas of the animals is affected. The egg production of females was reduced from concentrations of 0.16 mg/L Diclofenac and 1.6 mg/L Terbuthylazine. These results show that the reproduction and, thus, the population dynamics of noble crayfish are affected by the input of both substances.

2.1.2 Introduction

In recent years, there has been growing concern about the release of organic compounds of anthropogenic origin to the environment, known as emerging organic contaminants. These contaminants include a diverse group of thousands of chemical compounds, such as pharmaceuticals and personal care products, pesticides, hormones, surfactants, flame retardants, plasticizers and industrial additives, among others (García et al., 2020). Two of the most frequently detected substances are Diclofenac (DCF) and Terbuthylazine (TBA).

DCF is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) that reduces pain, inflammation and fever (Satoh et al., 2015). It is introduced into surface waters due to human and veterinarian usage over the whole year, mostly through sewage treatment plants. Concentrations of up to 29.8 μ g/L were observed in 55 countries (Dusi et al., 2019). TBA on the other hand is a chlorotriazine used worldwide as a pre-emergence herbicide in corn farming. Therefore, highest concentrations are frequently detected between September and April in concentrations up to of 34.0 μ g/L in European water bodies (Herrero-Hernández et al., 2017). Their use is of emerging concern because of their persistence, toxicity and proven endocrine disruption in wildlife and humans.

It is especially important to understand that toxic effects on animals, that have a strong influence on their environment in order to be able to estimate impacts on the whole aquatic environment. One of the animal groups with a high impact on its environment are freshwater crayfish. These are the largest invertebrates of freshwater bodies and affect nearly every trophic level of their habitat and influence their structural environment. All native freshwater crayfish in Europe are regarded as "keystone species" and "ecosystem engineers" (Weinländer and Füreder, 2016), and are consequently protected by the habitat directive (European Commission, 2000). Nevertheless, these species are highly endangered. Besides invasive species, the crayfish plague (*Aphanomyces*) and structural stress, chemical loads are one of the main reasons for population decline (Chucholl, 2011). In particular, the influences of presumed toxic chemicals on sensitive phases in the life cycle affect population recruitment and dynamics. One of these phases is the gonadal maturation. In this period the foundation for the next crayfish generation is built and disruptions can lead to smaller offspring numbers and to changing population dynamics. Therefore, we decided to investigate the influences of the two mentioned chemicals on the gonadal maturation of noble crayfish in a laboratory setup.

We used noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus,* Linnaeus 1758), a species native to European freshwater systems. Its reproduction cycle can be described as the standard reproduction of freshwater crayfish. Mating of animals takes place in October to November, which is directly followed by the extrusion of eggs by female crayfish. Therefore, the gonadal maturation starts in June (Ackerfors, 1999).

2.1.3 Material and Methods

2.1.3.1 Noble crayfish

The 54 individuals of *Astacus astacus* (36 females and 18 males) were obtained from a hatchery in Oeversee (Krebszucht Oeversee, Schleswig-Holstein, Germany) in June. Their genetic origin lays in a northern German population of the Langsee. The crayfish had a carapace length between 43.6 mm and 61.0 mm and weighed between 23.5 g and 49.6 g. Individuals were separated to exclude cannibalism (especially during moulting), competition and stress. During adaption and experimental phase, they were fed with a mixture of frozen midge larvae, peas and a commercially used dry food. Temperature was adjusted to outdoor conditions (mean of 18 °C), and the light regime was L:D = 12:12 hours.

2.1.3.2 Substances

All substances were used only up to concentrations of solubility to exclude the need of solvents, which could have additional effects on the animals. Concentrations were measured weekly by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and adjusted when differing more than 15 % from the targeted concentrations. Groups were named according to concentrations and substances, D for DCF, T for TBA and 0 for the control.

2.1.3.2.1 Terbuthylazine

TBA was obtained from Sigma Aldrich, Germany, in 98 % purity. Concentrations were chosen to cover the range from concentrations occurring in surface waters to known effective concentrations from other taxa (Cedergreen and Streibig, 2005; Schramm et al., 1998; Shehata et al., 1997) as follows: 0.025 mg/L, 0.4 mg/L, 1.6 mg/L and 6.4 mg/L.

2.1.3.2.2 Diclofenac

We purchased DCF (Tokyo Chemical Industry Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) in 99.5 % purity. It was applied in concentrations to cover monitored concentrations of European surface waters as well as establishing higher concentrations that could occur due to bioaccumulation as follows: 0.04 mg/L, 0.16 mg/L, 2.56 mg/L and 10.24 mg/L.

2.1.3.3 Parameter monitoring

Oxygen, pH, conductivity and temperature of all experimental tanks were measured three times per week with multi-parameter probes (WTW Oxi 3310 and WTW pH 3310, Xylem Analytics Germany Sales GmbH & Co. KG, WTW Weilheim, Germany) per hand and Temperature was measured additionally with a HOBO Logger (HOBO, ONS-UA-022-64 Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, MA, USA). Nitrate, Nitrite, Ammonium and acid binding ability was measured once every week with a photometer (DR 5000, Hach Lange GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany) and titration.

Analyses of DCF and TBA concentrations were performed on an HPLC system (Hewlett Packard 1050) equipped with an UV-detector. The analytical separation was accomplished on a Zobrax SB-C18 column (250 × 4.6 mm; 5 μ m particle size). For TBA, the chromatographic mobile phase contained acetonitrile (75 %) and water (25 %). The injection volume of the analytical solution was 10 μ L. The flow rate of the mobile phase was kept at 1.0 mL/min and column temperature was kept at 30 °C. The detection wavelength was 228 nm. For the processing of samples, 5 mL were transferred to a 10 mL centrifuge tube; 2.78 g of (NH₄)₂SO₄ was accurately weighed and added to the sample solution and shaken for 1 min until the inorganic salt was completely dissolved. An amount of 0.46 mL acetonitrile was added to the mixture, placed in an ultrasonic cleaner (Bandelin Sonorex tk 52 Transistor, BANDELIN electronic GmbH & Co. KG, 12207 Berlin, Germany) for 9.5 min and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 5 min until the ATPS (Aqueous Two-Phase System) was formed. The upper and lower phase were acetonitrile and inorganic salt, respectively. The analytes were extracted into the acetonitrile-rich phase. Then, 100 μ L of the upper organic phase was collected and filtrated with a 0.22 μ m organic membrane filter for HPLC analysis. The described method is modified from the method used by Gao et al. (2018).

For DCF, the mobile phase contained 45 % acetic acid and 55 % acetonitrile. Injection Volume was 5 μ l and flow rate was 1 ml/min. Temperature was set to 30 °C and the wavelength was set to 200 nm. Then, 1 ml of the samples was filtrated with a 0.22 μ m organic membrane filter for HPLC analysis. This method was changed after Hartmann et al. (2008).

As reference material for quantification calculations we dissolved three different concentrations of both chemicals in fully deionized water using an ultrasonic cleaner.

2.1.3.4 Experimental setup

Six *Astacus astacus* individuals per tank (W/L/H: 40 cm/120 cm/40 cm, four females and two males) were accustomed for two weeks and were later also used for the experiments. The animals were held in nine tanks with a different concentration of DCF or TBA each in a room with controllable light and temperature regime. The separation was achieved by a grid, so that females and males could detect the presence of the opposite gender, and at the same time cannibalism was excluded. The experiment started at the beginning of the ovary maturation at the end of June, according to Ackerfors (1999) and lasted until the start of egg-laying of these individuals. From the typical time of mating in late September, barriers were removed once a day for one hour. Barriers were completely removed when mating was observed. Male animals were removed at the time that all females showed the attached spermatophores. Males were then prepared for the observation of spermatophore quantity and quality in the distal ductus deferens after Farhadi et al. (2018). To this end, 1 g of the distal ductus versus was prepared and extracted and sperm cells were counted in a "Neubauer Improved" chamber. Additionally, a part of the sample was stained with trypan blue 0.4 % (Carl Roth GmbH + Co. KG, 76231

Karlsruhe, Germany) to identify the ratio of dead and alive spermatophores in the sample. After the extrusions of eggs, these were counted and artificial breeding was started in an incubator equipped with UV-clarification, biofilter, oxygen supply and egg-moving trays to document survival of the embryos. Eggs of different concentrations were placed in a minimum of three trays and distributed over the incubator to exclude influences of placement, temperature differences or oxygen supply on the survival.

2.1.3.5 Histology

For histological assessment, we fixated the hepatopancreas of the prepared noble crayfish males in pH-buffered formaldehyde (3.7 %). We stored the sample in Kristensen solution for two days to ensure complete decalcification. Samples were then embedded in LR White (LR White acrylic resin, hard, sigma Aldrich, Germany) and sections of 2 µm thickness were prepared using an ultramicrotome. Sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (HE) with extended exposure time, referring to usage instructions of the LR White. These tissue samples were examined under a light microscope combined with a camera system (Leica DM1000 LED, Leica ICC50 HD, Leica Application Suite Version 3.0.0, Leica Microsystems CMS GmbH, 35578 Wetzlar, Germany).

A crayfish hepatopancreas is typically formed of numerous tubules, separated by connective tissues (Abd El-Atti et al., 2019) and consists of lumen, membranes and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive lipid cells (R-cell) for nutrient intake, blister-like secretory cells (B-cell) to channel off harmful substances, fibrillar cells (F-cell) as connecting tissue and embryonic cells (E-cell). That means, changes in R-cells would indicate a higher or lower intake of nutrients, changes in B-cells would indicate a higher or lower intake schanges in the other two types would indicate problems in biosynthesis of the individual.

Hepatopancreas cells were examined for potential membrane damages, damages in the four different cell types as well as changes in their size and quantity. To do this, ten sections per individual were photographed and subsequently analysed by counting and measuring cells under the microscope.

2.1.3.6 Statistics

We performed all statistical analyses using R version 3.2. (R Core Team, 2015). Juvenile size, survival rates and number of hepatopancreas B-cells were tested for normality and equal variances prior to analysis. Both given, a one-way ANOVA (variance analysis) and post hoc Tukey test were performed. Differences in quantity of spermatophore number, spermatophore living rate, survival rate of eggs and laid eggs between different groups were tested for normality and equal variances prior to analysis. If both were evident, a t-Test was performed. For non-parametric data, a Wilcoxon test was used. Pictures were analysed with GIMP software (version 2.8, Fa. the Gimp Team).

2.1.4 Results

2.1.4.1 Spermatozoa

Quantity of spermatozoa cells differed between the individuals of different concentrations. Overall, the groups exposed to DCF had the lowest spermatozoa numbers, with averages of 684.3 (± 405.9) for D0.04 mg/L, 547.0 (± 397.6) for D0.16 mg/L, 420.6 (± 405.9) for D2.56 mg/L and 135.96 (± 46,0) for D10,24 mg/L. Sperm-cell number was higher for animals exposed to TBA. They had averages of 470 (± 151.9) for T0.025 mg/L, 1551.6 (± 742.3) for T0.4 mg/L, 1090.9 (± 274.1) for T1.6 mg/L and 1066.6 (± 463.8) for T6.4 mg/L. All groups showed numbers significantly lower than the control group which had an average of 2022.7 cells/µl (± 405.9) (p ≤ 0,0005; t-Test; Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney-Test) (Figure 2.1). It is worth noticing that the lowest sperm-cell numbers for animals exposed to TBA was counted in the lowest concentration.

Similar to their quantity, also the quality of the spermatozoa is influenced by the two chemicals. However, the differences in quality are not as significant as for the quantity. For Diclofenac, only the highest concentration of 10.24 mg/L resulted in a significantly higher rate of dead cells ($p = 1.4e^{-16}$). For Terbuthylazine significant differences were detected for the two highest concentrations 1.6 mg/L (p = 0.03) and 6.4 mg/L (p = 0.02). Figure 2.2 shows obvious differences between dead and alive sperm cells.



Figure 2.1: Spermatozoa cells per μ l. Dark areas represent the number of dead cells; light grey represents the living cells and the height of every bar the total average of counted cells. Stars indicate statistical differences (black: counted; white: percentage dead).



Figure 2.2: Spermatozoa cells stained with trypan blue 0.4 %. Dead cell (left) living cell (right).

2.1.4.2 Eggs

Figure 2.3 shows the quantities and survival rates of developed oocytes of noble crayfish in relation to the concentrations of the chemicals they were exposed to. It can be seen that the presence of the substances influenced the number and the survival of the laid eggs. The control group showed an average of 241.00 eggs/female (± 35.58). The group D0.04 mg/L had 151.25 (± 89.04) eggs/female and D0.16 mg/L had 106.50 (± 29.90) eggs/female. In the group D2.56 mg/L, only two of six females laid eggs, resulting in a statistical average of 27.50 (± 28.39) eggs/female. The group D10.24 mg/L did not lay eggs at all. For TBA, average egg numbers were 219.02 (± 39.06) for T0.025 mg/L, 179.75 (± 25.66) for T0.4 mg/L, 110.21 (± 14.97) for T1.6 mg/L and 77.54 (± 46.59) for T6.4 mg/L from only three females. The statistical analyses showed differences between the three highest Diclofenac groups ($p \le 0.002$; t-Test) and the two highest TBA groups ($p \le 0.004$) to the control group.

Similar to the spermatozoa, the survival of the eggs is affected less by the chemicals than the number of eggs. The two highest Diclofenac groups ($p \le 0.006$) and the highest TBA group (p = 0.01) showed a significantly higher mortality than the control group. This combination results again in significantly smaller numbers of hatched eggs in all Diclofenac groups and the two highest TBA groups compared to the control group (p < 0.05, ANOVA, Tukey).



Figure 2.3:Egg cells per μ l. Dark areas represent the number of dead embryos; light grey represents the living animals and the height of every bar the total average of counted eggs. Stars indicate statistical differences (black: laid eggs; white: hatched juveniles)

2.1.4.3 Histology

The histological observations show that with increasing concentrations of both chemicals, the B-cells of the adult animals are enlarged in comparison to the control group (Figure 2.4). Additionally, in 76 % of all investigated sections of the group exposed to highest TBA concentrations, damages in the lumen membrane were found. Other sections did not show these ruptures.


Figure 2.4: Histological sections of hepatopancreas of noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) exposed to the different concentrations for 120 days. Marked areas are lumen (L), membrane (M) and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive (R) lipid cells, blister-like (B) secretory cells, fibrillar (F) cells and embryonic (E) cells; (HE stain, 100×).

The average diameter of B-cells in the control group was 26.86 μ m (± 9.90). In comparison to that, individuals exposed to lowest TBA concentration showed B-cell diameters of 39.60 μ m (± 11.51), while group T0.025 mg/L showed 41.61 μ m (± 11.28). Exposure to highest TBA concentrations resulted in diameters of 76.78 μ m (± 25.27) and to highest Diclofenac concentrations in diameters of 73.90 μ m (± 18.21) (Figure 2.5). Statistical analyses showed that all groups differed significantly from the control group (p ≤ 0,0001, Tukey).



Figure 2.5: Diameter of hepatopancreas B-Cells of male adult noble crayfish exposed to different concentrations of the two chemicals DCF and TBA. Letters represent significant differences calculated via Tukey ($p \le 0,05$)

2.1.5 Discussion

Results of this study reveal effects of DCF und TBA on gonadal development of noble crayfish. All parameters investigated were affected by the two chemicals even in lowest concentrations used in this study.

As one of the main factors influencing reproductive efficiency (Wickins and O'C Lee, 2003), sperm quality in male crustaceans is affected by the presence of environmental pollutants (Lewis and Ford, 2012). Referring to (Harlioğlu et al., 2018), we assessed this parameter by investigating sperm-cell number and ratio of dead and alive sperm cells in male distal ductus deferens. Literature shows that these factors are influenced by environmental chemicals. Canosa et al. (2019) showed, for instance that Glyphosate can imbalance the male reproductive function of the estuarine crab *Neohelice granulata* at concentrations of 1 mg/L by producing abnormal spermatophores and a reduction in sperm count. Hence, they conclude the possibility of a reduction in brood production and larvae recruitment that takes place in the natural environment. The present results of spermatophore analyses lead to the same conclusion, insofar that the quantity and quality of sperms is significantly reduced even at the lowest used concentrations of 0.025 mg/L TBA and 0.04 mg/L DCF. Therefore, this study reveals that TBC and DCF present in surface waters through sewage treatment plants or by agriculture are a severe threat to noble crayfish populations.

But not only the male reproduction efficiency of noble crayfish is affected. The egg production and survival of embryos is also affected by the two chemicals, when exposed during gonadal development. With an average of 241 eggs per female the control group is consistent with the range of egg numbers for noble crayfish of 70 to 250 eggs reported in the literature, depending on maternal size (Skurdal et al., 2011). Even though the two chemicals do not affect the gonadal development of the females as much as for males, effects are still alarming. Especially the combination of smaller egg numbers with the smaller survival rate of embryos consequently lead to a much lower individual count of the offspring of influenced animals than for the control group, as is visible in the number of survived embryos until hatching. Groups exposed to DCF all show significantly smaller offspring numbers compared to the control group; the same applies to the two highest TBA groups. Meyer et al. (2007) revealed that spawning probability as well as juvenile and adult mortality are the most important parameters for the survival of crayfish populations. They also estimated the median time to extinction of native crayfish populations to be 80 years for a set of parameters derived from field estimates. This shows how important a stable recruitment of noble crayfish will be in the future to ensure the survival of this species.

The histology of the hepatopancreas shows effects even at lowest concentrations of DCF and TBA in the form of an increase in the number and diameter of B-cells compared to the control. In addition, we found damage to membrane structures similar to Chaufan et al. (2006) for high TBA concentrations.

Their study revealed disorganisation in hepatopancreas tubules as well as increased diameters and numbers of B-cells in hepatopancreas cells after feeding crabs (*Chasmagnathus granulatus*) with Hexachlorobenzen-contaminated *Chlorella* for three days.

Therefore, an increase in the size and number of B-cells is a sublethal effect of exposure to at least TBA and Hexachlorobenzen as examples for agricultural control chemicals. Silveyra et al. (2018) tested the influences of Atrazine (which was substituted by TBA and is similar in form and shape to TBA) on vitellogenesis, steroid levels and lipid peroxidation in female red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. They found that Atrazine-exposed crayfish had a lower expression of vitellogenin in the ovary and hepatopancreas as well as smaller oocytes and reduced vitellogenin content in the ovary. Similar to what is observed in this study for DCF and TBA, the Atrazine leads to a lowered reproduction of the crayfish. Not only Terbuthylazine, but also its degradation products are of great interest due to their toxicity. Koutnik et al. (2017) showed effects of terbuthylazine-2-hydroxy-exposure in concentrations of down to 75 μ g/L on early life stages of marbled crayfish. Influenced parameters were: embryo weight, ontogenetic development, the antioxidant system, oxidative stress and pathological changes in the hepatopancreas. Therefore, influences on the hepatopancreas are not only caused by TBA but also by its degradation products.

Only few data are available for effects of DCF on hepatopancreas tissue. Geetha et al. (2018) report significant changes in nucleation, differentiation, and hepatocytes in a histopathological study on a *Pangasius* sp. hepatopancreas sample starting from 6 mg/L DCF.

Neuparth et al. (2014) showed that Simvastatin, a lipid-lowering medication, severely impacted growth, reproduction and gonad maturation of *G. locusta*, concomitantly to changes at the histological level. Among all analyzed endpoints, reproduction was particularly sensitive to Simvastatin with significant impact at 320 ng/L. Du et al. (2016) showed a significant lower brood number of *Daphnia magna* starting from 0.5 mg/L DCF. The danger of pharmaceuticals and especially DCF on reproduction is, hence proven by several publications including the present one.

Overall, the data of the present study show that both environmentally relevant substances, DCF and TBA, pose a high risk for the reproduction of crayfish. Not included in the evaluation were mixed effects with other chemicals or the bioaccumulation of the substances, which could further increase the effects. It is, thus, of particular importance to further expand the data available on these issues and at the same time minimize inputs of pollutants into surface waters as far as possible.

- 2.1.6 References Effects of Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine on gonadal maturation of noble crayfish
- Abd El-Atti, M., Desouky, M.M.A., Mohamadien, A., Said, R.M., 2019. Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii*: Bioaccumulation, oxidative stress and histopathological biomarkers. The Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Research 45 (1), 11–18.
- Ackerfors, H., 1999. Observations on the yearly life cycle of *Astacus astacus* in a small lake in Sweden. Freshwater Crayfish 12 (1), 413–429.
- Canosa, I.S., Zanitti, M., Lonné, N., Medesani, D.A., López Greco, L.S., Rodríguez, E.M., 2019. Imbalances in the male reproductive function of the estuarine crab *Neohelice granulata*, caused by glyphosate. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 182, 109405.
- Cedergreen, N., Streibig, J.C., 2005. The toxicity of herbicides to non-target aquatic plants and algae: Assessment of predictive factors and hazard. Pest management science 61 (12), 1152–1160.
- Chaufan, G., Juárez, Á., Basack, S., Ithuralde, E., Sabatini, S.E., Genovese, G., Oneto, M.L., Kesten, E., Ríos de Molina, M.d.C., 2006. Toxicity of hexachlorobenzene and its transference from microalgae (*Chlorella kessleri*) to crabs (Chasmagnathus granulatus). Toxicology 227 (3), 262–270.
- Chucholl, C., 2011. Disjunct distribution pattern of *Procambarus clarkii* (Crustacea, Decapoda, Astacida, Cambaridae) in an artificial lake system in Southwestern Germany. Al 6 (1), 109–113.
- Du, J., Mei, C.-F., Ying, G.-G., Xu, M.-Y., 2016. Toxicity Thresholds for Diclofenac, Acetaminophen and Ibuprofen in the Water Flea *Daphnia magna*. Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology 97 (1), 84–90.
- Dusi Eike, Rybicki Marcus, Jungmann Dirk, 2019. The database "Pharmaceuticals in the Environment" Update and new analysis, 06844 Dessau-Roßlau, 103 pp.
 - https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/1410/publikationen/2019-06-

24_texte_67-2019_database_pharmaceuticals-environment_0.pdf. Accessed 10 December 2019.

- European Commission, 2000. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy: WFW directive.
- Farhadi, A., Harlıoğlu, M.M., Gür, S., Acısu, T.C., 2018. Optimization of the incubation time and temperature for spermatozoa extraction in freshwater crayfish *Pontastacus leptodactylus* (Eschscholtz, 1823). Animal reproduction science 193, 153–157.
- Gao, S., Wu, G., Li, X., Chen, J., Wu, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, Z., 2018. Determination of Triazine Herbicides in Environmental Water Samples by Acetonitrile Inorganic Salt Aqueous Two-Phase Microextraction System. J. Anal. Test. 2 (4), 322–331.

- García, J., García-Galán, M.J., Day, J.W., Boopathy, R., White, J.R., Wallace, S., Hunter, R.G., 2020. A review of emerging organic contaminants (EOCs), antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB), and antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) in the environment: Increasing removal with wetlands and reducing environmental impacts. Bioresource Technology 307, 123228.
- Geetha, V., Sujata, R., Shreenidhi, K.S., Sundararaman, T.R., 2018. Histopathological and HPLC Analysis in the Hepatic Tissue of *Pangasius* sp. Exposed to Diclofenac. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 27 (6), 2493– 2498.
- Harlıoğlu, M.M., Farhadi, A., Gür, S., 2018. Determination of sperm quality in decapod crustaceans. Aquaculture 490, 185–193.
- Hartmann, J., Bartels, P., Mau, U., Witter, M., Tümpling, W.V., Hofmann, J., Nietzschmann, E., 2008. Degradation of the drug Diclofenac in water by sonolysis in presence of catalysts. Chemosphere 70 (3), 453–461.
- Herrero-Hernández, E., Rodríguez-Cruz, M.S., Pose-Juan, E., Sánchez-González, S., Andrades, M.S., Sánchez-Martín, M.J., 2017. Seasonal distribution of herbicide and insecticide residues in the water resources of the vineyard region of La Rioja (Spain). The Science of the total environment 609, 161– 171.
- Koutnik, D., Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., Velisek, J., 2017. The chronic effects of terbuthylazine-2hydroxy on early life stages of marbled crayfish (*Procambarus fallax f. virginalis*). Pesticide biochemistry and physiology 136, 29–33.
- Lewis, C., Ford, A.T., 2012. Infertility in male aquatic invertebrates: A review. Aquatic Toxicology 120-121, 79–89.
- Meyer, K.M., Gimpel, K., Brandl, R., 2007. Viability analysis of endangered crayfish populations. J Zoology 273 (4), 364–371.
- Neuparth, T., Martins, C., Santos, C.B.d.L., Costa, M.H., Martins, I., Costa, P.M., Santos, M.M., 2014. Hypocholesterolaemic pharmaceutical simvastatin disrupts reproduction and population growth of the amphipod *Gammarus locusta* at the ng/L range. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 155, 337–347.
- R Core Team, 2015. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Satoh, K., Tanabe, H., Ichiishi, E., Ando, K., 2015. Diagnosis and treatment of aspirin—and NSAIDinduced peptic ulcers. Nihon rinsho. Japanese journal of clinical medicine 73 (7), 1110–1115.
- Schramm, K.W., Behechti, A., Beck, B., Kettrup, A., 1998. Influence of an aquatic humic acid on the bioconcentration of selected compounds in *Daphnia magna*. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 41 (1), 73–76.

- Shehata, S.A., El-Dib, M.A., Abou Waly, H.F., 1997. Effect of certain herbicides on the growth of freshwater algae. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 100 (1/2), 1–12.
- Silveyra, G.R., Silveyra, P., Vatnick, I., Medesani, D.A., Rodríguez, E.M., 2018. Effects of atrazine on vitellogenesis, steroid levels and lipid peroxidation, in female red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 197, 136–142.
- Skurdal, J., HESSEN, D.O., GARNÅS, E., VØLLESTAD, L.A., 2011. Fluctuating fecundity parameters and reproductive investment in crayfish: Driven by climate or chaos? Freshwater Biology 56 (2), 335–341.
- Weinländer, M., Füreder, L., 2016. Native and alien crayfish species: Do their trophic roles differ? Freshwater Science 35 (4), 1340–1353.
- Wickins, J.F., O'C Lee, D., 2003. Crustacean Farming, Ranching and Culture, 2nd edition. Aquaculture Research 34 (3), 269–270.

2.2 Effects of Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine on gonadal maturation of marbled crayfish

Effects of Diclofenac and Terbuthylazine on gonadal maturation of marbled crayfish

2.2.1 Introduction

In addition to the manuscript above, we used marbled crayfish (*Procambarus virginalis*, Lyko 2017) for a similar investigation. The aim was to test its suitability as a model organism for the estimation of effective concentrations of TBA and DCF, as its gonadal maturation is significantly different from other crayfish species due to their parthenogenetic reproduction.

2.2.2 Material and methods

2.2.2.1 Marbled crayfish

All investigated female *Procambarus virginalis* were obtained from the research group of Frank Lenich in Regensburg. Animals were caught manually via diving. Similar to the experimental setup of the noble crayfish, three marbled crayfish were kept in 20 L-tanks for two weeks to adjust to the laboratory conditions and were separated to exclude cannibalism, competition and stress. Due to different optimal reproduction conditions, the temperature was set at 24 °C and the light regime was L:D = 8:16 hours. On account of low availability, we were only able to use 35 individuals. Therefore, the Investigations were conducted with one concentration less in comparison to the noble crayfish setup.

Substances and parameter monitoring were for the same as in the noble crayfish study. The experimental setup was adjusted to the requirements of marbled crayfish, which is described in the following. Histological examinations were not carried out due to insufficient data (see below).

2.2.2.2 Experimental setup

The investigated marbled crayfish were kept in 14 tanks with 18 litres volume each. The tanks were placed in climate chambers to assure constant temperature and light regimes and were equipped with one circulator 650 pump (AQUAEL Deutschland GmbH, 40699 Erkrath, Germany) with aeration each. Two or three animals were kept per tank and treatment and were separated by partitions. The parthenogenetic reproduction of these animals allowed us to start the experiment at any given date of the year. In this case, the experiment started in July and was conducted until all individuals of the control group extruded eggs at least once. After the extrusion, eggs were counted and artificial

breeding started in an incubator as in the manuscript above on noble crayfish. All juveniles were measured via photography with a scale and the software "GIMP" (version 2.10.18, The GIMP-Team), and mortality was observed and analysed.

2.2.3 Results

2.2.3.1 Number of eggs and survival of embryos

As shown in Figure 2.6, the number of laid eggs and the survival of eggs are quite similar regarding the different concentrations of the two chemicals. The large standard deviations of all groups and the low egg production of the control are noteworthy. There were no significant differences in numbers of eggs or hatched individuals.



Figure 2.6: Egg cells per μ l. Dark areas represent the number of dead embryos; light grey represents the living animals and the height of every bar the total average of counted eggs.

2.2.3.2 Size of juveniles

The size of the hatched juveniles has only been measured for five concentration groups (Figure 2.7). In the other two group no embryos survived until hatching. Significant differences were found only for the DCF concentration of 0.16 mg/L, which showed a lower size in comparison with the groups exposed to 2.56 mg/L DCF and 0.4 and 1.6 mg/L TBA.



Figure 2.7: Hatching size of marbled crayfish after parental exposure to different chemical concentrations. Letters indicate significant differences.

2.2.4 Conclusion

Contrary to noble crayfish, gonadal development of marbled crayfish seems not to be negatively influenced by the two tested chemicals. Neither the number of laid eggs and survival of these, nor the size of hatched juveniles showed clear evidence of any negative effects. Even though there are significant differences in the size of juveniles exposed to 0.16 mg/L DCF in comparison to three other groups, the fact that the lowest DCF concentration results in the lowest body size of all observed groups shows that the reasons for these differences are not to be found in chemical concentrations. Most likely, maternal size and individual fitness caused this effect. Also, the very limited number of hatched juveniles impairs the reliability of this data.

Overall, it can be assumed, that the shorter gonadal development and the missing impact on spermatozoa production lead to a higher resistance of the gonadal development of marbled crayfish to environmental pollution.

3 Embryonic development

After the illumination of effects on gonadal development and mating, observations on effects of the chosen chemicals on the embryonic development are needed to evaluate the influences on the whole reproduction cycle and, therefore, the impacts on population dynamics due to reproduction disruptions. The following manuscripts show the impact of TBA and DCF on embryos of both species *Astacus astacus* and *Procambarus virginalis*. Both of these manuscripts are submitted to peer-reviewed journals (Terbuthylazine; Water, Air, & Soil Pollution; Diclofenac: International Aquatic Research).

3.1 Noble crayfish are more sensitive to Terbuthylazine than parthenogenetic marbled crayfish

The included version of the manuscript represents the initial submission of this study to the journal: "Water, Air, & Soil Pollution" prior to any changes during review process. Submission date: 20.07.2020

Noble crayfish are more sensitive to Terbuthylazine

than parthenogenetic marbled crayfish

Jan Laurenz¹, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201; Lena Lietz¹; Prof. Dr. Heinz Brendelberger¹; Kai Lehmann¹, ORCID: 0000-0002-1302-9529; Arne Georg¹

¹Christian-Albrechts-University, Zoological Institute, Limnology, Kiel Germany, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201

Author Contribution

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Material preparation, data collection and analysis were performed by Jan Laurenz and Lena Lietz. The first draft of the manuscript was written by Jan Laurenz and all authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Short title: Terbuthylazine and crayfish embryonic development

Keywords: marbled crayfish, noble crayfish, juveniles, Terbuthylazine, embryonic

Noble crayfish are more sensitive to Terbuthylazine than parthenogenetic marbled crayfish

3.1.1 Abstract

We investigated the sensitivity of two freshwater crayfish species (*Astacus astacus* and *Procambarus virginalis*) during embryonic development to chronic exposure to the herbicide Terbuthylazine under laboratory conditions. The assessed parameters included time of embryonic development, survival rate, hatching weight and histopathology of hepatopancreas. LC_{50} (median lethal concentration) and ED_{50} (median effective concentration) were estimated. We were able to determine effects of TBA for every investigated parameter. For noble crayfish the LC_{50} value after 45 days was 0.11 mg/L and the histology of the hepatopancreas showed effects starting from 0.025 mg/L. Other parameters revealed effects starting at concentrations of 1.6 mg/L for weight and 6.4 mg /L for embryonic development time and hatching rate. Marbled crayfish only showed effects concerning the hatching rate and survival rate at concentrations without a clear dose effects curve. As a conclusion, our data shows the risk of TBA in existing concentrations in freshwater ecosystems to non-target organisms and also the need of toxicological studies on directly affected species in addition to the use of model organisms.

3.1.2 Introduction

Terbuthylazine is a chlorotriazine used worldwide as a pre-emergence herbicide in corn farming. This leads to peaks of TBA concentrations in natural water bodies during March and April. Its use is of emerging concern because of its persistence, toxicity and proven endocrine disruption in wildlife and humans (Tasca et al., 2019). It is also one of the most frequently detected pesticides in natural waters (Dolaptsoglou et al., 2007). Concentrations of more than 34.0 µg/L were detected in surface waters in Spain (Herrero-Hernández et al., 2017). Despite its prevalence in European ecosystems, little is known about the effects of this pollutant on most freshwater invertebrate species.

Freshwater crayfish affect nearly every trophic level of their habitat and influence their structural environment due to their burrowing activity. Therefore, these largest invertebrates of freshwater bodies are called "keystone species" and "ecosystem engineers" (Weinländer and Füreder, 2016). Consequently, the habitat directive protects all native freshwater crayfish species in Europe (European Commission, 2000). Nevertheless, these species are highly endangered. Invasive species, the crayfish plague (*Aphanomyces astaci*), structural stress and chemical loads cause population decline (Chucholl, 2011). The influences in particular of presumed toxic chemicals on sensitive life stages affect population recruitment and dynamics. One highly sensitive life stage is the development of crayfish embryos (Khan and Nugegoda, 2007). During this period, between November and June (Ackerfors,

1999), the embryonic individual is exposed to the environment and its possibly harmful substances without the possibility of active avoidance. Because of its usage as a pre-emergence herbicide, the highest concentrations of TBA are detected at the beginning of spring and therefore in this sensitive development period of freshwater crayfish (Lorente et al., 2015).

For this reason, we examined the effects of TBA on the embryonic development of two freshwater crayfish species. We used marbled crayfish (*Procambarus virginalis*, Lyko 2017) to test its suitability as a model organism. One female can produce up to 700 eggs every 8–9 weeks. The offspring is genetically identical due to the species' parthenogenetic reproduction strategy (Chucholl and Pfeiffer, 2010; Vogt et al., 2004), thus providing a predictable and continuous supply of clonal eggs and making this species a suitable model organism for higher invertebrates with a longer embryonic development (Hossain et al., 2018; Vogt, 2018). The second organism we studied was the native noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus*, Linnaeus 1758), as it is especially suitable for our study due to its natural habitats (lower sections of streams, lakes etc.), which are often influenced by agricultural drainage and sewage (Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002).

Parameters that can indicate lethal and sublethal effects of herbicides on the reproduction of freshwater crayfish are embryonic development, survival rate, hatching weight and the histopathology of the hepatopancreas of the juveniles (Velisek et al., 2013). Changes in the first three parameters directly influence the development of populations. At the same time, the hepatopancreas is the site of nutrient absorption, digestion, synthesis and secretion of digestive enzymes and reserve storage in decapods (Calvo et al., 2011; Johnston et al., 1998; Xiao et al., 2014). It is formed of numerous tubules separated by connective tissues (Abd El-Atti et al., 2019) and consists of a lumen, membranes and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive lipid cells (R-cell) for nutrient intake, blister-like secretory cells (Bcell) to channel off harmful substances, fibrillar cells (F-cell) as connecting tissue and embryonic cells (E-cell). This means, changes in R-cells would indicate a higher or lower intake of nutrients, changes in B-cells would indicate a higher or lower outtake of harmful substances, whereas changes in the other two types would indicate problems in the biosynthesis of the individual. For this reason, hepatopancreas tissue is used for monitoring the health of crayfish and can indicate diseases and exposure to harmful substances (Velisek et al., 2017; Xiao et al., 2014). We hypothesize that TBA exposure influences the aforementioned parameters in both species of freshwater crayfish, A. astacus and P. virginalis, and that the marbled crayfish embryos and noble crayfish embryos are affected by the herbicide in a similar way.

3.1.3 Material & methods

3.1.3.1 Chemicals

Terbuthylazine was obtained from Sigma Aldrich, Germany, in 98 % purity. Concentrations were chosen to cover the range from concentrations occurring in surface waters to known effective concentrations from other taxa (Cedergreen and Streibig, 2005; Schramm et al., 1998; Shehata et al., 1997) as follows: 0.0 mg/L; 0.025 mg/L; 0.1 mg/L; 0.4 mg/L; 1.6 mg/L; 6.4 mg/L and 12.8 mg/L. Due to low solubility (5 mg/L in 20°C) TBA was dissolved in Dimethylsulfoxid (DMSO). To exclude effects of DMSO a control group with this solvent was included.

3.1.3.2 Origin of brood stock and eggs

Noble crayfish (15 females and six males) were obtained from a hatchery in Schleswig-Holstein (Krebszucht Oeversee, Germany) in November and transferred to the facilities of Kiel University. Three groups of five females and two males were kept in three recirculating 600 L tanks throughout the reproduction period. Temperature was set at 8°C and a light regime of L:D = 10:14 was provided. Females were checked for eggs daily. Eggs were separated from females after a two week period at 4 °C in winter, and artificial breeding was started in an incubator equipped with UV clarification, biofilter, oxygen supply and egg-moving trays.

Marbled crayfish were bred in facilities of Kiel University; animals were obtained beforehand through the aquatic trade and kept individually in 12 separate 25 L aquaria in aerated tap water. The ambient temperature was 23°C, the light regime was L:D = 10:14 hours. All animals were fed frozen midge larvae and peas ad libitum. Under these conditions, *P. virginalis* produced parthenogenetic eggs every 8–9 weeks in our laboratory. These eggs were separated 72 hours after laying.

3.1.3.3 Experimental design, setup and data collection

Separated eggs were transferred directly to twelve 12-well multititer plates (Greiner bio-one, Kremsmünster, Austria) with one single egg per well; all eggs were randomly assigned to the wells. Stock solutions were made weekly for each concentration with double the concentration of final TBA. Testing solutions were then prepared daily by diluting stock solution with a mixture of 30 % tap water and 70 % VE Water, which we autoclaved. Each well was filled with 1.5 mL test-solution.

Species	Trial [days]	Designation	No. per concentration
P. virginalis	0–15	PT	36
A. astacus	0–45	AT	12
A. astacus	0–15	A1	12
A. astacus	15–30	A2	12
A. astacus	30–45	A3	12

Table 3.1: Concentrations, trials, designations and numbers of replicates per species.

All multititer plates were placed on a laboratory shaker (Dual-Action shaker K 2, Edmund Bühler GmbH, 72411 Bodelshausen, Germany) that provided 60 movements per minute to ensure constant supply of oxygen and simulate parental movement of the abdomen. Experimental solutions were exchanged daily.

The transparent membrane of crayfish eggs enables us to examine the status of the embryonic development under a stereomicroscope (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006). Using this method, we recorded developmental stages and mortality three times per week. We converted the developmental stages described by (Sandeman and Sandeman, 1991) noble crayfish) and (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006), marbled crayfish) into percentages to allow direct comparability of the embryonic development between species. Due to their different reproduction strategies, the development time of marbled crayfish (650 degree days) is three times shorter than the development time of noble crayfish (1900 degree days) (Kozák, 2015; Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002). Therefore, we exposed noble crayfish for the duration of their complete embryonic development in one trial, and in another investigation, we exposed the embryos in the first, second and third phase of their development, resulting in equal exposure times of 15 days for each treatment (Table 3.1). Survival was also observed in the time after the exposure until the first moult. After this, the study was terminated. At this time, the fresh weight of the moulted animals was measured (Sartorius R160P-*D1 R160P Balance, Sartorius AG 37079 Goettingen, Germany).

3.1.3.4 Histology

After 45 days of exposure three noble crayfish juveniles from each concentration (24 in total) were fixated in Formaldehyde (3.7 %) and decalcified for two weeks in Kristensen solution. After washing in Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) three times for 15 minutes, the animals were brought into an ethanol series (2 x 50 %, 70 %, 90 %, 2 x 99 %, 30 min. each) and bedded in LR White in gelatin capsules as described in Table 3.2 (LR White acrylic resin, hard, Sigma Aldrich, Germany).

LR-White: Ethanol	Time [h]	Temperature [°C]
1:2	2	20
1:1	2	20
2:1	2	20
1:0	2	20
1:0	2	20
1:0	12	20
1:0	48	60

Table 3.2: Proportion of solutions, times and temperature for embedding juvenile crayfish in LR White.

Sections of 2 µm were made using an ultramicrotome. Sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (HE) with an extended exposure time due to acrylic embedding in accordance with LR White instructions for use. Tissues of hepatopancreas were examined under a light microscope combined with a camera system (Leica DM1000 LED, Leica ICC50 HD, Leica Application Suite Version 3.0.0, Leica Microsystems CMS GmbH, D-35578 Wetzlar, Germany). The examination of hepatopancreas cells included the observation of membrane damage, damage in the four different cell types and changes in size and number of the four different cell types per hepatopancreas compartment. For this procedure, 10 sections per individual were photographed and subsequently analysed by counting and measuring cells.

3.1.3.5 Statistical methods

We performed all statistical analyses using R (R Core Team, 2015). The weight of the juveniles and number of B-cells per compartment were tested for normality and equal variances prior to analysis. Afterwards, a one-way ANOVA was performed and subsequently a Tukey post-hoc test. For non-parametric data, a Kruskal-Wallis test was used. The LC₅₀-values were control corrected using Abbott's correction first and then estimated utilizing the trimmed Spearman-Karber method. Survival rates were analysed using the Kaplan-Meier survival analysis of Gehan Breslow and the groups were compared via the Holm-Sidak method. The embryonic development was analysed via linear regressions. Due to good correlation values (> 0.8) the linear regressions were compared with an ANCOVA (analysis of covariances). Photographs were analysed in GIMP (version 2.8, Gimp Team).

3.1.4 Results

3.1.4.1 Embryonic development time

The development time of group PT embryos was not affected by any of the applied TBA concentrations. The development of group AT was affected by TBA concentrations with significant effects detectable at 6.4 mg/L and higher ($p \le 0.028$, Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1: Linear regressions of embryonic development of marbled crayfish (PT) and noble crayfish (AT) in different concentrations of TBA over Time.

In detail, TBA did influence the last two thirds of embryonic development. There were no differences in development of group A1, but in group A2 embryos exposed to the TBA concentrations of 6.4 and 12.8 mg/L developed slower in comparison to other groups ($p \le 0.036$). The exposure to TBA of group A3 showed that the three highest concentrations significantly slowed down embryonic development ($p \le 0.012$, Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Linear regressions of embryonic development of noble crayfish in different concentrations of TBA over time in first (A1), second (A2) and last (A3) third of development.

3.1.4.2 Weights

Animals in group PT exposed to higher concentrations tended to have a lower weight at hatching (Table 3.3). However, the ANOVA did not reveal significant differences (p > 0.05).

Weights of noble crayfish were only recorded for groups A1, A2 and A3 because of an overall high mortality of noble crayfish of group AT. Group A1 was strongly impacted by TBA concentrations of 1.6 mg/L upwards resulting in a decline in mean body weight of 46.36 % compared to the control groups ($p \le 0.0434$). The influence on group A2 is limited to a concentration of 6.4 mg/L ($p \le 0.0256$). In group A3, all individuals exposed to concentrations above 0.4 mg/L died before the first moult and no differences in hatching weight were observed for the remaining concentrations.

Table 3.3: Average weights i	n ma plus standard (deviation at hatching	in the different ti	reatment groups.
5 5	51	5	,,,	5 1

Treatment	A1 [mg±SD]	A2 [mg±SD]	A3 [mg±SD]	PT [mg±SD]
0.00 [mg/L]	25.08 ± 1.47	23.53 ± 2.17	18.84 ± 1.8	3.54 ± 0.55
DMSO [mg/L]	24.00± 0.57	22.15 ± 1.09	19.60 ± 0.79	3.59 ± 0.52
0.025 [mg/L]	22.08 ± 4.08	24.34 ± 1.32	18.16 ± 0.88	3.45 ± 0.60
0.1 [mg/L]	22.03 ± 4.17	24.53 ± 0.78	19.78 ± 0.74	3.47 ± 0.51
0.4 [mg/L]	19.10 ± 4.30	23.62 ± 1.08	19.05 ± 0.65	3.50 ± 0.43
1.6 [mg/L]	17.35 ± 3.99	23.58 ± 3.69	/	3.15 ± 0.59
6.4 [mg/L]	13.45 ± 0.75	20.58 ± 2.15	/	3.14 ± 0.60
12.8 [mg/L]	15.65 ± 3.25	22.38 ± 2.60	/	3.11 ± 0.70

3.1.4.3 Survival rate

The survival rates of group PT exposed to different TBA concentrations are shown in Figure 3.3. Both control groups and the lowest concentration supported the highest survival rates in a range between 60 and 66 %. The lowest survival rates were recorded at 33 % in treatments exposed to TBA concentrations of 12.8 mg/L. Statistically significant differences to control treatment H₂O were found for concentrations of 0.1 mg/L, 1.6 mg/L and 12.8 mg/L (p < 0.02). The LC₅₀-value for this group was 42.38 mg/L for 15 days of exposure. Due to the absence of a correlation between dose and effect, the standard error was greater than the estimated value (± 66.00).



Figure 3.3: Survival rates for marbled crayfish exposed to different concentrations of TBA during the experiment. The blue area shows the exposure time frames.

Survival rates in group AT (Figure 3.4) were significantly lower than for marbled crayfish. Only individuals in the control group H₂O (20%) and in the lowest concentration of 0.025 mg/L (10%) completed the first moult. The two treatments with the highest TBA concentrations were also showed significantly lower survival rates than the control groups and treatments with lower concentrations of 0.025, 0.1 and 1.6 mg/L ($p \le 0.043$). The calculated LC₅₀ (45d) was 0.1110 mg/L (SD = 0.099).



Figure 3.4: Survival rates of noble crayfish group AT exposed to different concentrations of TBA over a period of 60 days. The blue area shows the exposure time frames

When exposing the embryos of noble crayfish to TBA for timeslots of 15 days, higher impacts occurred in groups A1 and A3 during the entire development time. Within the first third, the survival rate dropped below 40 % for every group (Figure 3.5) with significantly lower survival rates in the three highest concentrations. If TBA exposure took place during the second period of development, only the group exposed to the highest concentration of 12.8 mg/L had a significantly lower survival rate, similar to the first third. In the final third of development, the three highest treatments showed a significant impact on the survival of noble crayfish embryos. LC₅₀ (15d) values (1.051 mg/L; 6.982 mg/L; 0.257 mg/L) for the three time frames showed a higher impact in the first and last part of embryonic development.



Figure 3.5: Survival rates of noble crayfish exposed to different concentrations of TBA over time in first (A1), second (A2) and last (A3) third of development. The blue areas indicate exposure time frames.

3.1.4.4 Histology

Figure 3.6 illustrates the effects of TBA on hepatopancreas structure of *A. astacus*. The average number of B-cells per hepatopancreas cell in the control group is 24.6. All sections of all concentrations showed a higher abundance of B-cells and enlarged B-cells compared to the control group. At concentrations of 0.025 mg/l the number of B-cells (69,86) was significantly higher ($p < 2 e^{-16}$). Even though the highest concentrations showed a number of 41.86 B-cells per section on average, the cells were about twice the size of the B-cells in the control group. Additionally, no membrane disruption occurred in the control groups, whereas we observed disruptions in groups with concentrations of 0.025 mg/L in 20 % of all sections. From concentrations of 1.6 mg/L upwards, this membrane damage was present in every section.



Figure 3.6: Histological sections of hepatopancreas in juvenile noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) exposed to Terbuthylazine for 45 days. *I* : control with marked lumen (L), membrane (M) and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive (R) lipid cells, blister-like (B) secretory cells, fibrillar (F) cells and embryonic (E) cells; *II*: group exposed to 0.025 mg/L TBA for 45 days; *III*: group exposed to 12.8 mg/L TBA for 45 days (HE stain, 200×).

3.1.5 Discussion

Our results highlight clear differences in sensitivity to TBA exposure between marbled and noble crayfish embryonic development. This questions the suitability of marbled crayfish as a model when studying environmental impacts on native freshwater crayfish such as noble crayfish. Even though genetic uniformity, ease of culture, and a broad behavioral repertoire encourage the use of marbled crayfish in epigenetics and developmental biology, as well as physiological, ecotoxicological, and ethological research (Hossain et al., 2018; Vogt, 2008), the possibility of transferability of ecotoxicological effects to other species is questionable. The lower sensitivity of marbled crayfish compared to noble crayfish can on the one hand be explained by a threefold longer embryonic development and therefore a longer exposure time of the latter. Additionally, Vogt (2010) described marbled crayfish as tolerant towards broad ranges of environmental conditions for long periods of time. Considering the results of Rubach et al. (2011) demonstrating that freshwater arthropod species can be highly variable in their dynamic response to a particular stressor, it is reasonable that the low

sensitivity of marbled crayfish leads to lower effects of TBA on the organism than on noble crayfish, described as more sensitive overall (Holdich, 2002).

It is evident, however, that TBA affects/slows down the overall embryonic development time of noble crayfish, while effects are strongest if animals are exposed during the second and final third of their embryonic development. In this phase, gastrulation is complete and all compartments of the crayfish's body are present, at least in rudimentary form (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006; Sandeman and Sandeman, 1991). Consequently, TBA is likely to hinder growth and specification of the compartments once their main structures are developed. This assumption is corroborated by the work of Gutiérrez et al. (2019), who described that TBA leads to biochemical changes in the species Scrobicularia plana, namely in protein contents and enzymatic activity levels, since the protein and enzymatic development take part in the later embryonic development of crayfish (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006). The elongated embryonic development can be seen as a reason for the lower weights of juvenile crayfishes. Crayfish start feeding at the third juvenile stage. Up to this time the embryo gets its energy from its extensive yolk reserves (Vogt and Tolley, 2004). Lower weights of crayfish embryos caused by organic pollutants have been described previously (Velisek et al., 2017). Differences regarding the different concentrations of TBA were only present when noble crayfish embryos were exposed in the first period of their development. Here, gastrulation as well as the development of the immune system and excretory organs take place (Sandeman and Sandeman, 1991). When considering results of the histology of the hepatopancreas it is reasonable to assume that abnormalities of the hepatopancreas are connected to the lower weight of the hatched individuals. For outdoor populations late hatching and lower weight can have serious consequences, since smaller and slower growing individuals have a lower survival potential due to lower feeding success and increased mortality through predation, as shown for marine fishes (Franke and Clemmesen, 2011). For crayfish it is also known that lower body weights from, for example, starvation cannot be fully recovered (Powell and Watts, 2010).

As our data show, there is a higher influence of TBA for treatments A1 and A3 than on A2 in terms of mortality. Points in time of the highest mortalities correlate with gastrulation, biosynthesis and hatching (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006), leading to the assumption that these stages are more sensitive to the potential pollutant than other stages. The usage as pre-emergence herbicide in March and April can at the same time lead to the highest concentrations of TBA during the first period of embryonic development (Ackerfors, 1999). The combination of the resulting lower number of individuals, lower weight and later hatching eventuates in an even lower competitivity of noble crayfish against invasive crayfish species, whereas the interaction of native and invasive species is of severe conservation interest (Pacioglu et al., 2020).

The histology of the hepatopancreas shows effects even at lowest concentrations in the form of an increase in the number and diameter of B-cells compared to the control group for every concentration of TBA for noble crayfishes. In addition, we found damage to membrane structures similar to Chaufan et al. (2006) for every concentration. Their study revealed disorganisation in hepatopancreas tubules as well as increased diameters and numbers of B-cells on hepatopancreas cells after feeding crabs (Chasmagnathus granulatus) with hexachlorobenzen-contaminated Chlorella for three days. According to this result, an increase in the size and number of B-cells is a sublethal effect of exposure to at least these two agricultural control chemicals. Silveyra et al. (2018) tested the influences of atrazine (which was substituted by TBA and is nearly similar in form and shape to TBA) on vitellogenesis, steroid levels and lipid peroxidation in female red swamp crayfish Procambarus clarki. They found that atrazine-exposed crayfish had a lower expression of vitellogenin in the ovary and hepatopancreas as well as smaller oocytes and reduced vitellogenin content in the ovary. This shows an additional effect on the hepatopancreas caused by chlorotriazines that can lead to decreased reproduction. They also showed that atrazine caused a higher metabolic effort in terms of lactate production, presumably triggered to provide the energy needed to face the unspecific stress produced by the herbicide. This higher metabolic effort, or trade-off effect, could explain the sublethal effects pointed out in this study. Besides Terbuthylazine, the degradation products are of great interest due to their toxicity. Koutnik et al. (2017) showed that terbuthylazine-2-hydroxy-exposure in concentrations of down to 75 μ g/L affected growth, ontogenetic development, the antioxidant system, and caused oxidative stress and pathological changes in the hepatopancreas of early life stages of marbled crayfish. Therefore, not only the herbicide itself is a threat to non-target organisms but also the degradation product, which prolongs harmful consequences by the usage of herbicides containing Terbuthylazine.

In conclusion, TBA has an influence on the reproduction of the two freshwater crayfish species in all investigated parameters. Sublethal effects can be seen at every concentration, while their influence on future generations remains unclear. The wide range of effects of TBA on the embryonic development of freshwater crayfish shows the complexity of consequences caused by pollutants for these organisms. The length of time and type of use of TBA as a pre-emergence herbicide possibly leads to a generation of crayfish with variations in their hepatopancreas. This variation can again have influences on the respiratory activity and therefore on the overall fitness, especially of the endemic noble crayfish. The data of this study show the high risk of TBA on the non-target organisms that are crayfishes. Considering the important role of crayfishes for their habitat, the dangers posed by TBA for surface waters are highly relevant.

3.1.6 Declarations

Funding: This study was funded by: Deutsche Bundesstiftung Umwelt

Conflict of interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

All applicable institutional and/or national guidelines for the care and use of animals were followed.

- 3.1.7 References Noble crayfish are more sensitive to Terbuthylazine than parthenogenetic marbled crayfish
- Abd El-Atti, M., Desouky, M.M.A., Mohamadien, A., Said, R.M., 2019. Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii*: Bioaccumulation, oxidative stress and histopathological biomarkers. The Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Research 45 (1), 11–18.
- Ackerfors, H.E.G., 1999. Observation on the Yearly Life Cycle of *Astacus astacus* in a Small Lake in Sweden. Freshwater Crayfish 1999 (12), 413–429.
- Alwes, F., Scholtz, G., 2006. Stages and other aspects of the embryology of the parthenogenetic Marmorkrebs (Decapoda, Reptantia, Astacida). Development genes and evolution 216 (4), 169–184.
- Calvo, N.S., Stumpf, L., Pietrokovsky, S., Greco, L.S.L., 2011. Early and late effects of feed restriction on survival, growth and hepatopancreas structure in juveniles of the red claw crayfish *Cherax quadricarinatus*. Aquaculture 319 (3-4), 355–362.
- Cedergreen, N., Streibig, J.C., 2005. The toxicity of herbicides to non-target aquatic plants and algae: Assessment of predictive factors and hazard. Pest management science 61 (12), 1152–1160.
- Chaufan, G., Juárez, Á., Basack, S., Ithuralde, E., Sabatini, S.E., Genovese, G., Oneto, M.L., Kesten, E., Ríos de Molina, M.d.C., 2006. Toxicity of hexachlorobenzene and its transference from microalgae (*Chlorella kessleri*) to crabs (Chasmagnathus granulatus). Toxicology 227 (3), 262–270.
- Chucholl, C., 2011. Disjunct distribution pattern of *Procambarus clarkii* (Crustacea, Decapoda, Astacida, Cambaridae) in an artificial lake system in Southwestern Germany. Al 6 (1), 109–113.
- Chucholl, C., Pfeiffer, M., 2010. First evidence for an established Marmorkrebs (Decapoda, Astacida, Cambaridae) population in Southwestern Germany, in syntopic occurrence with *Orconectes limosus* (Rafinesque, 1817). AI 5 (4), 405–412.
- Dolaptsoglou, C., Karpouzas, D.G., Menkissoglu-Spiroudi, U., Eleftherohorinos, I., Voudrias, E.A., 2007. Influence of different organic amendments on the degradation, metabolism, and adsorption of terbuthylazine. Journal of environmental quality 36 (6), 1793–1802.

- European Commission, 2000. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy: WFW directive.
- Franke, A., Clemmesen, C., 2011. Effect of ocean acidification on early life stages of Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus* L.). Biogeosciences 8 (12), 3697–3707.
- Gutiérrez, I.B., Mesquita, A.F.C., Nunes, C., Coimbra, M.A., Gonçalves, F.J.M., Marques, J.C., Gonçalves,
 A.M.M., 2019. Impacts of S-metolachlor and terbuthylazine in fatty acid and carbohydrate
 composition of the benthic clam Scrobicularia plana. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 173, 293–304.
- Herrero-Hernández, E., Rodríguez-Cruz, M.S., Pose-Juan, E., Sánchez-González, S., Andrades, M.S., Sánchez-Martín, M.J., 2017. Seasonal distribution of herbicide and insecticide residues in the water resources of the vineyard region of La Rioja (Spain). The Science of the total environment 609, 161– 171.
- Holdich, D.M. (Ed.), 2002. Biology of freshwater crayfish. Blackwell Science, Oxford, 702 pp.
- Hossain, M.S., Patoka, J., Kouba, A., Buřič, M., 2018. Clonal crayfish as biological model: A review on marbled crayfish. Biologia 73 (9), 841–855.
- Johnston, D.J., Alexander, C.G., Yellowlees, D., 1998. Epithelial Cytology and Function in the Digestive Gland of *Thenus Orientalis* (Decapoda: Scyllaridae). Journal of Crustacean Biology 18 (2), 271–278.
- Khan, S., Nugegoda, D., 2007. Sensitivity of juvenile freshwater crayfish *Cherax destructor* (Decapoda: Parastacidae) to trace metals. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 68 (3), 463–469.
- Koutnik, D., Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., Velisek, J., 2017. The chronic effects of terbuthylazine-2hydroxy on early life stages of marbled crayfish (*Procambarus fallax f. virginalis*). Pesticide biochemistry and physiology 136, 29–33.
- Kozák, P., 2015. Crayfish biology and culture. University of South Bohemia, Česke Budějovice, 456 pp.
- Lorente, C., Causapé, J., Glud, R.N., Hancke, K., Merchán, D., Muñiz, S., Val, J., Navarro, E., 2015. Impacts of agricultural irrigation on nearby freshwater ecosystems: The seasonal influence of triazine herbicides in benthic algal communities. The Science of the total environment 503-504, 151–158.
- Pacioglu, O., Theissinger, K., Alexa, A., Samoilă, C., Sîrbu, O.-I., Schrimpf, A., Zubrod, J.P., Schulz, R.,
 Pîrvu, M., Lele, S.-F., Jones, J.I., Pârvulescu, L., 2020. Multifaceted implications of the competition between native and invasive crayfish: A glimmer of hope for the native's long-term survival. Biol Invasions 22 (2), 827–842.
- Powell, M.L., Watts, S.A., 2010. Response to Long-term Nutrient Deprivation and Recovery in the Crayfishes *Procambarus clarkii* and *Procambarus zonangulus* (Crustacea, Decapoda): Component and Proximate Analyses. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society 41 (1), 71–80.

- R Core Team, 2015. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rubach, M.N., Crum, S.J.H., van den Brink, P.J., 2011. Variability in the dynamics of mortality and immobility responses of freshwater arthropods exposed to chlorpyrifos. Archives of environmental contamination and toxicology 60 (4), 708–721.
- Sandeman, R., Sandeman, D., 1991. Stages in the development of the embryo of the fresh-water crayfish *Cherax destructor*. Roux's archives of developmental biology : the official organ of the EDBO 200 (1), 27–37.
- Schramm, K.W., Behechti, A., Beck, B., Kettrup, A., 1998. Influence of an aquatic humic acid on the bioconcentration of selected compounds in *Daphnia magna*. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 41 (1), 73–76.
- Shehata, S.A., El-Dib, M.A., Abou Waly, H.F., 1997. Effect of certain herbicides on the growth of freshwater algae. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 100 (1/2), 1–12.
- Silveyra, G.R., Silveyra, P., Vatnick, I., Medesani, D.A., Rodríguez, E.M., 2018. Effects of atrazine on vitellogenesis, steroid levels and lipid peroxidation, in female red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 197, 136–142.
- Skurdal, J., Taugbøl, T., 2002. Astacus, in: , Biology of Freshwater Crayfish, pp. 467–510.
- Tasca, A.L., Puccini, M., Clematis, D., Panizza, M., 2019. Electrochemical removal of Terbuthylazine:Boron-Doped Diamond anode coupled with solid polymer electrolyte. Environmental pollution (Barking, Essex : 1987) 251, 285–291.
- Velisek, J., Kouba, A., Stara, A., 2013. Acute toxicity of triazine pesticides to juvenile signal crayfish (*Pacifastacus leniusculus*). Neuro endocrinology letters 34 Suppl 2, 31–36.
- Velisek, J., Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., 2017. Effects of three triazine metabolites and their mixture at environmentally relevant concentrations on early life stages of marbled crayfish (*Procambarus fallax f. virginalis*). Chemosphere 175, 440–445.
- Vogt, G., 2008. The marbled crayfish: A new model organism for research on development, epigenetics and evolutionary biology. Journal of Zoology 276 (1), 1–13.
- Vogt, G., 2010. Suitability of the clonal marbled crayfish for biogerontological research: A review and perspective, with remarks on some further crustaceans. Biogerontology 11 (6), 643–669.
- Vogt, G., 2018. Annotated bibliography of the parthenogenetic marbled crayfish *Procambarus virginalis*, a new research model, potent invader and popular pet. Zootaxa 4418 (4), 301.
- Vogt, G., Tolley, L., 2004. Brood care in freshwater crayfish and relationship with the offspring's sensory deficiencies. J. Morphol. 262 (2), 566–582.

- Vogt, G., Tolley, L., Scholtz, G., 2004. Life stages and reproductive components of the Marmorkrebs (marbled crayfish), the first parthenogenetic decapod crustacean. Journal of morphology 261 (3), 286–311.
- Weinländer, M., Füreder, L., 2016. Native and alien crayfish species: Do their trophic roles differ? Freshwater Science 35 (4), 1340–1353.
- Xiao, X., Han, D., Zhu, X., Yang, Y., Xie, S., Huang, Y., 2014. Effect of dietary cornstarch levels on growth performance, enzyme activity and hepatopancreas histology of juvenile red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard). Aquaculture 426-427, 112–119.

3.2 Effects of Diclofenac on the embryonic development of freshwater crayfish

The included version of the manuscript represents the initial submission of this study to the journal: "International Aquatic Research" prior to any changes during review process. Submission date: 27.07.2020

Effects of Diclofenac on the embryonic development of freshwater crayfish

Jan Laurenz¹, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201; Prof. Dr. Heinz Brendelberger¹; Kai Lehmann¹, ORCID: 0000-0002-1302-9529;

¹Christian-Albrechts-University, Zoological Institute, Limnology, Kiel Germany, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201

JL and KL conceived and designed the experiments. JL performed the experiments. JL analysed the data. JL, KL and HB wrote the manuscript; all authors provided editorial advice.

Short title: Diclofenac and crayfish embryonic development

Keywords: marbled crayfish, noble crayfish, juveniles, Diclofenac, embryonic

Effects of Diclofenac on the embryonic development of freshwater crayfish

3.2.1 Abstract

In recent years, there has been increasing concern about the ecotoxicological consequences of the drug Diclofenac on freshwater organisms. Influences on the largest freshwater invertebrates, the freshwater crayfish, are especially interesting in the context of cascading effects due to their important role as keystone species. In this study, we investigated lethality, influences on body weight, embryonic development, and histological changes in embryos of marbled crayfish (*Procambarus virginalis*) and noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus*) in response to their exposure to different concentrations of Diclofenac. Additionally, we proved the suitability of marbled crayfish as a model organism for endemic freshwater crayfish, when studying the effects of Diclofenac. For both species, lethal effects started at concentrations of 0.16 mg/L, and histological changes were visible from concentrations of 0.64 mg/L. The similarity of LOEC (Lowest Observed Effect Concentrations) between the two species shows that marbled crayfish can serve as a model for investigations regarding the effects of exposure to Diclofenac for native crayfish.

3.2.1.1 Highlights:

- The effects of Diclofenac can be studied on marbled crayfish as a model organism for other crayfish species.
- Lethal effects start from concentrations of 10.24 mg/L Diclofenac.
- Sublethal effects start from 0.16 mg/L Diclofenac.

3.2.2 Introduction

Diclofenac (DCF) is the most frequently detected drug in German surface waters. It has been measured in concentrations of up to 29.8 μ g/L in 55 countries (Dusi et al., 2019). Different harmful effects have been described for non-target organisms. Concentrations as low as 1 μ g/L have shown negative effects on the liver, kidney and gills of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, (Triebskorn et al., 2004), and the survival, growth and reproduction of *Daphnia magna* is reduced from concentrations of 0.4 mg/L (Du et al., (2016). As a "keystone species" and "ecosystem engineers" (Weinländer and Füreder, 2016) freshwater crayfish are a central element of benthic ecosystems. During development, their sensitive embryos are directly exposed to potentially harmful chemicals dissolved in surface waters for months (Khan and Nugegoda, 2007). They rely on diffusive transport for gas and nutrition exchange during embryonic development (Reiber, 1997) and so they can be influenced by potentially harmful substances.

We therefore hypothesized that DCF has an influence on survival rate, embryonic development time, weight increase and histological effects on the hepatopancreas of freshwater crayfish embryos. The crayfish hepatopancreas is typically formed of numerous tubules separated by connective tissues (Abd El-Atti et al., 2019) and consists of lumen, membranes and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive lipid cells (R-cell) for nutrient intake, blister-like secretory cells (B-cell) to channel off harmful substances, fibrillar cells (F-cell) as connecting tissue and embryonic cells (E-cell). Consequently, changes in R-cells would indicate a higher or lower intake of nutrients, changes in B-cells would indicate a higher or lower intake of nutrients, changes in B-cells would indicate problems in the individual's biosynthesis.

We used the European native species *Astacus astacus*. It was once widespread in European surface waters until the crayfish plague as well as structural and chemical changes in surface waters nearly eradicated this species. The noble crayfish is very suitable for our study due to its natural habitat (lower sections of streams, lakes etc.) which is often influenced by agricultural drainages and sewage (Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002). We carried out the same study with marbled crayfish embryos (*Procambarus virginalis*). One female marbled crayfish can produce up to 700 eggs every 8–9 weeks. The offspring is genetically identical due to its parthenogenetic reproduction strategy (Chucholl and Pfeiffer, 2010; Vogt et al., 2004). These facts provide a predictable and continuous supply of clonal eggs, making this species a suitable model organism for higher invertebrates in the laboratory (Hossain et al., 2018; Vogt, 2018).

3.2.3 Material and methods

We obtained parental noble crayfish from a commercial hatchery in Schleswig-Holstein, Germany (Oversee crayfish farm). Fifteen females and six males were kept in three 600 litre aquaria during mating time at 8 °C and a light regime of L:D = 10:14. They were fed frozen midge larvae and peas ad libitum. Females were checked for eggs daily from the end of November onwards. The experiments started 72 hours after egg deposition. The reproduction strategy of marbled crayfish made it easier to obtain a large number of eggs. Twelve animals were kept separated in 25 Litre aquaria at 23 °C with a light regime of L:D = 10:14. The marbled crayfish were fed the same diet as the noble crayfish. These conditions allow us to obtain eggs from every individual marbled crayfish every 8–9 weeks. As with noble crayfish, we started experiments for marbled crayfish 72 hours after egg deposition.

For the experiments, we equally filled 10 wells of 5ml-multititer plates (Greiner bio-one, Kremsmünster, Austria) with 0.75 mL of a mixture of tap water and deionized water at a ratio of 2:1. The mixture was autoclaved and aerated beforehand to ensure an oxygen-saturated and germ-free environment for embryos. Prior to the start of the experiment, 0.75 mL of deionized water with a specific concentration of DCF was added. Subsequently, we transferred one egg per well into each well of twelve microtiter plates. Each plate contained all of the nine concentrations of DCF we used in our experiments, and additionally one zero and one solvent (Ethanol: ETH) control. The concentrations used in the experiments were chosen to cover a wide range from concentrations occurring in surface waters to concentrations known to have an effect on other animal groups (Dietrich et al., 2010; Han et al., 2006) and are shown in table 3.4.

Concentration [mg/L]	0.0	ETH	0.01	0.04	0.16	0.64	2.56	10.24	40.96
P. virginalis [n]	36	36	36	36	36	36	36	36	36
A. astacus [n] A1	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16
A. astacus [n] A2	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16
A. astacus [n] A3	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16

Table 3.4: Concentrations of DCF and numbers of replicates/embryos per species.

We placed the microtiter plates on a laboratory shaker (Dual–Action shaker KL 2, Edmund Bühler GmbH, 72411 Bodelshausen, Germany) with 60 movements per minute to ensure a constant supply of oxygen and simulate parental movement of the abdomen. We changed the experimental solutions daily via pipetting to maintain optimum water quality.

We recorded developmental stages and mortality three times per week. This was possible thanks to the transparent membrane of crayfish eggs that enabled us to examine the status of the living embryos' development under a binocular. We transferred the developmental stages described in (Sandeman and Sandeman, 1991), for noble crayfish and (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006), for marbled crayfish, to standardized percentages to generate direct comparability of the embryonic development of the two species.

Differences in development time of marbled crayfish (486-540 degree days (Seitz et al., 2005)) and noble crayfish (1900 degree days (Kozák, 2015; Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002)) were balanced by choosing exposure times of between 13 and 16 days for both species. The last period was carried out until the first moult of juvenile crayfishes. The embryonic development of marbled crayfish was fully complete by this time. For noble crayfish, we conducted the experiment for three different parts of

the embryonic development. Hereinafter, these first, second and third periods will be called A1, A2 and A3.

To avoid observer-biased data recording, the person observing did not know the respective assignments of eggs and concentrations. The experiments were terminated after the first moult of juvenile crayfish. At that time, the fresh weight of the moulted animals was measured (Sartorius Research R160 P, Sartorius GmbH, Göttingen, Germany).

3.2.3.1 Chemicals

We purchased DCF (Tokyo Chemical Industry Co. Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) in 99.5 % purity. Due to its low solubility in water (5 mg/L in 20 °C) DCF was first dissolved in Ethanol (ETH). To exclude any effects of ETH on the embryos we also included a control group with this solvent.

3.2.3.2 Histology

For histological assessment we fixated three noble crayfish per concentration in buffered formaldehyde (3.7 %) directly after the first moult. For decalcification, we stored the crayfish in Kristensen solution for two weeks as described in the LR white user's handbook, to ensure the complete decalcification of the exoskeleton. The samples were embedded in LR White (LR White acrylic resin, hard, Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) and hepatopancreas sections of two µm thickness were made using an ultramicrotome. The sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (HE) with an extended exposure time, in accordance with the LR White usage instructions. These tissue samples were examined under a light microscope combined with a camera system (Leica DM1000 LED, Leica ICC50 HD, Leica Application Suite Version 3.0.0, Leica Microsystems CMS GmbH, D-35578 Wetzlar, Germany). The examination of hepatopancreas cells included the observation of membrane damage, damage in the four different cell types, as well as changes in size and number of the four different cell types. For this procedure, 10 sections per individual were photographed and subsequently analysed by counting and measuring cells under the microscope.

3.2.3.3 Statistical methods

We performed all statistical analyses using R version 3.2. (R Core Team, 2015). The weight and number of B-cells were tested for normality and equal variances prior to analysis. If these criteria were fulfilled, a one-way ANOVA (variance analysis) and post hoc Tukey test were performed. The LC₅₀ values (medium lethal concentrations) were first corrected following Abbott's method and then estimated utilizing the trimmed Spearman Karber method. Survival rates were analysed using the Kaplan-Meier survival analysis of Gehan Breslow and the groups were compared via the Holm-Sidak method. The embryonic development was analysed via linear regressions. Thanks to good correlation values (> 0.8) the linear regressions were compared with an ANCOVA (covariance analysis). Pictures were analysed with GIMP software (version 2.8, Fa. the Gimp Team).

3.2.4 Results

3.2.4.1 Lethal effects

The survival rates of the marbled crayfish are shown in Figure 3.7. Overall, the survival of embryos was between 5 % and 36 %. Embryos of *P. virginalis* exposed to concentrations of 10.24 mg/L and higher showed a significantly lower survival rate than the control groups (Holm-Sidak, $p \le 0.03$). The estimated LC₅₀-value over 15 days was 13.96 mg/L (SE = 3.86).



Figure 3.7: Survival rates of marbled crayfish exposed to different concentrations of DCF over time.

Overall, the survival of noble crayfish embryos was higher than for marbled crayfish. Similar to marbled crayfish, survival rates of noble crayfish were significantly lower for concentrations of 10.24 mg/L and higher (Holm-Sidak, $p \le 0.007$). These differences were only observed in group A3 (Figure 3.8). During this developmental period, hatching takes place so that the effects of DCF on the survival of noble crayfish are linked to latest stage of embryonic development and hatching. An LC₅₀-value of 19.56 mg/L (SE = 5.22) was estimated for this group.



Figure 3.8: Survival rates of noble crayfish exposed to different concentrations of DCF over time in first (A1), second (A2) and final (A3) third of development.

3.2.4.2 Sublethal effects

3.2.4.2.1 A comparison of the weight

weight of both crayfish species after the first molt did not reveal any differences between the different treatments (all p>0.05).

3.2.4.2.2 Embryonic development time

A comparison of the development time of the marbled crayfish revealed major differences between treatments (Figure 3.9). From concentrations of 0.16 mg/L and higher, embryonic development was slower than in the control group (ANCOVA, p = 0.047). The time until 70 % of development was completed varied between 13 days for the control groups and 18 days for the treatment group exposed to 10.24 mg/L DCF. Embryos exposed to the highest concentration did not develop further than 69 % on average.



Figure 3.9: Linear regression of embryonic development of marbled crayfish exposed to different DCF concentrations over time.

In noble crayfish, there were no differences in development between group A1 and A2, but in group A3 the development of embryos exposed to DCF concentrations of 0.16 mg/L and higher was retarded compared to the control groups (p = 0.019) (Figure 3.10). By day 43, all embryos of the control groups had hatched. Embryos exposed to 0.16 mg/L DCF hatched after 46 days and embryos exposed to the highest concentration of DCF did not develop until hatching.



Figure 3.10: Linear regression of embryonic development of noble crayfish exposed to different DCF concentrations over time in the first (A1), second (A2) and final(A3) third of development.

3.2.4.2.3 Histology

Figure 3.11 illustrates the effects of DCF on the hepatopancreas structure of *A. astacus*. The average number of B-cells in the H₂O control group is 24.6 \pm 2.4 (n=30). All sections of concentrations of 2.56 mg/L and higher showed a higher number of B-cells and enlarged B-cells compared to the control groups (post hoc Tukey, p<0,001). In hepatopancreas sections of embryos exposed to concentrations of 40,96 mg/L 41.9 \pm 9.8 (n=30) B-cells per section were recorded. These cells were estimated to be
30 % larger than B-cells in the control groups. Additionally, no disruption of the membrane occurred in the control groups, whereas we observed disruptions at concentrations of 0.64 mg/L DCF in 20 % of all sections. At concentrations of 1.6 mg/L and higher, this membrane damage was present in every section.



Figure 3.11: Histological sections of the hepatopancreas in juvenile noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) exposed to DCF. I - control showing the lumen (L), membrane (M) and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive (R) lipid cells, blister-like (B) secretory cells, fibrillary (F) cells and embryonic (E) cells; II - group exposed to 0.64 mg/L DCF; II - group exposed to 2.56 mg/L DCF; IV - group exposed to 40.96 mg/L DCF (HE, 200×). Top row: close up of one tubular. Bottom row: overview of hepatopancreas structure

3.2.5 Discussion

The purpose of all types of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) including DCF is to decrease the production of thromboxanes and prostaglandins (Satoh et al., 2015) in order to reduce pain, inflammation and fever. With 3,996 positively detected environmental concentrations on the watch list of the database "Pharmaceuticals in the environment" (UBA, German Environment Agency; Dusi et al., 2019), it is considered a "contaminant of emerging concern" and was included in the previous watch list of EU Decision 2015/495 (Sathishkumar et al., 2020). This high incidence shows the relevance of understanding the effects of this drug on non-target organisms.

Comparison of the two species

With respect to the assessed parameters, the effects of DCF on embryos of the two species were very similar. The LOEC for lethality and embryonic development were identical and LC₅₀-values were comparable. Therefore, we conclude that marbled crayfish can serve as a model organism for endemic crayfish concerning the effects of DCF. The suitability of marbled crayfish as a model organism for a broad range of biological disciplines is described by Vogt (2018) and Hossain et al. (2018). Both reviews claimed that marbled crayfish are organisms that can be used for studies in epigenetics and developmental biology as well as physiological, ecotoxicological and ethological research. Buřič et al. (2018) used P. fallax to assess the effects of an opioid painkiller (tramadol) and an antidepressant drug

(citalopram) on behavioural patterns. The marbled crayfish has even been used as a model for the neural and molecular mechanisms of drug addiction, (Jackson and van Staaden, 2019). This shows that marbled crayfish are already being used as model organisms. Nevertheless, not every observed effect on marbled crayfish is transferable to other species. Marbled crayfish can show a lower sensitivity to environmental factors, especially during embryonic development. The short embryonic development of marbled crayfish (Vogt and Tolley, 2004) leads to a shorter exposition time during this vulnerable period. Additionally, Vogt (2010) described marbled crayfish as tolerant towards a wide range of environmental conditions for long periods of time. Considering the results of Rubach et al. (2011), who demonstrated that freshwater arthropod species can be highly variable in their dynamic response to a particular stressor, it is reasonable that the suitability of the marbled crayfish as a toxicological model organism is dependent on the chemical compound used. Nevertheless, effects are transferable to other species, but the dose at which an effect occurs might differ.

3.2.5.1 Lethality of Diclofenac

There have been few investigations into lethal concentrations of DCF for crustaceans and, to our knowledge, none for crayfish. Data are only available for the water flea Daphnia magna (LC₅₀ = 56.6 mg/L-94.1 mg/L (Quinn et al., 2011; Ra et al., 2008), the mysid Sirella armata $(LC_{50} = 0.01 \text{ mg/L}-2.91 \text{ mg/L} (Pérez et al., 2015))$ and the copepod Tisbe battagliai $(LC_{50} = 15.8 \text{ mg/L})$ (Schmidt et al., 2011)). These results are within the range of the observed values for crayfish in this study. It is notable that the commonly used organism for risk assessments, Daphnia magna, shows the highest LC₅₀ of all four organisms and therefore shows a very optimistic estimation of the hazardous effects of DCF. However, there are plenty of examples of the toxicity of DCF on fish. For example, the zebra fish Danio rerio showed an LC₅₀-value of 5.3 mg/L (van den Brandhof and Montforts, 2010). Zhang et al. (2020) showed for embryos of this species that Diclofenac led to the inhibition of spontaneous muscle contractions and a decreased hatching rate of zebrafish embryos at a concentration of 24.1 μ g/L. The deviation in these lethal concentrations compared to crustaceans, despite the larger body volume, can be explained by bioaccumulation in tissue. Several authors have reported that DCF can accumulate in fish, even though reported bioconcentration factors differ greatly between species (Brown et al., 2007; Cuklev et al., 2011; Fick et al., 2010; Schwaiger et al., 2004). Transferred to freshwater crayfish, DCF would most likely accumulate in muscle and hepatopancreas tissue and therefore could show even more drastic effects over time. The toxicity of DCF is additionally dependent on pH. At lower pH the mortality increases (Alsop and Wilson, 2019). Nevertheless, lethal concentrations of DCF are multiple times higher than the highest monitored DCF concentration worldwide (Sousa et al., 2018). Therefore, indirect effects of DCF on fitness are more likely to have an impact on population dynamics.

66

3.2.5.2 Sublethal effects of Diclofenac

Mohd Zanuri et al. (2017) showed effects of DCF on sperm activity of important components of the marine benthos in concentrations lower than 0.1 μ g/L. In addition to the effects of DCF, mixtures with other chemicals introduced to surface waters can increase the negative effects of this analgesic (Gonzalez-Rey et al., 2014; Prokkola et al., 2015). Sublethal effects of DCF on freshwater crayfish were observed from concentrations of 0.16 mg/l and higher. These low effective concentrations support the statement made by Fent et al. (2006) that DCF seems to be the compound having the highest acute toxicity within the class of NSAIDs. Even though the weight of hatched crayfish did not decrease when exposed to DCF, the increased developmental time of the crayfish due to DCF exposure can have a negative effect on population dynamics. For natural populations, late hatching can have massive influences as later hatching leads to a later start of feeding and therefore slower growth of the respective cohort. These individuals have a lower survival potential due to lower feeding success and increased mortality through predation as shown for marine fish (Franke and Clemmesen, 2011). The sublethal effects described in this study are only one example of the expectable effects of DCF. For example, Gonzalez-Rey and Bebianno (2014) showed that concentrations as low as 0.25 µg/L can lead to biomarker responses in muscles. These or other unknown effects could also be present in crayfish muscle tissue.

3.2.5.2.1 Histology

The hepatopancreas in decapods is the site of nutrient absorption, digestion, synthesis and secretion of digestive enzymes and reserve storage (Calvo et al., 2011; Johnston et al., 1998; Xiao et al., 2014). For this reason, the tissue is used for monitoring the health of crayfish and can indicate diseases and exposure to harmful substances (Velisek et al., 2017; Xiao et al., 2014). Changes in B-cells indicate a higher or lower outtake of harmful substances. The observed changes in B-cells can therefore be explained by a greater need to lead off the chemicals. The damaged membranes, on the other hand, can interrupt this mechanism. The overload of this system can therefore explain other sublethal and lethal effects of DCF on these animals. When the extrusion of harmful substances is disrupted due to hepatopancreatic damage, the harmful effects on development, growth and survival can occur unimpeded.

There are currently no data in literature describing the effects of DCF on the hepatopancreas of crayfish. Nevertheless, influences on the organ by human medications have been reported before: Wren and Gagnon (2013) showed membrane damage and size changes of cells in the hepatopancreas of *Orconectes virilis* exposed to platinum group metals commonly used for industrial and biomedical purposes at 5 mg/L after ten days. They also showed a high bioaccumulation in hepatopancreas tissue with 81.68 mg/g in a concentration of 1 mg/L platinum group metals. Marenkov et al. (2016) showed

67

influences of the drug Albuvir on the hepatopancreas and weight of marbled crayfish at 0.01 % solution. The results of the investigation of the hepatopancreas show the wide range of sublethal effects on freshwater crayfish and leads to the assumption that other effects are possible and should be investigated in future studies.

3.2.6 Conclusion

This study shows that marbled crayfish can be used as model organisms for investigations concerning the effects of DCF on noble crayfish. Furthermore, we were able to show that the non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug has a negative influence on the embryos of freshwater crayfish. Though the reported effective concentrations are unlikely to be found in surface waters, the mixture of DCF with other introduced chemicals might reduce the effective doses of the pharmaceutical. Additionally, the source of DCF is continuous due to sewage treatment plants, so that the exposure time is endless. Therefore, effects on population dynamics are possible and should be investigated in the future.

3.2.7 Acknowledgments

Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel provided logistical support for experimental and laboratory analyses. We would like to thank Helmut Jeske from Oeversee for supplying the noble crayfish, Frank Lenich for supplying the marbled crayfish and Glenn Green, who improved the English. Additionally, we want to thank Marita Beese and Jessica Lichte for their work in collaboration with the central microscopy of the University Kiel.

3.2.8 Competing interests

The author(s) declare that they have no competing interests

3.2.9 Authors' contributions

JL and KL conceived and designed the experiments. JL performed the experiments. JL analysed the data. JL, KL and HB wrote the manuscript; all authors provided editorial advice.

3.2.10 References Effects of Diclofenac on the embryonic development of Freshwater Crayfish

- Abd El-Atti, M., Desouky, M.M.A., Mohamadien, A., Said, R.M., 2019. Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii*: Bioaccumulation, oxidative stress and histopathological biomarkers. The Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Research 45 (1), 11–18.
- Alsop, D., Wilson, J.Y., 2019. Waterborne pharmaceutical uptake and toxicity is modified by pH and dissolved organic carbon in zebrafish. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 210, 11–18.
- Alwes, F., Scholtz, G., 2006. Stages and other aspects of the embryology of the parthenogenetic Marmorkrebs (Decapoda, Reptantia, Astacida). Development genes and evolution 216 (4), 169–184.
- Brown, J.N., Paxéus, N., Förlin, L., Larsson, D.J., 2007. Variations in bioconcentration of human pharmaceuticals from sewage effluents into fish blood plasma. Environmental toxicology and pharmacology 24 (3), 267–274.
- Buřič, M., Grabicová, K., Kubec, J., Kouba, A., Kuklina, I., Kozák, P., Grabic, R., Randák, T., 2018. Environmentally relevant concentrations of tramadol and citalopram alter behaviour of an aquatic invertebrate. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 200, 226–232.
- Calvo, N.S., Stumpf, L., Pietrokovsky, S., Greco, L.S.L., 2011. Early and late effects of feed restriction on survival, growth and hepatopancreas structure in juveniles of the red claw crayfish *Cherax quadricarinatus*. Aquaculture 319 (3-4), 355–362.
- Chucholl, C., Pfeiffer, M., 2010. First evidence for an established Marmorkrebs (Decapoda, Astacida, Cambaridae) population in Southwestern Germany, in syntopic occurrence with *Orconectes limosus* (Rafinesque, 1817). AI 5 (4), 405–412.
- Cuklev, F., Kristiansson, E., Fick, J., Asker, N., Förlin, L., Larsson, D.J., 2011. Diclofenac in fish: Blood plasma levels similar to human therapeutic levels affect global hepatic gene expression. Environ Toxicol Chem 30 (9), 2126–2134.
- Dietrich, S., Ploessl, F., Bracher, F., Laforsch, C., 2010. Single and combined toxicity of pharmaceuticals at environmentally relevant concentrations in *Daphnia magna*—a multigenerational study. Chemosphere 79 (1), 60–66.
- Du, J., Mei, C.-F., Ying, G.-G., Xu, M.-Y., 2016. Toxicity Thresholds for Diclofenac, Acetaminophen and Ibuprofen in the Water Flea *Daphnia magna*. Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology 97 (1), 84–90.
- Dusi Eike, Rybicki Marcus, Jungmann Dirk, 2019. The database "Pharmaceuticals in the Environment" - Update and new analysis, 06844 Dessau-Roßlau, 103 pp.

https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/1410/publikationen/2019-06-24_texte_67-2019_database_pharmaceuticals-environment_0.pdf. Accessed 10 December 2019.

- Fent, K., Weston, A.A., Caminada, D., 2006. Ecotoxicology of human pharmaceuticals. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 76 (2), 122–159.
- Fick, J., Lindberg, R.H., Parkkonen, J., Arvidsson, B., Tysklind, M., Larsson, D.G.J., 2010. Therapeutic levels of levonorgestrel detected in blood plasma of fish: Results from screening rainbow trout exposed to treated sewage effluents. Environmental science & technology 44 (7), 2661–2666.
- Franke, A., Clemmesen, C., 2011. Effect of ocean acidification on early life stages of Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus* L.). Biogeosciences 8 (12), 3697–3707.
- Gonzalez-Rey, M., Bebianno, M.J., 2014. Effects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) Diclofenac exposure in mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Aquatic Toxicology 148, 221–230.
- Gonzalez-Rey, M., Mattos, J.J., Piazza, C.E., Bainy, A.C.D., Bebianno, M.J., 2014. Effects of active pharmaceutical ingredients mixtures in mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Aquatic Toxicology 153, 12–26.
- Han, G.H., Hur, H.G., Kim, S.D., 2006. Ecotoxicological Risk of Pharmaceuticals From Wastewater Treatment Plants In Korea: Occurrence And Toxicity To *Daphnia Magna*. Environ Toxicol Chem 25 (1), 265.
- Hossain, M.S., Patoka, J., Kouba, A., Buřič, M., 2018. Clonal crayfish as biological model: A review on marbled crayfish. Biologia 73 (9), 841–855.
- Jackson, C., van Staaden, M., 2019. Characterization of locomotor response to psychostimulants in the parthenogenetic marbled crayfish (*Procambarus fallax forma virginalis*): A promising model for studying the neural and molecular mechanisms of drug addiction. Behavioural brain research 361, 131–138.
- Johnston, D.J., Alexander, C.G., Yellowlees, D., 1998. Epithelial Cytology and Function in the Digestive Gland of *Thenus Orientalis* (Decapoda: Scyllaridae). Journal of Crustacean Biology 18 (2), 271–278.
- Khan, S., Nugegoda, D., 2007. Sensitivity of juvenile freshwater crayfish *Cherax destructor* (Decapoda: Parastacidae) to trace metals. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 68 (3), 463–469.

Kozák, P., 2015. Crayfish biology and culture. University of South Bohemia, Česke Budějovice, 456 pp.

- Marenkov, O., Fedonenko, E., Naboka, A., 2016. Impact of Low-Molecule Acidic Peptides on Growth and Histological Structure of Inner Organs of Marbled Crayfish *Procambarus fallax* (Hagen, 1870) F. virginalis. ILNS 56, 1–6.
- Mohd Zanuri, N.B., Bentley, M.G., Caldwell, G.S., 2017. Assessing the impact of Diclofenac, ibuprofen and sildenafil citrate (Viagra [®]) on the fertilisation biology of broadcast spawning marine invertebrates. Marine environmental research 127, 126–136.
- Pérez, S., Rial, D., Beiras, R., 2015. Acute toxicity of selected organic pollutants to saltwater (mysid *Siriella armata*) and freshwater (cladoceran *Daphnia magna*) ecotoxicological models.
 Ecotoxicology (London, England) 24 (6), 1229–1238.

- Prokkola, J.M., Nikinmaa, M., Lubiana, P., Kanerva, M., McCairns, R.S., Götting, M., 2015. Hypoxia and the pharmaceutical Diclofenac influence the circadian responses of three-spined stickleback. Aquatic Toxicology 158, 116–124.
- Quinn, B., Schmidt, W., O'Rourke, K., Hernan, R., 2011. Effects of the pharmaceuticals gemfibrozil and Diclofenac on biomarker expression in the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) and their comparison with standardised toxicity tests. Chemosphere 84 (5), 657–663.
- R Core Team, 2015. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Ra, J.S., Oh, S.-Y., Lee, B.C., Kim, S.D., 2008. The effect of suspended particles coated by humic acid on the toxicity of pharmaceuticals, estrogens, and phenolic compounds. Environment international 34 (2), 184–192.
- Reiber, C.L., 1997. Ontogeny of Cardiac and Ventilatory Function in the Crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Am Zool 37 (1), 82–91.
- Rubach, M.N., Crum, S.J.H., van den Brink, P.J., 2011. Variability in the dynamics of mortality and immobility responses of freshwater arthropods exposed to chlorpyrifos. Archives of environmental contamination and toxicology 60 (4), 708–721.
- Sandeman, R., Sandeman, D., 1991. Stages in the development of the embryo of the fresh-water crayfish *Cherax destructor*. Roux's archives of developmental biology : the official organ of the EDBO 200 (1), 27–37.
- Sathishkumar, P., Meena, R.A.A., Palanisami, T., Ashokkumar, V., Palvannan, T., Gu, F.L., 2020. Occurrence, interactive effects and ecological risk of Diclofenac in environmental compartments and biota - a review. The Science of the total environment 698, 134057.
- Satoh, K., Tanabe, H., Ichiishi, E., Ando, K., 2015. Diagnosis and treatment of aspirin—and NSAIDinduced peptic ulcers. Nihon rinsho. Japanese journal of clinical medicine 73 (7), 1110–1115.
- Schmidt, W., O'Rourke, K., Hernan, R., Quinn, B., 2011. Effects of the pharmaceuticals gemfibrozil and Diclofenac on the marine mussel (*Mytilus* spp.) and their comparison with standardized toxicity tests. Marine pollution bulletin 62 (7), 1389–1395.
- Schwaiger, J., Ferling, H., Mallow, U., Wintermayr, H., Negele, R.D., 2004. Toxic effects of the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug Diclofenac. Part I: Histopathological alterations and bioaccumulation in rainbow trout. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 68 (2), 141–150.
- Seitz, R., Vilpoux, K., Hopp, U., Harzsch, S., Maier, G., 2005. Ontogeny of the Marmorkrebs (marbled crayfish): A parthenogenetic crayfish with unknown origin and phylogenetic position. J. Exp. Zool. 303A (5), 393–405.
- Skurdal, J., Taugbøl, T., 2002. Astacus, in: , Biology of Freshwater Crayfish, pp. 467–510.

- Sousa, J.C.G., Ribeiro, A.R., Barbosa, M.O., Pereira, M.F.R., Silva, A.M.T., 2018. A review on environmental monitoring of water organic pollutants identified by EU guidelines. Journal of Hazardous Materials 344, 146–162.
- Triebskorn, R., Casper, H., Heyd, A., Eikemper, R., Köhler, H.-R., Schwaiger, J., 2004. Toxic effects of the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug Diclofenac. Part II: Cytological effects in liver, kidney, gills and intestine of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 68 (2), 151–166.
- van den Brandhof, E.-J., Montforts, M., 2010. Fish embryo toxicity of carbamazepine, Diclofenac and metoprolol. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 73 (8), 1862–1866.
- Velisek, J., Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., 2017. Effects of three triazine metabolites and their mixture at environmentally relevant concentrations on early life stages of marbled crayfish (*Procambarus fallax f. virginalis*). Chemosphere 175, 440–445.
- Vogt, G., 2010. Suitability of the clonal marbled crayfish for biogerontological research: A review and perspective, with remarks on some further crustaceans. Biogerontology 11 (6), 643–669.
- Vogt, G., 2018. Annotated bibliography of the parthenogenetic marbled crayfish *Procambarus virginalis*, a new research model, potent invader and popular pet. Zootaxa 4418 (4), 301.
- Vogt, G., Tolley, L., 2004. Brood care in freshwater crayfish and relationship with the offspring's sensory deficiencies. Journal of morphology 262 (2), 566–582.
- Vogt, G., Tolley, L., Scholtz, G., 2004. Life stages and reproductive components of the Marmorkrebs (marbled crayfish), the first parthenogenetic decapod crustacean. Journal of morphology 261 (3), 286–311.
- Weinländer, M., Füreder, L., 2016. Native and alien crayfish species: Do their trophic roles differ? Freshwater Science 35 (4), 1340–1353.
- Wren, M., Gagnon, Z.E., 2013. A histopathological study of Hudson River crayfish, *Orconectes virilis*, exposed to platinum group metals. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A 49 (2), 135–145.
- Xiao, X., Han, D., Zhu, X., Yang, Y., Xie, S., Huang, Y., 2014. Effect of dietary cornstarch levels on growth performance, enzyme activity and hepatopancreas histology of juvenile red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard). Aquaculture 426-427, 112–119.
- Zhang, K., Yuan, G., Werdich, A.A., Zhao, Y., 2020. Ibuprofen and Diclofenac impair the cardiovascular development of zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) at low concentrations. Environmental Pollution 258, 113613.

4 Influences under outdoor conditions

Studies conducted under laboratory conditions can generate reproduceable results without the influence of uncalculatable factors. Therefore, the previously described manuscripts can show the exact influences of the two tested chemicals. Under outdoor conditions, water parameters and present chemicals are constantly changing so that these laboratory experiments cannot represent exact actual influences of the two chemicals. For this reason, we conducted a field study to determine the effects of chemical intrusion of a surface water stream.

4.1 Freshwater crayfish in field experiments: design and efficiency of three novel enclosures

To examine the influences of actual inputs under real conditions to embryonic freshwater crayfish, a suiting method for outdoor experimental setups had to be established. For this reason, a small study was conducted to test three different experimental enclosures and their practicability in field experiments. The study is described in the following manuscript. This manuscript is submitted to the "International Journal of Aquatic Research and Education".

The included version of the manuscript represents the state of preparation after full corrections and before approval of co-authors. Submission is planned for the journal: "Limnologica".

Freshwater crayfish in field experiments: design and efficiency of

three novel enclosures

Jan Laurenz¹, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201; Thekla Schultheiß¹; Prof. Dr. Heinz Brendelberger¹;

¹Christian-Albrechts-University, Zoological Institute, Limnology, Kiel Germany, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201

JL and TS conceived and designed the experiments. TS and JL performed the experiments. TS and JL analysed the data. JL, TS and HB wrote the manuscript; all authors provided editorial advice.

Short title: Enclosures for freshwater crayfish

Keywords: noble crayfish, juveniles, embryonic, enclosures

4.1.1 Abstract

Increasing anthropogenic influences on ecosystems such as aquatic habitats have severe consequences. Not only are they reducing aquatic biodiversity but thereby also degrading the ecosystem services we depend on. In this context, keystone species are of particular importance for the function of freshwater ecosystems. To assess the effects of pollutants and other man-made disruptions on keystone species such as freshwater crayfish, outdoor experimental setups are essential. One option is the use of enclosures to place crayfish in outdoor surface waters in order to monitor the activity and performance of the animals at any given time. However, not every type of enclosure is suitable for keeping crayfish in their natural habitat, in particular egg-carrying crayfish, without impacting on the embryogenesis and the physical integrity of adults and juveniles. Therefore, we have developed three new enclosure designs and compared their efficiency with two control groups in order to find the most suitable construction with the least impact on the experimental organisms and their offspring. In this study, we compared the performance of female noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) and their embryos in three different outdoor enclosures exposed in a pond and, for comparison, in a cycle aquaculture system and a hatchery. The study showed that animals in a floating construction made of wood and wire fence with a mesh size of 8 mm have a survival rate and development time of the crayfish embryos comparable to animals under optimum conditions.

4.1.2 Introduction

Interactions between stressors, water quality, flow velocity, habitat structure and many more factors can have a high impact on research results. In their review, Calisi and Bentley (2009) highlighted the general need for field experiments in addition to laboratory experiments, as the data from the laboratory experiments often differ from or even contradict the findings in natural complex biological systems. To estimate the effects of individual stressors in the context of environmental influences it is necessary to transfer predictions from laboratory environments to outdoor experiments. The observed effects can range from behaviour, feeding, levels of food chain and pathogenic load to environmental changes. The usage of enclosures is an established method to create controllable conditions for in situ studies concerning aquatic animals (Marchetti Maroneze et al., 2020; Nichols et al., 2019; Yin et al., 2017). However, data quality is dependent on the suitability of the experimental design. Therefore, the used methods have to be evaluated.

Especially *in situ* experiments of freshwater crayfish are of great interest due to the major influence of these animals on their habitat. Because of their omnivorous diet they have an impact on every trophic level, and as the biggest invertebrates of freshwater habitats they affect the overall benthos structure (Kettunen, M. & ten Brink P., 2006; Nyström, P.,2002). For that reason, freshwater crayfish reached the status of keystone species (Skurdal, J. and Taugbøl, T., 2002). Local or functional extinction as well as a decrease of populations of keystone species, to the point that they no longer contribute to ecosystem processes, can have dramatic impacts on ecosystem services (Kettunen, M. & ten Brink P., 2006).

Stress factors of limnic habitats are especially dangerous during the reproduction period of crayfish and their embryonic development. This is due to the naturally higher sensitivity of embryonic and juvenile organisms (Khan and Nugegoda, 2007) and the reproduction strategy of crayfish. As these animals carry their eggs under their abdomen (pleon) for months, the embryos are directly exposed to external stressors.

Influences of environmental chemicals on freshwater crayfish are increasingly becoming the focus of laboratory experiments (Buřič et al., 2018; Sohn et al., 2018; Stara et al., 2018). Yet very little is known regarding the influences in their natural habitat or even embryonic development. To obtain significant and independent results from field experiments involving the use of any form of artificial enclosure, it is relevant to estimate the impacts of the enclosure itself on the organism.

To observe effects of stressors on crayfish and the early life stages of their offspring in contaminated waters, we designed three different outdoor enclosures. Ideal enclosures should minimize stress for the study animals, but maximize interaction with the environment and must also be easy to handle for

the observer. The designs were based on existing enclosures used in other studies involving freshwater crayfish, all of which used small mesh sizes and were placed in benthic regions of water bodies. (Albertson and Daniels, 2018; Chucholl, 2013; Jussila et al., 2011; Mueller and Bodensteiner, 2011). Jussila et al. (2011) used a wooden construction to investigate latent crayfish plague (*Aphanomyces astaci*) infection in a robust wild noble crayfish population. The exact structure of these enclosures however, has not previously been described, so that the study at hand will provide first evaluated and detailed designs for future studies. Requirements for the designs used in this study were the possibility of constant water exchange and an active interchange with the environment. These characteristics made the designs suitable for experiments studying environmental parameters such as oxygen, nitrogen and other water parameter. and the impact of pollutants or pathogens on the survival, growth and development of crayfish during embryonic development in particular.

This research was conducted in order to develop an enclosure method with which the effect of the selected parameters can be estimated, while facilitating the handling and minimizing the stress exposure on the animals.

4.1.3 Material and Methods

4.1.3.1 Study animals

We used noble crayfish females obtained from "Krebszucht Oeversee, Germany" and originated from Langensee in Schleswig-Holstein, Germany. All study specimens were age- two, had a carapace length between 38 and 47 mm and were gravid. To monitor egg development and the overall physical condition of females before the start of the experiment, the animals were kept in a recirculating aquaculture system (RAS) at the university of Kiel for 14 days under optimized conditions according to Bohl (1989).

4.1.3.2 Enclosure designs

The three enclosure designs (Figure 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3) we developed were designed on the basis of information from existing investigations. From these studies, we derived mesh size, size per animals and the overall construction methods. The final structure and materials were then complemented.

Type A was fabricated after the model of Jussila et al. (2011). It was made of 1.8 cm strong *Paulownia* wood, which is water resistant and has a low density. This results in a floating enclosure. The sides are covered with wire fence of 8 mm mesh size and the top cover is hinged. The construction of this enclosure type took about three hours each.

Type B is the simplest design of the three and is similar to the design Mueller and Bodensteiner (2011) used. It is made of 8 mm mesh size wire fence and cable ties. The build time took about 15 minutes each. This type is placed on the bottom of the lake.

Type C is a modified version of the enclosures used in the study of Chucholl (2013). It is made of a wooden frame which is covered with nylon gauze with a 1.5 mm mesh size. The top cover mesh is removable thanks to a clip system. Construction took about 35 minutes each. This type is also placed on the bottom of the lake. All types were equipped with clay pipes for shelter which also functioned as weights to keep the enclosure in place in the pond. Additionally, the enclosures can be fixed in place using weights. All materials were obtained in a local hardware store.



Figure 4.1: Enclosure type A: 60 x 25 x 25 cm (L x W x H), wooden top and bottom (Paulownia wood, 1.8 cm thickness), hinged top cover, sides covered with wire fence (8 mm mesh size), 2 clay pipes placed inside, construction balanced with weights to float just below the water surface.



Figure 4.3: Enclosure type B: 70 cm side length and 22 cm diameter, tubular enclosure made of wire fence (8 mm mesh size), 2 clay pipes placed inside, construction placed at a depth of 1.30 m.



Figure 4.2: Enclosure type C: 60 x 25 x 25 cm (L x W x H), wooden framework, sides covered with gauze (1.5 mm mesh size), removable top cover by means of built-in clip system, 2 clay pipes placed inside, construction placed at a depth of 1.30 m.

females

4.1.3.3 Experimental Design

In the field test, we compared five treatment groups, each with six adult egg-carrying *Astacus astacus* (*Table 4.1*). The initial embryonic stage in all groups was observed at approximately 40 % embryonic development (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006; Sandeman and Sandeman, 1991). Starting from the end of April, the three groups (A, B, C) were kept outdoors in a semi-intensive aquaculture pond system in the Oeversee Crayfish Farm in the different enclosures, one animal per enclosure (Figure 4.1). One group (D) was kept in a CAS in a single 610 litre tank, with similar environmental parameters but under controlled conditions. These six females were fed with *Chironomidae* larvae, stonewort and peas *ad libitum*. For another trial group (E), we transferred the eggs, stripped from female crayfish, to a hatchery to eliminate the maternal influences. This hatchery, with a total volume of 150 litres, was equipped with a degassing unit, UV-clarifier, aeration system and a motor providing movement of the eggs. The CAS and hatchery groups served as controls.

Treatment	Site	Materials	Purpose	Number Crayfish
			·	
А	Crayfish farm	Enclosure out of	Experimental	6 egg-carrying
		wood and wire	treatment	females
В	Crayfish farm	Enclosure out of	Experimental	6 egg-carrying
		wire	treatment	females
С	Crayfish farm	Enclosure out of	Experimental	6 egg-carrying
		wood and gauze	treatment	females
D	Laboratory	CAS	control	6 egg-carrying
_				females
É	Laboratory	Hatchery	control	6 egg-carrying

Table 4.1 Summary of treatments and their parameters

Overall, six enclosures per type and 18 in total were used. To establish the best method that provides ideal conditions to keep the animals in outdoor experiments, we compared the embryonic development rate, the weight of hatched crayfish and the survival of hatchlings. To track the development, 2–3 eggs per individual and week were collected and the developmental stage was assessed according to (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006) and converted into percentages of embryonic development. The survival rate of the embryos was calculated by counting the number of eggs carried per animal at the start of the experiment and the number of resulting hatchlings at the end. Eggs

attached to animals were counted twice directly on the animals. This had to be done fast but also the number of the two counting should not differ. Otherwise a third counting would have to be made. This however did only happen twice. One time for the control and one time for enclosure C. Separated eggs are not capable of surviving due to the lack of movement and the resulting oxygen deficit. The study was terminated when all embryos hatched. The weight of 12 randomly selected juveniles per adult was measured immediately after hatching in all treatment groups was completed. To avoid any influence of the exact location in the pond on the results, we chose six evenly spread locations, which were each stocked with each type of enclosure. Continuous data loggers for temperature and light (HOBO Pendant temp/light (Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, USA)) were installed at each of the six locations and one oxygen logger (HOBO Dissolved Oxygen Logger (Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, USA)) was installed in the centre of the locations. The temperature and light regime in the control groups in the hatchery and the CAS was adjusted to that given in the outdoor experiment. Oxygen in the controls and pH in all treatment groups were measured with multi-parameter probes (WTW Oxi 3310 and WTW pH 3310, Xylem Analytics Germany Sales GmbH & Co. KG, WTW Weilheim, Germany) and nitrite, nitrate and ammonium concentration with a photometer (DR 5000 Hach Lange GmbH, Düsseldorf Germany). All parameters were measured once a week.

4.1.3.4 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SigmaPlot 13 (Systat Software, Inc., San Jose, USA). Data on survival, temperature, embryonic development and weight were tested for normality and equal variances prior to analysis via the Levene and Shapiro-Wilk test. If both were given, a one-way ANOVA was performed for weight and temperature. For non-parametric data, a Kruskal-Wallis test was used. The embryonic development was analysed via linear regressions. Due to good correlation values ($R^2 > 0.9$) the linear regressions were compared with an ANCOVA (Analysis of covariances). The correlation of embryo survival and maternal carapace size was tested with Spearman Rank Order Correlation.

4.1.3.5 Authorization

The official authorization for this study with live animals was obtained by the "Ministerium für Energiewende, Landwirtschaft, Umwelt, Natur und Digitalisierung Schleswig-Holsteins" (MELUND).

4.1.4 Results

4.1.4.1 Adult animals

Hatching time took from 33 days (group E) to 36 Days (group C). Within the experiment, five out of thirty adult crayfish died in their treatments. Three of them were held in enclosure type B and two were held in the CAS as control group. This leads to a total mortality of 50 % for group B and 33.33 %

79

for group D. Additionally, one female from group A and one from group C escaped during the experiment due to material failures. Six of these seven eliminated females died or escaped within the first five days, so we replaced them immediately.

4.1.4.2 Embryonic Development

The embryos' survival rates in all treatments were above 50 %. The different treatments do not show any significant differences, but very large standard deviations of up to 28.8 % (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4: Survival rates of A. astacus embryos in different enclosures (A, B, C) and control groups (D = CAS, E = hatchery); mean $\pm SD$

To verify that the observed differences in the embryonic survival rates can be treated irrespectively of the body size of the maternal crayfish we tested the maternal body size and the survival rate of the related embryos for correlation. No significant correlation (p = 0.888, adjusted $R^2 = -0.03496$) was found, thus, it was assumed that the survival rate is mainly affected by different treatments.

At the start of the experiment, all embryos were at a developmental stage of 40 % and were observed for five weeks of their development until hatching. The fastest development took 33 days (hatchery) and the slowest 36 days (enclosure type C). During this time, the crayfish embryos diverged in their pace of development. Linear regression analysis of embryonic development (Figure 4.5) showed a significantly faster development of embryos in enclosure type A compared to the other enclosures (p < 0.05), but not to the control group in the hatchery (E) (p = 0.633).



Figure 4.5: Comparison of embryonic development [%] in the different enclosures (A, B, C) and the control groups (D, E).

The treatment group in enclosure A showed similar degree days to the control groups (group D and E), whereas the enclosure group C showed significantly higher degree days than both control groups (p < 0.007) and group B had significantly higher degree days than control D (p = 0.019). Comparing only the enclosure treatments, group C had significantly higher degree days than A (p = 0.013)(Table 4.1).

Group	А	В	С	D	E
temperature (± SD)	19.23 (± 3.73)	18.94 (± 3.60)	19.14	17.91 (± 3.08)	19.71 (± 1.70)
			(± 3.63)		
development days (±	34.00 (± 1.31)	35.50 (± 1.04)	36.00 (± 0.0)	35.67 (± 0.44)	33.00 (± 0.0)
SD)					
degree days (± SD)	653 (± 27.24)	672 (± 21.18)	689 (± 0)	638 (± 8.44)	650 (± 0)
n (hatched juveniles)	460	453	420	547	373

Table 4.1: Indication of the average water temperature, mean development days and degree days of embryos in enclosure A (A), enclosure B (B), enclosure C (C), the CAS (D) and the hatchery (E), n = 6 per treatment

The median weights of hatched crayfish varied from 22.1 mg \pm SD 3.2 in enclosure C to 24.4 mg \pm 0.19 in the hatchery (E) (Figure 4.6). The statistical analysis confirmed a higher weight of the hatchery control (E) than all other groups except for group A (p = < 0.001). Juveniles in enclosure A in turn showed a significantly higher weight than individuals in enclosure C (p = 0.017).



Figure 4.6: Comparison of treatment groups in boxplots, indicating the weights [mg] of the A. astacus juveniles after first moult. The lines in the boxes indicate median values, the lines above and below the boxes indicate standard deviations, and dots represent outliers.

4.1.5 Discussion

We detected that, of the three compared enclosures, a floating enclosure with a wide mesh size produces good results in terms of the embryo's survival, development and weight gain. Literature shows that enclosures in past studies were often quite varied in their measurements, mesh size and crayfish biomass content (Albertson and Daniels, 2018; Chucholl, 2013; Jussila et al., 2011; Mueller and Bodensteiner, 2011)

Fifty percent of the adult animals placed in enclosure B died within the first week of the experiment and had to be replaced. Even though no statistical test was performed, as the number of animals was too low, it leads to the assumption that enclosure design B might increase the stress level in the maternal animals, therefore resulting in a higher maternal mortality rate and consequently in fewer juveniles.

(Cukerzis et al., 1979) stated that one *A. astacus* female can produce 10–15 young crayfish under natural conditions, while a breeding experiment obtained 40 juveniles per female. Later (Pursiainen et al., 1983) reported a mean output of 60–80 stage 2 juveniles per noble crayfish female

in culture and (Mackeviciené et al., 1997) obtained mean offspring numbers of 22.4 to 70. In this study, one female produced an average of 66.55 stage 2 juveniles (A: 71.16; B: 75.50; C: 53.00) and 70.19 in the control groups (D: 78; E: 62). Therefore, this study's data provided very convincing results, as the reproduction of the tested animals was similar described in previous studies (Kozák et al., 2007; Policar et al., 2006).

The pace of embryonic development between the experimental groups started to differ eight days into the experiment, which corresponded with the time when the outdoor water temperature started rising. The speed of the embryonic development was fastest in enclosure A. According to (Westin and Gydemo, 1986) a sufficient increase of the water temperature can even reduce the developmental time in *A. Astacus* by half. This suggests that one reason for the faster development was the overall higher temperature in the floating design A. Nevertheless, the degree days in this enclosure type were the lowest, which leads to the assumption that the temperature is not the only reason for faster development. Most likely, it is a combination of the higher temperature and better flow conditions, which enhance the supply of oxygen and nutrients. Hypoxia can cause problems especially in the later embryonic stages (Reiber, 1997).

The overall weights of the hatched juveniles are comparable to the literature data as (Kanta, 2007) showed, with weights of 0.018 to 0.025 g. The measured higher weights of the juveniles in the hatchery control group and in enclosure A are based on the faster embryonic development in these groups. The earlier hatching results in more energy from the egg yolk being left and not being used up for cellular respiration and therefore can be used for biomass production (Pandian, 1970)(Policar et al., 2004).

4.1.5.1 Enclosure quality and handling

Type A

The design of these enclosures supported the attempt to expose the crayfish to as little stress as possible and the best development conditions in terms of temperature and water circulation. The large lid and floating construction allowed us to take samples directly in the water and made the work fast and precise. The wire fence stayed permeable over the whole experiment. It is indispensable to use water-resistant glue for the wooden panels to ensure durability.

Туре В

This design was more durable than the first one, but treatment and sampling were more complicated. The enclosure's openings on the long side made it difficult to reach the animals and had to be reclosed with zip-ties every time after sampling. This resulted in a longer handling time and therefore led to more stress for the maternal crayfish.

83

Type C

The design of enclosure type C was as easy to use as type A. The weak point of this design was the small mesh size of the gauze, which already overgrew with algae in the first week of use. This led to an accumulation of sludge inside the enclosure. In addition, the gauze of one enclosure tore apart during the experiment resulting in the escape of one animal.

Not only the applied measurable parameters indicate the advantage of enclosure type A, but its quality and handling also proved to be the best of the three tested designs. The large hinged cover and the option of not having to lift the enclosure out of the water for sampling reduced the handling time and made it less stressful for animals and handlers. The large mesh size prevented the enclosure from clogging with algae. In contrast, enclosure B was harder to handle because of the cover on the long side and design C was clogged with algae within one week as well as its gauze being quite prone to damage. Furthermore, the disadvantage of enclosure A's non-water-resistant glued wood panels can be easily resolved by using solid wood panels. The main aim of the enclosures devised in this study is their suitability for experiments with adult and embryonic crayfish without substantial adverse effects from the accommodation itself. This research tool enables the gathering of data that are even more reliable against the background of predictable influences from the enclosure method.

Almost every significant aspect considered in this experiment shows that enclosure A is the most suitable design type for outdoor experiments (Tab. 4.2) due to the floating design and therefore higher temperatures and better flow regime for the animals. Therefore, it can be recommended for use in future experimental setups.

Compared		Survival	rate	Embryonic		Degree
treatments	Temperature	embryos		development	Weight	days
A vs. B	A = higher	/		A = faster	/	/
A vs. C	/	/		A = faster	A = heavier	A = lower
A vs. D	A = higher	/		A = faster	/	/
A vs. E	A = higher	/		/	/	/

Table 4.2: Summary o	f all statisticall	y significant	differences	found between	treatments in	this study	p ≤ 0.05
			·			/	P

- 4.1.6 References Freshwater crayfish in field experiments: design and efficiency of three novel enclosures
- Albertson, L.K., Daniels, M.D., 2018. Crayfish ecosystem engineering effects on riverbed disturbance and topography are mediated by size and behavior. Freshwater Science 37 (4), 836–844.
- Alwes, F., Scholtz, G., 2006. Stages and other aspects of the embryology of the parthenogenetic Marmorkrebs (Decapoda, Reptantia, Astacida). Dev Genes Evol 216 (4), 169–184.
- Bohl, E., 1989. Ökologische Untersuchungen an ausgewählten Gewässern zur Entwicklung von Zielvorstellungen des Gewässerschutzes: Untersuchungen an Flusskrebsbeständen (Kurzfassung), 2nd ed. Bayerische Landesanstalt für Wasserforschung, Wielenbach.
- Buřič, M., Grabicová, K., Kubec, J., Kouba, A., Kuklina, I., Kozák, P., Grabic, R., Randák, T., 2018.
 Environmentally relevant concentrations of tramadol and citalopram alter behaviour of an aquatic invertebrate. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 200, 226–232.
- Calisi, R.M., Bentley, G.E., 2009. Lab and field experiments: Are they the same animal? Hormones and behavior 56 (1), 1–10.
- Chucholl, C., 2013. Feeding ecology and ecological impact of an alien 'warm-water' omnivore in cold lakes. Limnologica 43 (4), 219–229.
- Cukerzis, J.M., Sheshtokas, J., Terentyev, A.L., 1979. Method for accelerated artificial breeding of crayfish juveniles. Freshwater Crayfish (4), 451–458.
- Jussila, J., Makkonen, J., Vainikka, A., Kortet, R., Kokko, H., 2011. Latent crayfish plague (*Aphanomyces astaci*) infection in a robust wild noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus*) population. Aquaculture 321 (1-2), 17–20.
- Kanta, J., 2007. Comparison of postembryonic development of native and non-native crayfish species:M.Sc. thesis. University of South Bohemia, Czech Republic, 104 pp.
- Kettunen, M. & ten Brink P., 2006. Value of biodiversity: Documenting EU examples where biodiversity loss has led to the loss of ecosystem services. Final report for the European Commission. Institute for European Environmental Policy, Brussels, Belgium, 131 pp.
- Khan, S., Nugegoda, D., 2007. Sensitivity of juvenile freshwater crayfish *Cherax destructor* (Decapoda: Parastacidae) to trace metals. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 68 (3), 463–469.
- Kozák, P., Buřič, M., Policar, T., Hamáčková, J., Lepičová, A., 2007. The effect of inter- and intra-specific competition on survival and growth rate of native juvenile noble crayfish *Astacus astacus* and alien spiny-cheek crayfish *Orconectes limosus*. Hydrobiologia 590 (1), 85–94.
- Mackeviciené, G., Mickeniene, L., Burba, A., Korieva G., 1997. Aquaculture of the noble crayfish *Astacus astacus* L. in Lithuania. Freshwater Crayfish (11), 599–607.

- Marchetti Maroneze, D., Guimarães Florencio Pujoni, D., Arcifa, M.S., Maia-Barbosa, P.M., 2020. Can chaoborid larvae control their zooplanktonic prey populations in a neotropical lake? Austral Ecology 41, 153.
- Mueller, K.W., Bodensteiner, L.R., 2011. Shelter Occupancy by Mixed-Species Pairs of Native Signal Crayfish and Non-Native Red Swamp Crayfish Held in Enclosures. Journal of Freshwater Ecology 24 (1), 67–76.
- Nichols, O.C., Groglio, K., Eldredge, E., 2019. In situ Monitoring of Longfin Inshore Squid Egg Deposition and Embryonic Development. Journal of Shellfish Research 38 (2), 371.
- Nyström, P.,2002. Ecology, in: , Biology of Freshwater Crayfish, pp. 192–235.
- Pandian, T.J., 1970. Yolk utilization and hatching time in the Canadian lobster *Homarus americanus*. Marine Biology 7 (3), 249–254.
- Policar, T., Kozák, P., Martín, J., 2006. Effects of egg bath and daily removal of dead eggs on hatching success and production of stage 2 juveniles during artificial incubation in noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus* L.). Bull. Fr. Pêche Piscic. (380-381), 1197–1206.
- Policar, T., Simon, V., Kozak, P., 2004. Egg incubation in the noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus* L.): The effect of controlled laboratory and outdoor ambient condition on hatching success, growth and survival rate of juveniles. Bull. Fr. Pêche Piscic. (372-373), 411–423.
- Pursiainen, M., Järvenpää, T., Westman K., 1983. A comparative study on the production of crayfish (*Astacus astacus* L.) juveniles in natural food ponds and by feeding in plastic basins. Freshwater Crayfish (5), 392–402.
- Reiber, C.L., 1997. Ontogeny of Cardiac and Ventilatory Function in the Crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Am Zool 37 (1), 82–91.
- Sandeman, R., Sandeman, D., 1991. Stages in the development of the embryo of the fresh-water crayfish *Cherax destructor*. Roux's archives of developmental biology : the official organ of the EDBO 200 (1), 27–37.
- Skurdal, J., Taugbøl, T., 2002. Astacus, in: , Biology of Freshwater Crayfish, pp. 467–510.
- Sohn, L., Brodie, R.J., Couldwell, G., Demmons, E., Sturve, J., 2018. Exposure to a nicotinoid pesticide reduces defensive behaviors in a non-target organism, the rusty crayfish *Orconectes rusticus*. Ecotoxicology (London, England) 27 (7), 900–907.
- Stara, A., Kouba, A., Velisek, J., 2018. Biochemical and histological effects of sub-chronic exposure to atrazine in crayfish *Cherax destructor*. Chemico-biological interactions 291, 95–102.
- Westin, L., Gydemo, R., 1986. Influence of light and temperature on reproduction and moulting frequency of the crayfish, *Astacus astacus* L. Aquaculture 52 (1), 43–50.

Yin, C., Guo, L., Yi, C., Luo, C., Ni, L., 2017. Physicochemical Process, Crustacean, and Microcystis Biomass Changes In Situ Enclosure after Introduction of Silver Carp at Meiliang Bay, Lake Taihu. Scientifica 2017, 9643234.

4.2 Sewage treatment plants affect embryonic development of *Astacus astacus* (Linnaeus 1758)

After the successful development of the experimental setup, the actual study to observe effects of chemicals introduced to surface waters was conducted. Here, sewage treatment plants can serve as a good example of a selective entry of chemicals. They contain substances from various origins like pharmaceuticals, plant protection products or industrial waste like heavy metals. The following manuscript shows the effects of wastewater, originating from a sewage treatment plant, on noble crayfish embryos under realistic outdoor conditions as an example of effects caused by human wastewater introductions into the habitat of the animals.

The included version of the manuscript represents the state of preparation prior to full corrections and approval of co-authors. Submission is planned for the journal: "Ecotoxicology".

Sewage treatment plants affect embryonic development of *Astacus astacus* (Linnaeus 1758)

Jan Laurenz¹, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201; Prof. Dr. Heinz Brendelberger¹; Kai Lehmann¹, ORCID: 0000-0002-1302-9529;

¹Christian-Albrechts-University, Zoological Institute, Limnology, Kiel Germany, ORCID: 0000-0003-1263-6201

JL and KL conceived and designed the experiments. JL performed the experiments. JL analysed the data. JL, KL and HB wrote the manuscript; all authors provided editorial advice.

Short title: Sewage treatment plants for freshwater crayfish

Keywords: noble crayfish, juveniles, embryonic, enclosures, sewage treatment plants

4.2.1 Abstract

Pharmaceutics and agriculturally used chemicals are suspected and partially proven to have negative effects on aquatic organisms. Many of these compounds are not removed completely in sewage treatment plants. The effects on organisms or populations in the influenced areas are widely unknown. To address this problem, we conducted an in vitro experiment by exposing female egg-carrying crayfish to a river section of the Eider with influence of a sewage treatment plant. We monitored the effects of the wastewater residues in four groups with different distances to the entry. The results show that the composition of at least 26 chemicals, including high concentrations of Carbamazepin, Diclofenac and Glyphosate, have an influence on embryonic survival and hatching weight of the animals. The effective dose of the mixture is, therefore, lower than effects known by single compound investigations. Therefore, the results of this study demonstrate the need of an optimisation of sewage treatment plants to protect the endangered species *Astacus astacus* and, therefore, the impacts of different pollution intensities on freshwater crayfish populations and, thus, on the whole ecosystem.

4.2.2 Introduction

In recent years, there has been growing concern about the release of organic compounds of anthropogenic origin, known as emerging organic contaminants, to the environment. These contaminants include a diverse group of thousands of chemical compounds, such as pharmaceuticals and personal care products, pesticides, hormones, surfactants, flame retardants, plasticizers and industrial additives, among others (García et al., 2020). A majority of the substances is designed to have effects on biological structures and is, therefore, active in their environment for a relative long period. As studies have shown, conventional sewage treatment plants (STPs) are inefficient in the removal of many biological active compounds (Bouju et al., 2016; Cacace et al., 2019; Corno et al., 2019; Manaia et al., 2018).

In most toxicological studies, only one single potentially harmful substance or a mixture of only few chemicals is investigated. It is almost impossible to artificially produce actually occurring mixtures of substances observed in surface waters under laboratory conditions. This is especially crucial as mixtures of contaminants of emerging concern may lead to more bioaccumulation and stronger effects than expected from only a single contaminant (Ding et al., 2016). Therefore, the only possibility to respond to this problem, is to investigate effects under outdoor conditions in areas influenced by STP and to carry out studies in the actual influenced habitats.

The greatest relevance on the habitat are effects on organisms with a high influence on their habitat. The absence or presence of some animals influences several trophic levels and their structural

89

environment. One example for these "keystone species" or "ecosystem engineers" are freshwater crayfish due to their omnivorous diet and their building of hollows in their structural environment (Weinländer and Füreder, 2016). At the same time, freshwater crayfish are known to be sensitive towards water pollution (Haddaway et al., 2015; Kocour Kroupová et al., 2018). Early live stages, like embryonic development, are even more sensitive to external influences (Khan and Nugegoda, 2007). However, the reproduction strategy of most crayfish species leads to a potentially long exposure time of embryos to potentially harmful substances. Female noble crayfish, for example, carry their eggs outside their body under their abdomen for a period up to nine months (Ackerfors, 1999). This relatively long timespan may lead to a high impact of pollutants on these early developmental stages. Hence, the investigation of influences of pollutants on these live stages are key to understanding the influences of STP on, for example, crayfish populations.

To this end, we exposed egg-carrying female noble crayfish in a river to surface waters with different concentrations of chemicals, originating from an STP. This procedure was intended to answer the following questions:

- i.: Do chemicals that origin from STPs affect the survival of noble crayfish embryos?
- ii.: Is the embryonic development of noble crayfish influenced by these chemicals, and
- iii.: if yes, which concentrations show measurable effects?

Due to dilution within a relatively short distance, the chosen study site can represent different types of chemically loaded surface waters and still be comparable to other environmental parameters. This is important to estimate influences of different intensities of pollution on freshwater crayfish reproduction under realistic conditions.

4.2.3 Material and methods

4.2.3.1 Study site

The study was conducted in the federal state of Schleswig-Holstein, Germany, in the Eider. This river lays in a valley with a catchment area of 135 km² upstream from the study site. During the last 150 years, the upper Eider river has strongly been influenced by human activities, such as river regulation, drainage, mowing of macrophytes each summer and mowing and/or grazing of the adjacent fen grasslands (Vogt et al., 2007). In the direct study area (54°15'06.5"N 10°03'57.9"E) an influx of the local STP is present (Figure 4.7). This gave us the opportunity to compare embryos exposed to water contaminated with the output of this plant with embryos placed upstream and, therefore, without the influences of this plant. In this area, the river is approximately 7 m broad and between 0.8 and 1.5 m deep. The direct surrounding is dominated by pasture land. Effects of STP in this area can be especially relevant because of an autochthone genetic structure of noble crayfish found in this study site revealed by (Schrimpf et al., 2014). Therefore, a loss of this population could lead to a loss of this special genetic structure.



Figure 4.7: Overview of the study area. Map extracted from OpenStreetMap Deutschland (2020).

4.2.3.2 Experimental design

To investigate influences of STP on the embryonic development and survival of freshwater crayfish, we exposed four groups (A-D) of ten egg-carrying noble crayfish to different locations with different chemical loads in the study site area. Group A was exposed to the area at a radius of 3 m meters around the inlet of the treatment plant. Group B was placed at a distance of 10 m and group C at a distance of 15 m. Group D served as control group and was exposed in an area of 10 m upstream of the inlet to exclude influences of the chemical residues (Figure 4.8).





Figure 4.8: Sketch (left) and overview (right) of the study site (OpenStreetMap Deutschland, 2020).

The animals were held in enclosures, whose suitability was evaluated in a former study (Laurenz et al., chapter 5.1, Figure 4.9), with two animals separated in one enclosure so that five enclosures each were exposed to the different concentrations.



Figure 4.9: Construction of enclosures L/W/H = 60/25/25 cm; wooden top and bottom (Douglas fir, 2 cm thickness), hinged top cover, sides covered with wire fence (8 mm mesh size), two clay pipes placed inside, construction balanced with weights to float just underneath water surface.

The investigation started in late March 2020 at development stages of embryos of approximately 40 %. All adult females were measured and the numbers of eggs were counted twice on the animals to ensure corrects numbers. The counting of eggs was proceeded and documented for every pleopod, but had to be finished in less than 10 minutes to reduce stress for the animals and the impact of stress on embryos. Due to individual enclosing, the animals were recognizable over the whole study. Therefore, survival rate of embryos could be attributed to every single female.

The study area and the enclosures were inspected every day. Furthermore, once per week one egg per female was taken to document the development stages of embryos under a binocular microscope at 40 x magnification after the work of (Alwes and Scholtz, 2006). At the dates of hatching, successfully hatched juveniles were removed from adult females, counted and measured. Measurement was performed by photographing juvenile crayfish with a scale under a binocular (Leica DM1000 LED, Leica S8APO, Leica Application Suite Version 3.0.0, Leica Microsystems CMS GmbH, D-35578 Wetzlar, Germany) and calculating the length with GIMP (Version 2.10.20, Fa. The Gimp Team).

Six random juveniles per group were subsequently prepared for histological observations of the hepatopancreas. The whole animals were fixated in buffered formaldehyde (3.7 %). We stored the

juveniles in Kristensen solution for two days to ensure the complete decalcification of the exoskeleton. The samples were dehydrated with an ethanol series and then embedded in LR White (LR White acrylic resin, hard, sigma Aldrich, Germany). We produced sections of 2 µm thickness, using an ultramicrotome. These were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (HE) with extended exposure time, referring to usage instructions of the LR White. Animal sections and especially hepatopancreas cells were examined under a light microscope combined with the same camera system as described before. The examination included the observation of membrane damages, damages in different cell types as well as changes in size and numbers of B-Cells. For this procedure, ten sections per individual were photographed and subsequently analysed by counting and measuring cells under the microscope.

A crayfish hepatopancreas is typically formed of numerous tubules separated by connective tissues (Abd El-Atti et al., 2019) and consists of lumen, membranes and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive lipid cells (R-cell) for nutrient intake, blister-like secretory cells (B-cell) to derive harmful substances, fibrillar cells (F-cell) as connecting tissue and embryonic cells (E-cell). That means, changes in R-cells would indicate a higher or lower intake of nutrients, changes in B-cells would indicate a higher or lower intake of nutrients, changes in B-cells would indicate problems in biosynthesis of the individual.

4.2.3.3 Animals

The egg-carrying female noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus*) were obtained from a hatchery in Schleswig-Holstein (Krebszucht Oeversee, Germany). They were hatched and raised in a semi-intensive aquaculture system so that external influences were minimized. The animals were three years old and showed carapace lengths of 40.29 cm to 61.58 cm with an average of 52.14 ± 4.27 . They carried between 67 and 436 eggs, with an average of 166.6 ± 70.85 . The animals were gathered the day before the experiment started and were kept in 600 L tanks in the recirculating aquaculture system (RAS) of the limnological department of Kiel University.

4.2.3.4 Water parameters

To be able to draw conclusions of observed effects on human influences, a comprehensive data acquisition of nutrient content, biotic and abiotic parameters and substantial load is necessary. Therefore, we equipped enclosures of every group with loggers collecting data every 10 minutes for oxygen, temperature, light intensity and pH, whereas conductivity was measured every 15 minutes (HOBO, Oxigen:ONS-U26-001, temp. and lux: ONS-UA-022-64, pH: ONS-MX2501, conductivity: ONS-U24-002-C, Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, MA, USA). Three plant protection products and thirty-three pharmaceutical products were monitored at three time points during the experiment (first day, after 30 days and on the last day) by an external lab (AGROLAB, Agrar und Umwelt GmbH, Kiel,

Germany). Nitrate, nitrite, ammonium and acid binding capacity was also measured at the three time points with a photometer (DR 5000, Hach Lange GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany).

4.2.3.5 Statistical methods

All statistical analyses were performed using R version 3.2. (R Core Team, 2015). Differences in survival and juvenile size between different groups were tested for normality and equal variances prior to analysis. If both were evident, a t-Test was performed. For non-parametric data, a Wilcoxon test was used. The embryonic development was analysed via linear regressions. Due to good correlation values (> 0.8), the linear regressions were compared with an ANCOVA (analysis of covariances). Pictures were analysed in GIMP 2.8 (version 2.8, Fa. the Gimp Team). Influences of maternal size on survival, size of juveniles and number of laid eggs was also tested with correlation values of regressions.

4.2.4 Results

4.2.4.1 Water parameters

Environmental parameters of the four locations were very similar as described in Table 4.3. The only difference can be observed in the temperature of the locations. The average temperature of location A is 1 °C higher than of the other groups (Figure 4.10). This higher temperature is caused by the warm water of the brook emerging from the STP. The shallow depth of only up to 20 cm causes a rapid heating of the water. Due to the differences in mean temperature, parameters were not analyzed over time but over degree days. Thereby, influences caused by different temperatures could be excluded.

Parameter/group	A ± SD	B ± SD	C ± SD	D ± SD
Nitrite [mg/L]	0.17 ± 0.02	0.11 ± 0.03	0.13 ± 0.03	0.13 ± 0.01
Nitrate [mg/L]	4.43 ± 0.36	2.80 ± 0.21	3.25 ± 0.42	2.88 ± 0.18
Ammonium [mg/L]	0.55 ± 0.08	0.24 ± 0.29	0.24 ± 0.06	0.18 ± 0.02
Acid binding capacity	5.35 ± 0.07	5.17 ± 0.02	5.18 ± 0.06	5.15 ± 0.04
Conductivity	597.00 ± 203.52	401.00 ± 63.00	422.00 ± 62.20	441.00 ± 64.20
рН	7.79 ± 0.17	7.86 ± 0.26	7.55 ± 0.29	7.82 ± 0.34
Oxygen	7.53 ± 3.38	7.25 ± 2.78	8.38 ± 1.79	8.45 ± 1.48
Temperature	13.03 ± 2.67	12.10 ± 2.46	12.04 ± 2.46	12.00 ± 2.46

Table 4.3: Environmental parameters measured using photometer, titration or HOBO Logger.



Figure 4.10: Temperatures measured with HOBO loggers inside of enclosures group B, C and D are identical and, thus, only one line is visible.

4.2.4.2 Chemical load

The analysis of chemical loads in the study area showed that 25 of the 36 tested chemicals were detectable (Table 4.4). Most of these were traceable only in the direct area of the STP input. Highest concentrations were found for the pharmaceuticals Carbamazepin (antiepileptics), Diclofenac (analgetica), Metformin (biguanide), 4-Acetamidoantipyrin (metabolite of metamizole, analgetica), 4-Aminoantipyrin (derivate of Pyralozone, analgetica) and 4-Formylaminoantipyrin (metabolite of Aminophenazone, analgetica). For plant protection products, AMPA (metabolite of Glyphosate) and Glyphosate were detected in highest concentrations at the end of the experiment with 1.5 μ g/L AMPA and 5.8 μ g/L Glyphosate.

Detected chemical [µg/I] /group	Α	В	С	D
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	0.021 ± 0.021	-	-	-
Bezafibrat	0.117 ± 0.056	-	-	-
Carbamazepin	2.767 ± 0.249	<0.03 (+) ± 0	<0.03 (+) ± 0	<0.03 (+) ± 0
Diclofenac	2.767 ± 0.125	0.02 ± 0.02	0.02 ± 0.02	0.013 ± 0.019
Fenofibrat	<0.03 (+) ± 0	-	-	-
Fenofibrinsäure	<0.03 (+) ± 0	-	-	-
Ibuprofen	<0.30 (+) ± 0	-	-	-
Indometacin	<0.03 (+) ± 0	-	-	-
Ketoprofen	<0.05 (+) ± 0	-	-	-
Lidocain	0.17 ± 0.005	-	-	-
Metformin	1.443 ± 0.575	<0.05 (+) ± 0	0.045 ± 0.045	0.045 ± 0.045
Naproxen	0.18 ± 0.071	-	-	-
Paracetamol	0.034 ± 0.025	-	-	-
Phenazon	0.167 ± 0.119	-	-	-
Primidon	0.560 ± 0.399	-	-	-
Tris-2-Chlorethylphosphat	<0.50 ± 0.170	<0.10 ± 0	<0.10 ± 0	<0.10 ± 0
10-Hydroxy-10,11-				
dihydrocarbamazepin	0.80 ± 0.572	0.03 ± 0	0.015 ± 0.015	0.01 ± 0.014
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	1.50 ± 0.356	0.06 ± 0.02	0.075 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.016
4-Aminoantipyrin	1.397 ± 0.458	<0.03 (+) ± 0	0.04 ± 0	0.02 ± 0.02
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	<0.03 (+) ± 0	-	-	-
4-Formylaminoantipyrin	10.667 ± 0.943	0.23 ± 0.11	0.19 ± 0.155	0.163 ± 0.133
AMPA	0.91 ± 0.429	0.06 ± 0.02	0.055 ± 0.02	0.043 ± 0.019
Glyphosate	2.007 ± 2.682	<0.03 (+) ± 0	<0.03 (+) ± 0	<0.03 (+) ± 0
Terbuthylazine	<0.03 (+) ± 0	<0.03 (+) ± 0	<0.03 (+) ± 0	<0.03 (+) ± 0

Table 4.4: Averages of monitored pharmaceuticals and plant protection products. Results of single measurements are given in supplemental material

4.2.4.3 Survival

With 80.81 % ± 10.15 embryonic mortality until hatching, animals exposed to the direct area of the STP (group A) showed a significantly higher mortality compared to groups B and D ($p \le 0.049$, Figure 4.11). The other locations did not differ significantly in their mortality. Mortality of the control group (D) was 61.79 % ± 24.09 on average. The regression of maternal size with embryonic mortality showed an R²-value of -0.0068, which shows that mortality is independent of maternal body size. However, the number of initially laid eggs correlated with maternal size with a value of R² 0.499, as expected.



Figure 4.11: Mortality in % and standard deviation of the four exposure groups. Letters show significant differences after t-Test

4.2.4.4 Embryonic development

Embryonic development did not differ between the four locations, taking the different temperatures into account (Figure 4.12). However, the embryos developed similarly in regard to degree days, but not to actual dates. For this specific area, this results in a hatching of juveniles of the first group six days earlier than of the other groups.



Figure 4.12: Embryonic development of the four groups with linear regression

4.2.4.5 Size of juveniles

Carapace sizes of freshly hatched juveniles showed a clear correlation to the location and therefore present chemicals (Figure 4.13). Juveniles developing in group A showed an average length of 4.23 mm \pm 0.21 and were, thus, significantly smaller than the animals developing in all other locations (p \leq 0,0004). At the same time, the juveniles that hatched in control group D had an average length of 4.56 mm \pm 0.19 and were significantly larger than all other groups (p \leq 9.4e⁻⁰⁵). Only the two groups exposed to low concentrations of the wastewater were similar to each other (B = 4.38 \pm 0.23, C = 4.40 \pm 0.19).



Figure 4.13: Average size for the different exposure locations of the groups. Letters indicate significant differences (t-Test).

4.2.4.6 Histology

Figure 4.14 shows the impact of the different placements of enclosures in the study site on the hepatopancreas cells. For groups B and C, there are no differences in B-cell sizes or numbers per cell compared to the control. For hepatopancreas cells of group A (the group exposed directly to the influences of the STP with highest measured concentrations of chemicals), however, we found damages in every section and for nearly all observed cells. Membranes were disrupted resulting in the formation of abnormal lumen, and necrotic cells were found in every section. Number of B-cells, which normally are connected to the lumen were significantly lower (p < 0.0001) for this group compared to all others. B-cell numbers per group were: A: 21.32 (SD = 3.14); B: 44.25 (SD = 6.20); C: 45.18 (SD = 5.54); D: 44.58 (SD = 5.67).

Because of the many damages and indistinct borders of the B-Cells, the sizes of B-cells were not compared.



Figure 4.14: Transversal histological sections of noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) exposed to the different environmental influences during embryonic development. Marked areas are lumen (L), membrane (M) and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive (R) lipid cells, blister-like (B) cells, NCH: Necrotic cells of hepatopancreas. C = Control; I = Group A;I = Group B; III = Group C
4.2.5 Discussion

4.2.5.1 Chemical loads

Even though STPs are one of the major sources of chemicals influx into aquatic environments (Gagné et al., 2006), little is known about effects of the diverse and constantly changing chemical load on aquatic organisms. In our example, 25 out of 36 tested substances were detected in the water of the Eider. Many of these substances, originating from human and veterinarian pharmacy and agriculture, are known to have toxic effects on non-target organisms. On the one hand, Paracetamol and Metformin show toxicological effects on the standard organism Daphnia magna starting from 6.5 mg/L and 64 mg/L, respectively, and, therefore, at higher concentrations than detected in the Eider (Cleuvers, 2003; Jungkon Kim et al., 2010). On the other hand, Carbamazepine shows effects on Daphnia magna starting at concentrations of 0.5 μ g/L (Dietrich et al., 2010) and on the green crab (Carcinus maenas) at concentrations of 1 µg/L (Aguirre-Martínez et al., 2013)), which represent lower concentrations than measured in this study. Diclofenac, one of the chemicals with the highest monitored concentrations, is described by Fent et al. (2006) as the compound having the highest acute toxicity within the class of NSAIDs. Especially the effects of DCF mixtures with other chemicals introduced to surface waters can increase the negative effects of this analgetic (Gonzalez-Rey et al., 2014; Prokkola et al., 2015). Sublethal effects of DCF on freshwater crayfish were observed from concentrations of 0.16 mg/l and higher with condemned embryonic development in marbled and noble crayfish (Laurenz et al., chapter 3.2). Glyphosate is one of the better studied chemicals regarding toxic effects. Canosa et al. (2019) showed that Glyphosate can imbalance the male reproductive function of the estuarine crab Neohelice granulata at concentrations of 1 mg/L. Banaee et al. (2020) demonstrated additionally that effects of Glyphosate are increasing when mixed with other pesticides like Chlorpyrifos. Therefore, lowest effective observed concentrations could be even lower than the 40 mg/L observed by Avigliano et al. (2014). The higher toxicity of mixtures is verified by countless observations (Müller et al. 2020; Oliver et al. 2020).

These effects of mixtures make it even more important to understand the impact of contamination caused by human input into surface waters on non-target organisms.

4.2.5.2 Effects on freshwater crayfish

4.2.5.2.1 Survival

At 61.8 %, the mortality of the control group (D) is comparable to known hatching rates of noble crayfish (54.6 %) as shown by Kouba et al. (2010). However, the mortality of group A, which was exposed directly to the influences of the STP, is higher than uninfluenced survival rates found in literature (Policar et al., 2004; Policar et al., 2006; Reynolds et al., 1992).

The monitored concentrations of chemicals are very limited to a small location at the entry of the STP. This enabled the implementation of this study in a comparatively small area and, therefore, the effects on the crayfish population are limited to that small range. Nevertheless, concentrations of pharmaceuticals and agricultural substances are not always limited to small areas and can also affect whole streams and large lake habitats (Kandie et al., 2020; Maasz et al., 2019; Picó et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). While the monitored compounds and concentrations differ for every location, influences of the compositions of residues of the human products for health and agriculture are very likely.

Survival rate of the juveniles is one, if not the most important factor for stabilisation of populations. This means that a decrease of juvenile survival of 30.85 %, as shown in this study, can lead to a reduction of population size of the endangered species (Edsman et al., 2015).

4.2.5.2.2 Development

The development and time until hatching did not differ between groups regarding degree days. The hatching took place in June for all groups, which fits the observations of Ackerfors (1999). However, when comparing development of groups regarding days, the group directly exposed to the influences of the STP shows a shorter development time, so that the juveniles hatched six days earlier. This is due to the higher water temperature of the stream delivering the STP water into the river. A shorter development time can have positive and negative effects at the same time. The earlier hatch can lead to an advantage of the animals in lower food competition and, thus, faster growth (Franke and Clemmesen, 2011). Temperatures, that are too high can lead to a faster development and consequently to higher rates of abnormal development or malformations were detectable, and the temperature of all groups was below 20 °C and, thus, in the optimal range for noble crayfish reproduction (Policar et al., 2004; Westin and Gydemo, 1986). Therefore, we conclude that the higher temperature leads to an early hatching of juvenile crayfish, but the chemical load does not affect the hatching time or development.

4.2.5.2.3 Juvenile size

Effects of the locations on the offspring are visible in the size of juveniles. The overall sizes are higher than described in literature, where the very few data showed illustrations with stage 1 juveniles of about 1 to 1.5 mm carapace size (Kawai and Kouba, 2020). The differences in sizes are correlated to a higher load in chemicals of the locations. Smaller body sizes caused by toxic influences are described in the literature. Mac Loughlin et al. (2016), for instance, showed that Atrazine can influence weight gain of *Cherax quadricarinatus* at concentrations of 2.5 mg/L and Avigliano et al. (2014) as well as Frontera et al. (2011) showed a decrease of weight gain due to Glyphosate for the same species starting from 40 mg/L and 22.5 mg/L, respectively. Velisek et al. (2015) showed that terbuthylazine-2-

hydroxy can lead to a decrease in weight gain for *Procambarus virginals* when exposed during first life stages including embryonic development at a concentration of 75 μ g/L of. These early life stages are known to be more sensitive to chemical impacts than advanced juveniles (Barki and Karplus, 2004; Jones, 1990). This fact in addition to the higher toxicity of mixtures of chemicals can explain the high sensitivity of the noble crayfish embryos in terms of growth observed in this study. The smaller size can lead to a disadvantage in competition for food and habitat and, therefore, on survival of the endangered species. Additionally, the smaller body size causes a higher feeding pressure on the juvenile crayfish, especially through other invertebrates (Zimmermann J.K.M., 2009).

4.2.5.2.4 Histology

Histology of the hepatopancreas is serving as a parameter to measure sublethal toxicological effects in several publications. The organ is known to be analogous to the mammalian liver, which is also susceptible to chemicals such as pesticides. Saravana Bhavan (2000) showed effects of the pesticide Endosulfan on the prawn *Macrobrachium malcolmsonii*. Damages reported in this study were increasing number of R-cells, formation of abnormal lumen, necrotic cells of the hepatopancreas separated from basal laminae and thickened basal laminae. Especially the necrotic cells and abnormal lumen were very similar to the damages found in this study. However, we did not detect differences in number of R-cells or thickness of basal lamina. Chaufan et al. (2006) found epithelial disorganisation in hepatopancreas tubules of *Chasmagnathus granulatus*. In addition, diameters and numbers of Bcells increased after feeding the crayfish Hexachlorobenzene-contaminated *Chlorella* for three days, similar to the effects of the STP output.

Koutnik et al. showed in 2017 pathological changes in hepatopancreas of early life stages of marbled crayfish through chronic terbuthylazine-2-hydroxy exposure in concentrations of up 75 μ g/L. In particular crayfish exposed to higher concentrations showed an alteration of the tubular system including disintegration of tubular epithelium with complete loss of structure in some places of the hepatopancreas. These losses of structure can also be found in this study for embryos exposed to the direct influence of the STPs.

Additional effects of the exposure of crustaceans to pesticides can be interstitial sinus haemocytic infiltration, melanisation and coagulation in the thickened basal laminae, necrotic tubules containing tissue debris, and haemocytes that can constitute a wall around the thickened basal laminae of the tubules (Negro et al., 2011). However, these were not observed in the present study.

The similarities of the effects in this study to effects of studies examining single chemical influences (in much higher concentrations than any chemical measured in this study) show that the mixture of substances most probably represents a risk that is multiple times higher for freshwater crayfish.

Therefore, the limit values of chemicals in surface waters should be defined with regard to an inclusion of possible mixture effects.

4.2.6 Conclusion

The initially asked questions can be answered as follows:

I: Yes, chemicals that origin from STPs affect the survival of noble crayfish embryos.ii: Yes, the embryonic development of noble crayfish is influenced by these chemicals, andiii.: concentrations of first occurring effects are as measured in group C of this study.

The results of this study reveal the effects of chemicals originating from an STP on freshwater crayfish. The effects decrease with increasing distance to the chemical input on a relatively small area. Therefore, there will probably be no significant influences on the local crayfish population. But the data are more important to estimate the danger of various intensities of chemical load on freshwater crayfish. Therefore, the chosen study site was an excellent opportunity to investigate influences of different naturally occurring pollutions on these organisms. As a consequence, the results should be considered for the estimation of limit values. Furthermore, if monitoring data of surface waters show similar concentrations, this study can help to understand and predict the impacts on freshwater crayfish populations and, thus, on the whole ecosystem.

- 4.2.7 References Sewage treatment plants affect embryonic development of *Astacus astacus* (Linnaeus 1758)
- Abd El-Atti, M., Desouky, M.M.A., Mohamadien, A., Said, R.M., 2019. Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii*: Bioaccumulation, oxidative stress and histopathological biomarkers. The Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Research 45 (1), 11–18.
- Ackerfors, H., 1999. Observations on the yearly life cycle of *Astacus astacus* in a small lake in Sweden. Freshwater Crayfish 12 (1), 413–429.
- Aguirre-Martínez, G.V., Del Valls, T.A., Martín-Díaz, M.L., 2013. Early responses measured in the brachyuran crab *Carcinus maenas* exposed to carbamazepine and novobiocin: Application of a 2-tier approach. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 97, 47–58.
- Alwes, F., Scholtz, G., 2006. Stages and other aspects of the embryology of the parthenogenetic Marmorkrebs (Decapoda, Reptantia, Astacida). Development genes and evolution 216 (4), 169–184.
- Avigliano, L., Fassiano, A.V., Medesani, D.A., Ríos de Molina, M.C., Rodríguez, E.M., 2014. Effects of glyphosate on growth rate, metabolic rate and energy reserves of early juvenile crayfish, *Cherax quadricarinatus* M. Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology 92 (6), 631–635.
- Banaee, M., Akhlaghi, M., Soltanian, S., Sureda, A., Gholamhosseini, A., Rakhshaninejad, M., 2020. Combined effects of exposure to sub-lethal concentration of the insecticide chlorpyrifos and the herbicide glyphosate on the biochemical changes in the freshwater crayfish *Pontastacus leptodactylus*. Ecotoxicology (London, England).
- Barki, A., Karplus, I., 2004. Size rank and growth potential in redclaw crayfish (*Cherax quadricarinatus*): Are stunted juveniles suitable for grow-out? Aquaculture Research 35 (6), 559–567.
- Bouju, H., Nastold, P., Beck, B., Hollender, J., Corvini, P.F.-X., Wintgens, T., 2016. Elucidation of biotransformation of Diclofenac and 4'hydroxyDiclofenac during biological wastewater treatment. Journal of Hazardous Materials 301, 443–452.
- Cacace, D., Fatta-Kassinos, D., Manaia, C.M., Cytryn, E., Kreuzinger, N., Rizzo, L., Karaolia, P., Schwartz, T., Alexander, J., Merlin, C., Garelick, H., Schmitt, H., Vries, D. de, Schwermer, C.U., Meric, S., Ozkal, C.B., Pons, M.-N., Kneis, D., Berendonk, T.U., 2019. Antibiotic resistance genes in treated wastewater and in the receiving water bodies: A pan-European survey of urban settings. Water Research 162, 320–330.
- Canosa, I.S., Zanitti, M., Lonné, N., Medesani, D.A., López Greco, L.S., Rodríguez, E.M., 2019. Imbalances in the male reproductive function of the estuarine crab *Neohelice granulata*, caused by glyphosate. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 182, 109405.

- Chaufan, G., Juárez, Á., Basack, S., Ithuralde, E., Sabatini, S.E., Genovese, G., Oneto, M.L., Kesten, E., Ríos de Molina, M.d.C., 2006. Toxicity of hexachlorobenzene and its transference from microalgae (*Chlorella kessleri*) to crabs (Chasmagnathus granulatus). Toxicology 227 (3), 262–270.
- Cleuvers, M., 2003. Aquatic ecotoxicity of pharmaceuticals including the assessment of combination effects. Toxicology Letters 142 (3), 185–194.
- Corno, G., Yang, Y., Eckert, E.M., Fontaneto, D., Fiorentino, A., Galafassi, S., Zhang, T., Di Cesare, A., 2019. Effluents of wastewater treatment plants promote the rapid stabilization of the antibiotic resistome in receiving freshwater bodies. Water Research 158, 72–81.
- Dietrich, S., Ploessl, F., Bracher, F., Laforsch, C., 2010. Single and combined toxicity of pharmaceuticals at environmentally relevant concentrations in *Daphnia magna*—a multigenerational study. Chemosphere 79 (1), 60–66.
- Ding, J., Lu, G., Li, Y., 2016. Interactive effects of selected pharmaceutical mixtures on bioaccumulation and biochemical status in crucian carp (*Carassius auratus*). Chemosphere 148, 21–31.
- Edsman, L., Füreder, L., Gherardi, F. & Souty-Grosset, C., 2015. *Astacus astacus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, 18 pp.
- Fent, K., Weston, A.A., Caminada, D., 2006. Ecotoxicology of human pharmaceuticals. Aquatic toxicology (Amsterdam, Netherlands) 76 (2), 122–159.
- Franke, A., Clemmesen, C., 2011. Effect of ocean acidification on early life stages of Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus* L.). Biogeosciences 8 (12), 3697–3707.
- Frontera, J.L., Vatnick, I., Chaulet, A., Rodríguez, E.M., 2011. Effects of glyphosate and polyoxyethylenamine on growth and energetic reserves in the freshwater crayfish *Cherax quadricarinatus* (Decapoda, Parastacidae). Archives of environmental contamination and toxicology 61 (4), 590–598.
- Gagné, F., Blaise, C., André, C., 2006. Occurrence of pharmaceutical products in a municipal effluent and toxicity to rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) hepatocytes. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 64 (3), 329–336.
- García, J., García-Galán, M.J., Day, J.W., Boopathy, R., White, J.R., Wallace, S., Hunter, R.G., 2020. A review of emerging organic contaminants (EOCs), antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB), and antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) in the environment: Increasing removal with wetlands and reducing environmental impacts. Bioresource Technology 307, 123228.
- Gonzalez-Rey, M., Mattos, J.J., Piazza, C.E., Bainy, A.C.D., Bebianno, M.J., 2014. Effects of active pharmaceutical ingredients mixtures in mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Aquatic Toxicology 153, 12–26.

- Haddaway, N.R., Mortimer, R.J.G., Christmas, M., Dunn, A.M., 2015. Water chemistry and endangered white-clawed Crayfish: A literature review and field study of water chemistry association in *Austropotamobius pallipes*. Knowl. Managt. Aquatic Ecosyst. 102 (416), 1.
- Jin, S., Jacquin, L., Huang, F., Xiong, M., Li, R., Lek, S., Li, W., Liu, J., Zhang, T., 2019. Optimizing reproductive performance and embryonic development of red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* by manipulating water temperature. Aquaculture 510, 32–42.
- Jones, C.M., 1990. The biology and acquaculture potential of the tropical freshwater crayfish *Cherax quadricarinatus*. Queensland Department of Primary Industries information series QI90028. Queensland Dept. of Primary Industries, Brisbane, 1 online resource (xv, 109, [21].
- Jungkon Kim, Jeongim Park, Pan-Gyi Kim, Chulwoo Lee, Kyunghee Choi, Kyungho Choi, 2010. Implication of global environmental changes on chemical toxicity-effect of water temperature, pH, and ultraviolet B irradiation on acute toxicity of several pharmaceuticals in *Daphnia magna*. Ecotoxicology 19 (4), 662–669.
- Kandie, F.J., Krauss, M., Beckers, L.-M., Massei, R., Fillinger, U., Becker, J., Liess, M., Torto, B., Brack,
 W., 2020. Occurrence and risk assessment of organic micropollutants in freshwater systems within the Lake Victoria South Basin, Kenya. Science of The Total Environment 714, 136748.
- Kawai, T., Kouba, A., 2020. A description of postembryonic development of *Astacus astacus* and *Pontastacus leptodactylus*. Freshwater Crayfish 25 (1), 103–116.
- Khan, S., Nugegoda, D., 2007. Sensitivity of juvenile freshwater crayfish *Cherax destructor* (Decapoda: Parastacidae) to trace metals. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 68 (3), 463–469.
- Kocour Kroupová, H., Valentová, O., Svobodová, Z., Šauer, P., Máchová, J., 2018. Toxic effects of nitrite on freshwater organisms: A review. Rev Aquacult 10 (3), 525–542.
- Kouba, A., Carral, J.M., Buřič, M., Mráz, J., Policar, T., Kozák, P., 2010. Artificial incubation of noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus*) eggs in a partially recirculating system using formaldehyde as an antifungal treatment. Aquaculture Research 8, no-no.
- Koutnik, D., Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., Velisek, J., 2017. The chronic effects of terbuthylazine-2hydroxy on early life stages of marbled crayfish (*Procambarus fallax f. virginalis*). Pesticide biochemistry and physiology 136, 29–33.
- Maasz, G., Mayer, M., Zrinyi, Z., Molnar, E., Kuzma, M., Fodor, I., Pirger, Z., Takács, P., 2019. Spatiotemporal variations of pharmacologically active compounds in surface waters of a summer holiday destination. Science of The Total Environment 677, 545–555.
- Mac Loughlin, C., Canosa, I.S., Silveyra, G.R., López Greco, L.S., Rodríguez, E.M., 2016. Effects of atrazine on growth and sex differentiation, in juveniles of the freshwater crayfish *Cherax quadricarinatus*. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 131, 96–103.

- Manaia, C.M., Rocha, J., Scaccia, N., Marano, R., Radu, E., Biancullo, F., Cerqueira, F., Fortunato, G., lakovides, I.C., Zammit, I., Kampouris, I., Vaz-Moreira, I., Nunes, O.C., 2018. Antibiotic resistance in wastewater treatment plants: Tackling the black box. Environment international 115, 312–324.
- Müller, M.E., Werneburg, M., Glaser, C., Schwientek, M., Zarfl, C., Escher, B.I., Zwiener, C., 2020. Influence of Emission Sources and Tributaries on the Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Micropollutant Mixtures and Associated Effects in a Small River. Environ Toxicol Chem 39 (7), 1382–1391.
- Negro, L., Senkman, E., Montagna, M., Collins, P., 2011. Freshwater Decapods and Pesticides: An Unavoidable Relation in the Modern World, in: Stoytcheva, M. (Ed.), Environmental Impact and Remediation of Residual Lead and Arsenic Pesticides in Soil. INTECH Open Access Publisher.
- Oliver, M., Kudłak, B., Wieczerzak, M., Reis, S., Lima, S.A.C., Segundo, M.A., Miró, M., 2020. Ecotoxicological equilibria of triclosan in Microtox, XenoScreen YES/YAS, Caco2, HEPG2 and liposomal systems are affected by the occurrence of other pharmaceutical and personal care emerging contaminants. Science of The Total Environment 719, 137358.
- OpenStreetMap Deutschland: Die freie Wiki-Weltkarte, 2020. https://www.openstreetmap.de/. Accessed 29 August 2020.
- Picó, Y., Alvarez-Ruiz, R., Alfarhan, A.H., El-Sheikh, M.A., Alshahrani, H.O., Barceló, D., 2020. Pharmaceuticals, pesticides, personal care products and microplastics contamination assessment of Al-Hassa irrigation network (Saudi Arabia) and its shallow lakes. Science of The Total Environment 701, 135021.
- Policar, T., Kozák, P., Martín, J., 2006. Effects of egg bath and daily removal of dead eggs on hatching success and production of stage 2 juveniles during artificial incubation in noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus* L.). Bull. Fr. Pêche Piscic. (380-381), 1197–1206.
- Policar, T., Simon, V., Kozák, P., 2004. Egg incubation in the noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus* I.): the effect of controlled laboratory and outdoor ambient condition on hatching success, growth and survival rate of juveniles. Bull. Fr. Pêche Piscic. (372-373), 411–423.
- Prokkola, J.M., Nikinmaa, M., Lubiana, P., Kanerva, M., McCairns, R.S., Götting, M., 2015. Hypoxia and the pharmaceutical Diclofenac influence the circadian responses of three-spined stickleback. Aquatic Toxicology 158, 116–124.
- R Core Team, 2015. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Reynolds, J.D., CELADA, J.D., CARRAL, J.M., MATTHEWS, M.A., 1992. Reproduction of astacid crayfish in captivity—current developments and implications for culture, with special reference to Ireland and Spain. Invertebrate Reproduction & Development 22 (1-3), 253–265.

- Saravana Bhavan, P., 2000. Histopathology of the hepatopancreas and gills of the prawn *Macrobrachium malcolmsonii* exposed to endosulfan. Aquatic Toxicology 50 (4), 331–339.
- Schrimpf, A., Theissinger, K., Dahlem, J., Maguire, I., Pârvulescu, L., Schulz, H.K., Schulz, R., 2014. Phylogeography of noble crayfish (*Astacus astacus*) reveals multiple refugia. Freshw Biol 59 (4), 761–776.
- Velisek, J., Stara, A., Koutnik, D., Zuskova, E., 2015. Effects of terbuthylazine on early life stages of common carp. Neuro endocrinology letters 36 Suppl 1, 120–125.
- Vogt, K., Rasran, L., Jensen, K., 2007. Seed deposition in drift lines: Opportunity or hazard for species establishment? Aquatic Botany 86 (4), 385–392.
- Wang, J., Sui, Q., Lyu, S., Huang, Y., Huang, S., Wang, B., Xu, D., Zhao, W., Kong, M., Zhang, Y., Hou, S.,
 Yu, G., 2020. Source apportionment of phenolic compounds based on a simultaneous monitoring of surface water and emission sources: A case study in a typical region adjacent to Taihu Lake watershed. Science of The Total Environment 722, 137946.
- Weinländer, M., Füreder, L., 2016. Native and alien crayfish species: Do their trophic roles differ? Freshwater Science 35 (4), 1340–1353.
- Westin, L., Gydemo, R., 1986. Influence of light and temperature on reproduction and moulting frequency of the crayfish, *Astacus astacus* L. Aquaculture 52 (1), 43–50.
- Zimmermann J.K.M., 2009. Conditions for sustainable crayfish populations in northern Sweden: Rapport, Sweden, 30 pp.

5 Overall discussion and perspective

5.1 Discussion and connection of chapters 2, 3 and 4

The present studies show that the influences of chemicals originating from human sources can affect the reproduction and the fitness of freshwater crayfish.

At first, we want to try to answer the first question asked in the introduction:

1: Are reproduction stages of freshwater crayfish influenced by the chemicals TBA and DCF or by the mixture of chemicals in sewage treatment plants?

As the above manuscripts demonstrate, influences are present in all periods of the freshwater crayfish' reproduction. The gonadal development of noble crayfish was affected resulting in a smaller number of next generation crayfish (see chapter 2). For noble crayfish, concentrations of 0.16 mg/L DCF and 1.6 mg/L TBA resulted in smaller egg numbers and all investigated concentrations, resulted in smaller numbers of spermatozoa. For marbled crayfish on the other hand, these effects were not detectable at all.

The study on embryonic development presented in chapter 3 shows that embryos of noble crayfish have a lower survival rate starting from concentrations of 0.1 mg/L TBA and 10.24 mg/L DCF. In addition, sublethal effects are observed starting from concentrations of 0.025 mg/L TBA and 0.04 mg/L DCF. Equivalent results for experiments involving DCF were detected for marbled crayfish, but a higher sensitivity for noble crayfish compared to marbled crayfish was found when exposed to TBA.

Linking the results about the gonadal development (chapter 2) with the results of the embryonic development (chapter 3) under the influence of the two chemicals reveals that survival of crayfish during both periods of reproduction is affected at concentrations multiple times higher than to be expected in surface waters (0.035 mg/L for TBA and 0.029 mg/L for DCF, (Herrero-Hernández et al., 2017; Dusi et al. 2019). Nevertheless, we have to take into account, whether the influences on both reproduction periods may accumulate and could result in negative effects on the reproduction of crayfish even at lower concentrations. There are trends in our data indicating that the lowest concentrations of the used chemicals result in lower numbers of eggs after exposure of parental animals during gonadal development for noble crayfish. These effects are also visible but not statistically significant for embryonic development. If these two trends are summed up, survival might be significantly lower for animals exposed to TBA and DCF over time, i. e. over several reproduction cycles.

In order that the effects can accumulate, animals would have to be exposed during both periods of the reproduction cycle. However, for TBA, exposure times of several months would be unrealistic. TBA is a pre-emergence herbicide in corn farming. This leads to peaks of TBA concentrations in natural water bodies during March and April (Tasca et al., 2018). Therefore, an exposure to this chemical over at least four months of gonadal development plus at least 45 days of embryonic development is unlikely. Consequently, accumulating effects of the two periods in one reproduction cycle are implausible. However, it is possible that one generation of one population is affected during both periods of reproduction in different reproduction cycles. For example, if a generation is weakened during their embryonic development resulting in a smaller number of individuals and is additionally exposed to TBA while developing oocytes and spermatozoa, this generation could produce an even smaller number of offspring. Overall, this would lead to a decreasing trend of population offspring numbers.

In contrast to TBA, a permanent exposure over the whole year is the general case for DCF due to its year-round use. It is the most frequently detected drug in German surface waters. It has been perennially detected in surface waters in concentrations of up to 29.8 μ g/L in 55 countries (Dusi et al., 2019). Therefore, aquatic animals can be exposed to DCF and other drugs throughout their whole life. Number and survival of eggs were affected by concentrations of 160 μ g/L after four months exposure during gonadal development, which is less than six times the measured concentration of DCF in surface waters. As a result, direct effects on the number of freshwater crayfish are more likely to be found for DCF than for TBA, but for both chemicals these direct effects are unlikely in terms of a single chemical influence on the animals. More important are the accumulating effects over several years and the sublethal effects found in the studies of chapters 2 and 3.

Considering that the two sublethal effects spermatozoa production and the histology of the hepatopancreas are affected by concentrations of the two chemicals found in surface waters of Europe, it has to be assumed that these are a threat to the endangered noble crayfish. Sperm quality is one of the main factors affecting reproductive efficiency in male crustaceans (Wickins and O'C Lee, 2003). This parameter is affected by the presence of environmental pollutants (Lewis and Ford, 2012). Canosa et al. (2019) showed that the herbicide Glyphosate can imbalance the male reproductive function of the estuarine crab *Neohelice granulata* at concentrations of 1 mg/L by producing abnormal spermatophores and a reduction in sperm count. The authors conclude the possibility of a reduction in brood production and larvae recruitment in the natural environment. The results of spermatophore analyses of freshwater crayfish under influences of TBA and DCF from this study lead to the same conclusion and reveal a severe threat to crayfish populations.

However, not only for wild populations of freshwater crayfish sperm quality is important. Harlioğlu et al. (2018) showed that control of male reproduction and spermatophore quality is an important matter

in crustacean aquaculture. Crustaceans represent 10 % of the global aquaculture production (FAO, 2018). In recent decades crustacean aquaculture was developing rapidly worldwide and is considered to be an important food production sector in terms of sources of animal protein, occupation and financial gain as well as foreign exchange earnings (Kozák, 2015; Wickins and O'C Lee, 2003). Different crayfish species have been assessed for artificial breeding and cultivation programs as these animals are a wholesome and desirable food (Yazicioglu et al., 2018). Hence, the impact of chemicals is not only relevant for reasons of nature conservation, but also for economy and food production.

Additionally, not only the number of sperm-cells and eggs of noble crayfish are affected by both chemicals, but also, as a sublethal parameter, changes of hepatopancreas histology were shown for every concentration for parental and juvenile noble crayfish. The hepatopancreas is the site of nutrient absorption, digestion, synthesis and secretion of digestive enzymes and reserve storage in decapods (Calvo et al., 2011; Johnston et al., 1998; Xiao et al., 2014). It is formed of numerous tubules separated by connective tissues (Abd El-Atti et al., 2019) and consists of a lumen, membranes and four types of epithelial cells. When investigating effects of potentially harmful substances, the blister-like secretory cells (B-cell), which channel off harmful substances, are of great interest. Changes in B-cell size or number would indicate a higher or lower outtake of harmful substances. Therefore, chemical load and stress originating from this load can be detected by histological changes of these cells. At the same time, these changes can lead to a damaged or non-functional organ, resulting in a flawed or decreased functionality including the defence against harmful substances. As another parameter, influences of the chemicals on the weight of hatched crayfish were shown in chapter 3 for noble crayfish exposed to high TBA concentrations starting at 1.6 mg/L. Hence, we assume that the substances, without interfering substances or circumstances, would not have an impact on hatching weight under outdoor conditions due to the much lower detected concentrations in surface waters.

In conclusion, the chemicals TBA and DCF influence sperm quantity, egg numbers, survival of embryos and the histology of the hepatopancreas, which results in combined impacts on the stability and fitness of freshwater crayfish populations under outdoor conditions and in aquaculture. Therefore, the first part of the first question asked in the aims of this study is answered:

1: Reproduction stages of freshwater crayfish are negatively influenced by the chemicals TBA and DCF.

To answer the second part of the question, whether or not reproduction stages of freshwater crayfish are influenced by the mixture of chemicals in sewage treatment plants, we have to take a look at chapter 4, where the effect of an STP outlet on noble crayfish was investigated in a field study.

The four locations used in the field study represent naturally occurring habitats with different chemical loads. They comprise a river section of approximately 20 m around the entry of the STP wastewater.

This enables the study site to serve as a model for differently polluted surface waters and at the same time provide similar environmental parameters to ensure the comparability of the data. Nevertheless, concentrations of pharmaceuticals and agricultural substances are not always limited to small areas and can also affect whole streams and large lake habitats (Kandie et al., 2020; Maasz et al., 2019; Picó et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). While the monitored compounds and concentrations differ at each of the four locations, influences of the compositions of residues of the human products for health and agriculture are very likely. This study shows that pollution as strong as in this small area can definitely harm crayfish reproduction and, as a consequence, crayfish population dynamics. In this case, the influences on the whole ecosystem and on present populations of crayfish in this stream are marginal due to the dilution of concentrations after a relatively short distance, as shown in the manuscript data. To transfer the findings of chapter 4 to other surface water areas, we take a closer look at the connections of measured concentrations and affected variables.

The studied parameters (survival of embryos, size of hatched animals and histology of the hepatopancreas of hatched juveniles) are all affected, at least by the chemical load in the direct influence area of the STP. The concentrations of all detected chemicals are lower than highest measured concentrations in surface waters. For example, DCF concentrations of $2,767 \pm 0,125 \mu g/L$ were measured in the wastewater at location A, but were still much lower than the highest reported concentrations in surface waters of 29 $\mu g/L$ (Dusi et al., 2019). However, we measured concentrations of Carbamazepin, DCF and Primidone as high or higher than the predicted non-effective concentrations (Vogel, 2011). In addition, the mixture and relatively high concentrations of the above-mentioned three pharmaceuticals or even some not-monitored substances have a relatively high impact on the study animals. The observed decrease of hatched embryos shows that the sensitive reproduction cycle is disturbed by the chemicals. Survival rate of juveniles is one, if not the most important factor for the stabilisation of populations. Therefore, a decrease of juvenile survival of more than 30.85 %, as observed in this study, can lead to a reduction of population size of the endangered species *Astacus astacus* (Edsman et al., 2015).

Not only survival, but also sublethal effects are of importance in this study under outdoor conditions, similar to the laboratory experiments. Effects of decreased size and hepatopancreas damages were discussed before, but in chapter 4 it becomes even more obvious how important the actual control of chemical input in aquatic systems can be. Even the lowest chemical doses influenced organisms that were not in the direct area of the STP output and showed these sublethal effects.

Thus, the second part of the first question is answered as well. It is proven, that DCF, TBA and also the mixture of chemicals in sewage treatment plants negatively influence the reproduction of freshwater crayfish.

Consequently, the second question phrased in the aims of this study has to be answered:

2: Are marbled crayfish suitable as a model organism in toxicological studies?

This question cannot be answered with a clear "yes" or "no". Harzsch and Viertel (2020) as well as Linzmaier and Jeschke (2019) recently showed that marbled crayfish can serve as model organisms for immunolocalization of neurotransmitters and neuromodulators or to measure the impact of introducing truly new species into an ecosystem. Hossain et al. (2018) also showed in his review that the species is already used in toxicological studies, but that its suitability and sensitivity was not investigated before.

The studies of chapter 2 and 3 indicate that the suitability of marbled crayfish as a model organism in toxicological studies depends on the studied parameters and the used chemicals. When investigating the impact of DCF on embryonic development, marbled crayfish showed similar responses compared to noble crayfish. In contrast, noble crayfish were much more sensitive when exposed to TBA compared to marbled crayfish. For gonadal development, effects were only detectable for noble crayfish, but not for marbled crayfish.

In chapter 2, we were able to show that the effects of the exposure to the chemicals are identical in both species, even if they were connected to different concentrations of the chemicals.

Therefore, we conclude that the usage of marbled crayfish as model organism can only be recommended to transfer detected damages to other species. Not observed effects are not necessarily also missing for other species and effective concentrations might be different for other crayfish species.

For the estimation of NOEC (No Observed Effect Concentration) or PNEC (Predicted No Effect Concentration) or even LC_{50} -values, more sensitive organisms than marbled crayfish should be used to assure that limit values are not harmful to other species.

5.2 Perspective

While toxicological approaches have certainly helped advance our understanding of the impact of anthropogenic pollution on freshwater crayfish, much remains to be discovered. In a way, the findings of this thesis created the foundation to address new and exciting questions in toxicological and ecological approaches with the aim to protect the crayfish and their ecosystem.

Especially the results described in chapter 4 of this study showed the importance of future studies examining ecotoxicological effects on freshwater systems. The amount of chemicals found in the study site and the poor amount of available data on their toxicological risk on freshwater crayfish underline the importance of further studies in order to understand and evaluate the effects of the chemical load

on freshwater crayfish. In this context, the estimation of mixture effects of substances on aquatic organisms will be of special interest. Many studies and reviews are already addressing the problem and point out the need of future studies in this field. For instance, Overturf et al. (2015) show the increasing relevance of studies concerning the mixture of chemicals originating from sewage treatment plants, similar to this study. Vasquez et al. (2014) demonstrated the importance of chronic exposure of pharmaceuticals in surface waters and the assessment of cocktail effects. Many more studies show how difficult but important the understanding of chemical mixtures and the effects are for ecological health (Ahrens et al., 2016; Altenburger et al., 2018; Orton et al., 2014).

Nilsen et al. (2019) analyse data of contaminants of emerging concern (CECs) from several toxicological studies. The authors formulate the following challenges for future approaches for a better understanding of toxicological effects:

1) more detailed information on the complexity of mixtures of CECs in the aquatic environment,

2) a greater understanding of the sublethal effects of CECs on a wide range of aquatic organisms,

3) an ascertaining of the biological consequences of variable duration CEC exposures within and across generations in aquatic species,

4) a linkage of multiple stressors with CEC exposure in aquatic systems and

5) a documenting of the trophic consequences of CEC exposure across aquatic food webs.

As shown in chapter 4, only the first two challenges may lead to a nearly unlimited number of studies due to the big number of chemicals and organisms that need to be included to gather all the information needed. This challenge was also addressed in all chapters of this thesis. Nevertheless, the possibilities of sublethal effects are vast and many have probably not even been discovered yet. To expand our knowledge, further parameters, for example regarding effects on stress proteins (Dix, 1997), receptor pathways (Baldwin et al., 2003) and behaviour (Little and Finger, 1990), should be included.

In addition, challenges 3-5 posed by Nilsen et al. (2019) can and should also be processed for as many organisms and chemicals as possible. Only by assessing every possible combination of pollutant and effect we can fully understand the consequences resulting from pollutants in aquatic environments. In this present study, we were able to show effects of two single chemicals and the specific mixture of the STP on freshwater crayfish. We can assume that the possibly resulting decreasing population sizes of the "ecosystem engineers" and "key species" noble crayfish (Weinländer and Füreder, 2016) have a major impact on their habitat. However, to fully confirm and understand the meaning of pollutants for these animals many more studies have to be carried out in the future.

5.3 References Overall discussion and perspective

- Abd El-Atti, M., Desouky, M.M.A., Mohamadien, A., Said, R.M., 2019. Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii*: Bioaccumulation, oxidative stress and histopathological biomarkers. The Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Research 45 (1), 11–18.
- Ahrens, L., Gashaw, H., Sjöholm, M., Gebrehiwot, S.G., Getahun, A., Derbe, E., Bishop, K., Åkerblom, S., 2016. Poly- and perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs) in water, sediment and fish muscle tissue from Lake Tana, Ethiopia and implications for human exposure. Chemosphere 165, 352–357.
- Altenburger, R., Scholze, M., Busch, W., Escher, B.I., Jakobs, G., Krauss, M., Krüger, J., Neale, P.A., Ait-Aissa, S., Almeida, A.C., Seiler, T.-B., Brion, F., Hilscherová, K., Hollert, H., Novák, J., Schlichting, R., Serra, H., Shao, Y., Tindall, A., Tollefsen, K.E., Umbuzeiro, G., Williams, T.D., Kortenkamp, A., 2018.
 Mixture effects in samples of multiple contaminants An inter-laboratory study with manifold bioassays. Environment international 114, 95–106.
- Baldwin, D.H., Sandahl, J.F., Labenia, J.S., Scholz, N.L., 2003. Sublethal Effects Of Copper On Coho Salmon: Impacts On Nonoverlapping Receptor Pathways In The Peripheral Olfactory Nervous System. Environ Toxicol Chem 22 (10), 2266.
- Calvo, N.S., Stumpf, L., Pietrokovsky, S., Greco, L.S.L., 2011. Early and late effects of feed restriction on survival, growth and hepatopancreas structure in juveniles of the red claw crayfish *Cherax quadricarinatus*. Aquaculture 319 (3-4), 355–362.
- Canosa, I.S., Zanitti, M., Lonné, N., Medesani, D.A., López Greco, L.S., Rodríguez, E.M., 2019. Imbalances in the male reproductive function of the estuarine crab *Neohelice granulata*, caused by glyphosate. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety 182, 109405.
- Dix, D.J., 1997. Stress proteins in reproductive toxicology. Environmental Health Perspectives 105 (4), 436–438.
- Dusi Eike, Rybicki Marcus, Jungmann Dirk, 2019. The database "Pharmaceuticals in the Environment" Update and new analysis, 06844 Dessau-Roßlau, 103 pp.

https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/1410/publikationen/2019-06-

24_texte_67-2019_database_pharmaceuticals-environment_0.pdf. Accessed 10 December 2019.

- Edsman, L., Füreder, L., Gherardi, F. & Souty-Grosset, C., 2015. *Astacus astacus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, 18 pp.
- FAO, 2018. Meeting the sustainable development goals. The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2018, Rome, 210 pp.
- Harlıoğlu, M.M., Farhadi, A., Gür, S., 2018. Determination of sperm quality in decapod crustaceans. Aquaculture 490, 185–193.
- Harzsch, S., Viertel, C., 2020. Immunolocalization of Neurotransmitters and Neuromodulators in the Developing Crayfish Brain. Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.) 2047, 271–291.

- Herrero-Hernández, E., Rodríguez-Cruz, M.S., Pose-Juan, E., Sánchez-González, S., Andrades, M.S., Sánchez-Martín, M.J., 2017. Seasonal distribution of herbicide and insecticide residues in the water resources of the vineyard region of La Rioja (Spain). The Science of the total environment 609, 161– 171.
- Hossain, M.S., Patoka, J., Kouba, A., Buřič, M., 2018. Clonal crayfish as biological model: A review on marbled crayfish. Biologia 73 (9), 841–855.
- Johnston, D.J., Alexander, C.G., Yellowlees, D., 1998. Epithelial Cytology and Function in the Digestive Gland of *Thenus Orientalis* (Decapoda: Scyllaridae). Journal of Crustacean Biology 18 (2), 271–278.
- Kandie, F.J., Krauss, M., Beckers, L.-M., Massei, R., Fillinger, U., Becker, J., Liess, M., Torto, B., Brack,
 W., 2020. Occurrence and risk assessment of organic micropollutants in freshwater systems within the Lake Victoria South Basin, Kenya. Science of The Total Environment 714, 136748.

Kozák, P., 2015. Crayfish biology and culture. University of South Bohemia, Česke Budějovice, 456 pp.

- Lewis, C., Ford, A.T., 2012. Infertility in male aquatic invertebrates: A review. Aquatic Toxicology 120-121, 79–89.
- Linzmaier, S.M., Jeschke, J.M., 2019. Towards a mechanistic understanding of individual-level functional responses: Invasive crayfish as model organisms. Freshw Biol 65 (4), 657–673.
- Little, E.E., Finger, S.E., 1990. Swimming behaviour as an indicator of sublethal toxicity in fish. Environ Toxicol Chem 9 (1), 13–19.
- Maasz, G., Mayer, M., Zrinyi, Z., Molnar, E., Kuzma, M., Fodor, I., Pirger, Z., Takács, P., 2019. Spatiotemporal variations of pharmacologically active compounds in surface waters of a summer holiday destination. Science of The Total Environment 677, 545–555.
- Nilsen, E., Smalling, K.L., Ahrens, L., Gros, M., Miglioranza, K.S.B., Picó, Y., Schoenfuss, H.L., 2019. Critical review: Grand challenges in assessing the adverse effects of contaminants of emerging concern on aquatic food webs. Environmental toxicology and chemistry 38 (1), 46–60.
- Orton, F., Ermler, S., Kugathas, S., Rosivatz, E., Scholze, M., Kortenkamp, A., 2014. Mixture effects at very low doses with combinations of anti-androgenic pesticides, antioxidants, industrial pollutant and chemicals used in personal care products. Toxicology and applied pharmacology 278 (3), 201–208.
- Overturf, M.D., Anderson, J.C., Pandelides, Z., Beyger, L., Holdway, D.A., 2015. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products: A critical review of the impacts on fish reproduction. Critical reviews in toxicology 45 (6), 469–491.
- Picó, Y., Alvarez-Ruiz, R., Alfarhan, A.H., El-Sheikh, M.A., Alshahrani, H.O., Barceló, D., 2020.
 Pharmaceuticals, pesticides, personal care products and microplastics contamination assessment
 of Al-Hassa irrigation network (Saudi Arabia) and its shallow lakes. Science of The Total
 Environment 701, 135021.

- Tasca, A.L., Puccini, M., Fletcher, A., 2018. Terbuthylazine and desethylterbuthylazine: Recent occurrence, mobility and removal techniques. Chemosphere 202, 94–104.
- Vasquez, M.I., Lambrianides, A., Schneider, M., Kümmerer, K., Fatta-Kassinos, D., 2014. Environmental side effects of pharmaceutical cocktails: What we know and what we should know. Journal of Hazardous Materials 279, 169–189.
- Vogel Ines, 2011. Zusammenstellung von Monitoringdaten zu Umweltkonzentrationen von Arzneimitteln 2011.
- Wang, J., Sui, Q., Lyu, S., Huang, Y., Huang, S., Wang, B., Xu, D., Zhao, W., Kong, M., Zhang, Y., Hou, S.,
 Yu, G., 2020. Source apportionment of phenolic compounds based on a simultaneous monitoring of surface water and emission sources: A case study in a typical region adjacent to Taihu Lake watershed. Science of The Total Environment 722, 137946.
- Weinländer, M., Füreder, L., 2016. Native and alien crayfish species: Do their trophic roles differ? Freshwater Science 35 (4), 1340–1353.
- Wickins, J.F., O'C Lee, D., 2003. Crustacean Farming, Ranching and Culture, 2nd edition. Aquaculture Research 34 (3), 269–270.
- Xiao, X., Han, D., Zhu, X., Yang, Y., Xie, S., Huang, Y., 2014. Effect of dietary cornstarch levels on growth performance, enzyme activity and hepatopancreas histology of juvenile red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard). Aquaculture 426-427, 112–119.
- Yazicioglu, B., Kouba, A., KOZÁK, P., Niksirat, H., 2018. Post-mating spermatophore storage strategies in two species of crayfish: Implications for broodstock management. Animal 12 (3), 554–558.

6 Appendix

6.1 List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Adult male Astacus astacus. Picture: Daniel Konn-Vetterlein
Figure 1.2: Adult <i>Procambarus virginalis</i> with eggs. Picture: Jan Laurenz
Figure 1.3: Structural formula of Atrazine (left) and Terbuthylazine (right)
Figure 1.4: Structural formula of Diclofenac
Figure 1.5: Adverse effects of Diclofenac on the reproduction of D. magna with endpoints including the
total number of broods per female and the total egg production number per female at 21 days.
Significant differences (p\0.05) among the treatments for the total number of carapaces per adult and
body length were indicated by different letters (a, b, c, d, e, f and a', b', c', d', e', f'), respectively
(changed after Du et al. (2016))
Figure 2.1: Spermatozoa cells per $\mu l.$ Dark areas represent the number of dead cells; light grey
represents the living cells and the height of every bar the total average of counted cells. Stars indicate
statistical differences (black: counted; white: percentage dead)
Figure 2.2: Spermatozoa cells stained with trypan blue 0.4 %. Dead cell (left) living cell (right) 27
Figure 2.3:Egg cells per μ l. Dark areas represent the number of dead embryos; light grey represents
the living animals and the height of every bar the total average of counted eggs. Stars indicate
statistical differences (black: laid eggs; white: hatched juveniles)
Figure 2.4: Histological sections of hepatopancreas of noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) exposed to the
different concentrations for 120 days. Marked areas are lumen (L), membrane (M) and four types of
epithelial cells: resorptive (R) lipid cells, blister-like (B) secretory cells, fibrillar (F) cells and embryonic
(E) cells; (HE stain, 100×)
Figure 2.5: Diameter of hepatopancreas B-Cells of male adult noble crayfish exposed to different
concentrations of the two chemicals DCF and TBA. Letters represent significant differences calculated
via Tukey (p≤0,05)
Figure 2.6: Egg cells per μ l. Dark areas represent the number of dead embryos; light grey represents
the living animals and the height of every bar the total average of counted eggs
Figure 2.7: Hatching size of marbled crayfish after parental exposure to different chemical
concentrations. Letters indicate significant differences
Figure 3.1: Linear regressions of embryonic development of marbled crayfish (PT) and noble crayfish
(AT) in different concentrations of TBA over Time
Figure 3.2: Linear regressions of embryonic development of noble crayfish in different concentrations
of TBA over time in first (A1), second (A2) and last (A3) third of development

Figure 3.3: Survival rates for marbled crayfish exposed to different concentrations of TBA during the
experiment. The blue area shows the exposure time frames
Figure 3.4: Survival rates of noble crayfish group AT exposed to different concentrations of TBA over a
period of 60 days. The blue area shows the exposure time frames 47
Figure 3.5: Survival rates of noble crayfish exposed to different concentrations of TBA over time in first
(A1), second (A2) and last (A3) third of development. The blue areas indicate exposure time frames.
Figure 3.6: Histological sections of hepatopancreas in juvenile noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) exposed
to Terbuthylazine for 45 days. I : control with marked lumen (L), membrane (M) and four types of
epithelial cells: resorptive (R) lipid cells, blister-like (B) secretory cells, fibrillar (F) cells and embryonic
(E) cells; II : group exposed to 0.025 mg/L TBA for 45 days; III : group exposed to 12.8 mg/L TBA for 45
days (HE stain, 200×)
Figure 3.7: Survival rates of marbled crayfish exposed to different concentrations of DCF over time.61
Figure 3.8: Survival rates of noble crayfish exposed to different concentrations of DCF over time in first
(A1), second (A2) and final (A3) third of development
Figure 3.9: Linear regression of embryonic development of marbled crayfish exposed to different DCF
concentrations over time
Figure 3.10: Linear regression of embryonic development of noble crayfish exposed to different DCF
concentrations over time in the first (A1), second (A2) and final(A3) third of development
Figure 3.11: Histological sections of the hepatopancreas in juvenile noble crayfish (Astacus astacus)
exposed to DCF. I $-$ control showing the lumen (L), membrane (M) and four types of epithelial cells:
resorptive (R) lipid cells, blister-like (B) secretory cells, fibrillary (F) cells and embryonic (E) cells; II –
group exposed to 0.64 mg/L DCF; ${ m I\!I}$ – group exposed to 2.56 mg/L DCF; ${ m I\!V}$ – group exposed to
40.96 mg/L DCF (HE, 200×). Top row: close up of one tubular. Bottom row: overview of hepatopancreas
structure
Figure 4.1: Enclosure type A: 60 x 25 x 25 cm (L x W x H), wooden top and bottom (Paulownia wood,
1.8 cm thickness), hinged top cover, sides covered with wire fence (8 mm mesh size), 2 clay pipes
placed inside, construction balanced with weights to float just below the water surface
Figure 4.2: Enclosure type C: 60 x 25 x 25 cm (L x W x H), wooden framework, sides covered with gauze
(1.5 mm mesh size), removable top cover by means of built-in clip system, 2 clay pipes placed inside,
construction placed at a depth of 1.30 m
Figure 4.3: Enclosure type B: 70 cm side length and 22 cm diameter, tubular enclosure made of wire
fence (8 mm mesh size), 2 clay pipes placed inside, construction placed at a depth of 1.30 m
Figure 4.4: Survival rates of A. astacus embryos in different enclosures (A, B, C) and control groups (D
= CAS, E = hatchery); mean ± SD

Figure 4.5: Comparison of embryonic development [%] in the different enclosures (A, B, C) and the
control groups (D, E)
Figure 4.6: Comparison of treatment groups in boxplots, indicating the weights [mg] of the A. astacus
juveniles after first moult. The lines in the boxes indicate median values, the lines above and below the
boxes indicate standard deviations, and dots represent outliers
Figure 4.7: Overview of the study area. Map extracted from OpenStreetMap Deutschland (2020)91
Figure 4.8: Sketch (left) and overview (right) of the study site (2020)
Figure 4.9: Construction of enclosures $L/W/H = 60/25/25$ cm; wooden top and bottom (Douglas fir,
2 cm thickness), hinged top cover, sides covered with wire fence (8 mm mesh size), two clay pipes
placed inside, construction balanced with weights to float just underneath water surface
Figure 4.10: Temperatures measured with HOBO loggers inside of enclosures group B, C and D are
identical and, thus, only one line is visible95
Figure 4.11: Mortality in % and standard deviation of the four exposure groups. Letters show significant
differences after t-Test
Figure 4.12: Embryonic development of the four groups with linear regression
Figure 4.13: Average size for the different exposure locations of the groups. Letters indicate significant
differences (t-Test)
Figure 4.14: Transversal histological sections of noble crayfish (Astacus astacus) exposed to the
different environmental influences during embryonic development. Marked areas are lumen (L),
membrane (M) and four types of epithelial cells: resorptive (R) lipid cells, blister-like (B) cells, NCH:
Necrotic cells of hepatopancreas

6.2 List of Tables

Table 3.1: Concentrations, trials, designations and numbers of replicates per species. 42
Table 3.2: Proportion of solutions, times and temperature for embedding juvenile crayfish in LR White.
Table 3.3: Average weights in mg plus standard deviation at hatching in the different treatment groups.
Table 3.4: Concentrations of DCF and numbers of replicates/embryos per species. 59
Table 4.1 Summary of treatments and their parameters 78
Table 4.2: Summary of all statistically significant differences found between treatments in this study p ≤ 0.05
Table 4.3: Environmental parameters measured using photometer, titration or HOBO Logger94
Table 4.4: Averages of monitored pharmaceuticals and plant protection products. Results of single
measurements are given in supplemental material96
Table 6.1: weights of noble crayfish in g 124
Table 6.2: sizes of noble crayfish in cm 124
Table 6.3: Laid eggs of female noble crayfish 124
Table 6.4: Hatched juveniles of noble crayfish
Table 6.5: Quantification Spermatozoa TBA 125
Table 6.6: Quantification Spermatozoa DCF 126
Table 6.7: Percentage of living Sperm Cells 127
Table 6.8: B-Cell sizes
Table 6.9: Number of B-Cells/Hepathopancreas Cell regarding to concentration for noble crayfish
juveniles exposed to TBA
Table 6.10: Number of B-Cells/Hepathopancreas Cell regarding to concentration for noble crayfish
juveniles exposed to Diclofenac
Table 6.11: Weights of hatched noble crayfish exposed to different Concentrations of TBA
Table 6.12: Weights of hatched marbled crayfish exposed to different Concentrations of TBA 130
Table 6.13: Number of B-Cells/Hepathopancreas Cell of noble crayfish juveniles exposed to different
areas near a STP influence
Table 6.14: continuation of: Number of B-Cells/Hepathopancreas Cell of noble crayfish juveniles
exposed to different areas near a STP influence150

6.3 List of Abriviations

ATPS	aqueous two-phase system
B-cell	Blister-like Secretory Cells
CEC	Contaminants of Emerging Concern
DCF	Diclofenac
EC ₅₀	
E-cell	embryonic cells
F-cell	fibrillar cells
HPLC	High Perprmance Liquid Chromatography
LOEC	Lowest Observed Effective Concentration
log KOW	Octanol–Water Partition Coefficient
MEC	Measured Environmental Concentration
NOEC	No Observed Effect Concentration
NSAID	Non-Steroidal Anti Inflammatory Drug
рН	.decimal logarithm of the reciprocal of the hydrogen ion activity, aH+, in a solution
PNEC	Predicted No Effect Concentration
R-cell	resorptive lipid cells
STP	Sewage Treatment Plant
ТВА	
UBA	
UV	Ultra Violet
WFD	

6.4 Supplemental Material Chapter 2

Animal/Conc.	0	0.025 T	0.4 T	1.6 T	6.4 T	0.04 D	0.16 D	2.56 D	10.24 D
W1	38.37	-	43.8	47.47	-	33.08	37.81	-	-
W2	31.37	40.19	38.94	34.83	-	26.13	33.32	35.78	39.1
W3	40.96	28.07	49.61	45.8	38.45	29.75	37.1	-	42.87
W4	47.66	45.43	42.93	36.09	44.98	34.64	28.59	23.51	31.02
M1	48.01	27.79	36.03	23.47	38.44	37.3	32.8	27.19	48.39
M2	34.26	34.69	38.52	29.61	29.3	35.84	37.54	27.39	36.25

Table 6.1: weights of noble crayfish in g

Table 6.2: sizes of noble crayfish in cm

Animal/Conc.	0	0.025 T	0.4 T	1.6 T	6.4 T	0.04 D	0.16 D	2.56 D	10.24 D
W1	5.22	5.14	5.7	5.5	-	5.2	5.31	-	5.29
W2	4.91	5.56	5.38	5.35	-	4.89	5.12	4.91	5.18
W3	5.51	5.03	6.05	5.7	5.49	4.82	5.22	-	5.52
W4	5.8	5.8	5.49	5.49	5.7	5.21	4.85	4.51	4.89
M1	6.1	4.9	5.25	4.36	5.21	5.21	5.2	4.72	5.23
M2	5.14	5.18	5.19	4.96	4.59	5.39	5.2	5.08	4.9

Table 6.3: Laid eggs of female noble crayfish

Animal/Conc.	0	0.025 T	0.4 T	1.6 T	6.4 T	0.04 D	0.16 D	2.56 D	10.24 D
W1	287	278	136	110	97	4	89	0	0
W2	187	230	198	94	89	159	68	0	0
W3	245	189	187	134	124	210	124	45	0
W4	245	179	198	102	0	232	145	65	0

Table 6.4: Hatched juveniles of noble crayfish

Animal/Conc.	0	0.025 T	0.4 T	1.6 T	6.4 T	0.04 D	0.16 D	2.56 D	10.24 D
W1	145	152	65	50	23	0	30	0	0
W2	110	123	100	0	х	86	0	0	0
W3	165	145	89	0	х	93	56	х	х
W4	0	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х

Table 6.5	Quantification	Spermatozoa	ТВА
-----------	----------------	-------------	-----

Konz	0.00	0.00	TBA 0.025	TBA 0.4	TBA 0.4	TBA 1.6	TBA 6.4
Tier	K1	К2	T1	Т3	T4	T5	T7
Spermatozoa 1	222	129	30	245	101	127	150
	217	145	33	288	132	119	107
	172	158	30	259	80	123	135
	224	161	21	229	86	125	85
Spermatozoa 2	254	130	43	219	85	136	133
	242	143	45	260	84	102	111
	248	158	34	181	98	129	96
	240	158	30	277	76	150	122
Spermatozoa 3	227	188	32	163	77	86	51
	190	159	51	144	83	74	82
	235	198	52	157	91	83	54
	240	230	48	152	78	99	34
Spermatozoa 4	241	221	46	208	58	173	11
	272	171	41	231	62	99	20
	217	173	35	247	70	122	23
	271	167	41	181	68	128	23
Spermatozoa 5	188	271	65	256	107	156	135
	248	218	85	177	72	144	95
	223	260	59	240	96	103	115
	199	236	69	208	96	124	145
Spermatozoa 6	197	178	57	202	77	130	158
	200	257	86	194	129	102	133
	186	258	66	244	77	98	141
	206	166	56	241	96	114	167
Spermatozoa 7	269	186	38	268	84	111	156
	190	150	52	196	102	81	172
	218	194	36	267	92	96	133
	210	160	47	223	93	81	119
Spermatozoa 8	229	150	33	254	72	64	159
	251	154	54	236	95	69	135
	225	155	41	218	81	55	91
	203	109	48	276	91	88	122

Konz	D 0.04	D0.04	D 0.16	D 0.16	D 2.56	D 10.24
Tier	D9	D10	D11	D12	D13	D14
Spermatozoa 1	39	37	19	96	76	11
	50	30	27	95	60	19
	45	45	15	104	61	18
	53	43	14	133	51	13
Spermatozoa 2	61	26	19	86	56	17
	62	50	33	124	40	18
	51	30	29	89	45	22
	55	31	20	134	46	16
Spermatozoa 3	93	16	22	48	26	7
	80	41	23	95	39	14
	119	29	29	89	40	10
	98	35	20	71	29	21
Spermatozoa 4	158	78	9	106	47	16
	151	64	14	136	49	14
	147	71	24	124	51	24
	161	70	14	130	64	11
Spermatozoa 5	87	45	10	61	31	10
	101	53	23	92	27	12
	123	34	16	70	36	12
	126	19	16	64	33	13
Spermatozoa 6	232	25	13	79	33	8
	233	32	17	77	34	16
	177	30	20	69	23	10
	201	26	15	80	27	14
Spermatozoa 7	42	38	27	92	12	11
	36	47	16	73	13	19
	61	44	13	104	15	5
	59	36	19	78	19	13
Spermatozoa 8	69	24	13	69	59	6
	73	17	16	85	79	13
	50	30	13	84	74	7
	60	31	18	68	51	15

Table 6.6: Quantification Spermatozoa DCF

Sample/Conc.	0	0.025 T	0.4 T	1.6 T	6.4 T	0.04 D	0.16 D	2.56 D	10.24 D
1	54.55	100.00	46.67	50.00	50.00	0.00	16.67	50.00	14.29
2	41.67	33.33	56.52	50.00	46.67	0.00	200.00	71.43	0.00
3	58.33	100.00	54.17	50.00	23.53	50.00	25.00	60.00	10.00
4	60.00	60.00	47.62	20.00	28.57	50.00	27.27	62.50	25.00
5	50.00	50.00	57.89	16.67	9.09	28.57	7.14	80.00	30.00
6	40.00	71.43	44.44	0.00	50.00	58.62	7.69	71.43	28.57
7	60.00	100.00	50.00	25.00	30.77	28.57	0.00	52.00	0.00
8	70.00	100.00	46.67	25.00	11.11	44.44	33.33	33.33	0.00
9	28.57		50.00			0.00	81.82		
10	40.00		75.00			62.50	66.67		
11	50.00		66.67			57.14	50.00		
12	100.00		44.44			100.00	33.33		
13	75.00		100.00			75.00	60.00		
14	50.00		66.67			75.00	33.33		
15	85.71		50.00			57.14	60.00		
16	66.67		66.67			80.00	60.00		
Average	58.16	76.85	57.71	29.58	31.22	47.94	47.64	60.09	13.48

Table 6.7: Percentage of living Sperm Cells

Table 6.8: B-Cell sizes

	0	TBA 0.025	TBA 0.4	TBA 1.6	TBA 6.4	D 0.04	D 0.16	D 2.56	D 10.24
Average	26.86	39.60	53.98	68.15	75.58	41.53	44.10	50.20	73.90
SD	9.90	11.51	14.57	16.44	23.53	11.32	11.98	10.25	18.21

6.5 Supplemental Material Chapter 3

6.5.1 Noble crayfish are more sensitive to Terbuthylazine than parthenogenetic marbled crayfish

Sample/Conc.	Control	0.025	0.1	0.4	1.6	6.4	12.8
1	25	80	75	67	80	66	47
2	24	62	72	76	79	66	29
3	26	73	62	62	70	67	34
4	28	77	69	60	78	64	45
5	29	70	70	66	74	80	50
6	24	73	60	77	68	75	60
7	23	76	77	68	76	80	46
8	25	74	61	74	76	77	44
9	21	64	79	79	68	74	51
10	25	72	71	65	77	66	58
11	26	64	78	67	68	61	40
12	28	77	77	63	72	68	44
13	27	61	75	64	74	62	39
14	22	79	78	75	72	71	30
15	23	62	65	77	63	63	27
16	25	77	65	69	76	72	41
17	26	61	73	67	72	67	58
18	22	63	72	74	64	61	51
19	21	65	70	80	65	66	29
20	24	74	68	69	78	80	43
21	25	77	74	67	77	75	40
22	27	60	69	73	76	68	26
23	22	65	60	78	75	61	32
24	23	73	61	71	63	75	42
25	25	63	64	76	76	61	28
26	29	79	75	67	70	71	43
27	28	64	71	70	60	61	43
28	22	71	68	65	60	64	51
29	22	71	73	69	79	72	56
30	21	69	64	63	61	75	29
Average	24.60	69.87	69.87	69.93	71.57	68.97	41.87

Table 6.9: Number of B-Cells/Hepathopancreas Cell regarding to concentration for noble crayfish juveniles exposed to TBA

6.5.2 Effects of Diclofenac on the embryonic development of freshwater crayfish

Table 6.10: Number of B-Cells/Hepathopancreas Cell regarding to concentration for noble crayfish juveniles exposed to Diclofenac

Sample/Conc.	Control	0.01	0.04	0.16	0.64	2.56	10.24	40.96
1	25	24	26	30	25	34	32	47
2	24	24	31	25	28	37	47	29
3	26	27	25	27	29	33	32	34
4	28	28	31	27	28	38	37	45
5	29	29	28	26	29	32	38	50
6	24	27	30	28	31	34	36	60
7	23	25	31	29	31	36	41	46
8	25	25	30	29	26	35	44	44
9	21	26	30	29	28	37	34	51
10	25	24	27	25	27	30	48	58
11	26	26	29	28	27	29	38	40
12	28	26	26	31	26	29	45	44
13	27	30	28	26	24	39	42	39
14	22	26	24	30	28	36	47	30
15	23	27	29	31	26	35	38	27
16	25	27	26	24	30	32	38	41
17	26	25	30	31	27	29	34	58
18	22	28	31	27	27	26	45	51
19	21	24	26	30	29	37	37	29
20	24	29	29	26	26	29	37	43
21	25	28	25	29	31	29	43	40
22	27	29	25	31	26	38	33	26
23	22	26	29	31	27	31	34	32
24	23	27	30	30	31	28	48	42
25	25	30	31	31	24	33	34	28
26	29	24	27	27	31	30	34	43
27	28	27	25	28	28	29	39	43
28	22	30	30	25	31	33	38	51
29	22	29	27	25	31	27	43	56
30	21	26	31	27	27	29	42	29
Average	24.60	26.77	28.23	28.10	27.97	32.47	39.27	41.87

Animal/Conc.	40.96	10.24	2.56	0.64	0.16	0.04	0.01	LSM	0
1	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02
2	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.02
3	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
4	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02
5	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02
6	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02
7	0.02		0.02	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.03
8	0.02					0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03
9						0.02	0.03	0.02	0.03
10						0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02
11						0.03	0.03	0.03	
12						0.03	0.03		
13						0.03			
Average	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.02

Table 6.11: Weights of hatched noble crayfish exposed to different Concentrations of TBA

Table 6.12: Weights of hatched marbled crayfish exposed to different Concentrations of TBA

Animal/Conc.	2.56	0.64	0.16	0.04	0.01	0
1	0.0038	0.0046	0.0044	0.003	0.0037	0.0043
2	0.004		0.0038	0.0038		0.004
3	0.0039		0.0033			0.0047
4	0.0052					0.0039
5						0.0038
6						0.005
7						0.0038
Average	0.0042	0.0046	0.0038	0.0034	0.0037	0.0042

6.6 Supplemental Material Chapter 4

6.6.1 Agrolab study site Data

AGROLAB Agrar und Umwelt GmbH

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, \$4107 Klet, Germany www.sgrolab.de

AGROLAS Agrar&Unwell Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Limnologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel



Datum	07.04.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRUFBERICHT 2020177 - 789215

Autrag	20	20177 Oberflächen	wasser	untersuchung,	Projekt Edelkrebs
Analysennr.	78	9215 Oberflächens	vasser	813 - C.	
Probeneingang	31	.03.2020			
Prohenahme	31	03 2020 12:50			
Kundan Diebankezaichmung					
KundenPhobenbezeichnung	(Tabut	Constants	N		1
	Emplex	Ergebris	Best-CR.	Grenzweit. Bewei	tung Methode
Physikalisch-chemische Par	ameter	100000		a second particular	an open out over a
pH-Wert (vor Ort)		7,83	.2	1	DIN EN ISO 10523 2012-04
Wassertemperatur (vor Ort)	C	10,8	0		DIN 38404-4 : 1976-12
Leitfihigkeit (vor Ort) bei 25°C	pS/cm	1080	10		DIN EN 27888 : 1993-11
Gasförmige Komponenten					
Sauerstoffsättigungsindex (vor Ort)	1%	59		1 1	Berechnung
Armaimittalninketinda - An	alcestika Lini	deerker u.s.			
Analyzaria (atting (ASS)	argenna, urp	read the second second	300	1 1	DEV 33407-47 - 2017-07 V
Arrenyisalinyisatire (ASS)	inglo	stop (mina)			(mod (85)
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	light 1	<0,030 (+)	0.03		DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(5B) 9
Bezafbrat	light i	0,14	0.03		D#V 38407-47 (2017-07(BB) - 4
Carbamazepin	leg1	2,7	0,03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) .V
Clofibrinsäure	höj	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIV 38407-47 (2017-07 U) (mod.(355)
Crotamiton	pol	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DFV38407-47:2017-07(BB) H
Diazepam	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(58) V
Diciofenso	ug1	2,6	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(58) 1/
Etofibrat	rigit	<10 (NWG)	30		D#V38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 0
Fenofbrat	ng/l	<30(+)	30		04V38407-47 (2017-07(88)) 4
Fenofbrinsäure	ng/l	<30(+)	- 30		DEV 35407-47 : 2017-07(56) 4
Fenoprofen	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30		DIN 35407-47 : 2017-07(55) M
Gemfibrozii	µg/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		C4N 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) H
Heptabarbital	/gu	<0,01 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
buprofen	ugi	<0.30 (+) ^{mi}	0,3		Din 38407-47 2017-07 4
In down where in		<10 (MIA02)	30		08403407-47 - 2012-07/98x - 14
Ketopolen	inger 1	<0.02.0VMS	0.05		DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07/88/; U
1 Manualia	- Part	0,000 (14469)	0.00		DEV 33407-47 - 2012-07/98/- H
LINCOMIT BASE Strain	inter l	1.97	0.05		DEU 33407-47 - 2017-07/980 - 4
Manyosan	angel Local	6.07	0.03		DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB): V
Norethindron	lucal	<0.01 NWGL	0.03		DEV 35407-47 2017-07/981 V
Persentand	and a	50,01 (1110)	30		DEV 35407-47 : 2017-07/881 H
Pentostulin	neg l	<10 (NW0)	30		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07/88/ W
Phanacatio	hou	<0.01 (N/MC)	0.03		Devi 38407-47 (2017-07/08) (
Phenaton	lugi	0.23	0.03		DEN 38407-47 : 2017-07/085
Primidon	luce -	0.78	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-01/885 M
Propublication	- und	<0.01 (NWR)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07/88/ - 4
Trie-2-Chloreithdningsphat	head	-c0 50m	0.5		DW 38407-47 : 2017-07/985 //
10Hohav 12.11 - Protest her strain	lund.	4.4	0.03		DEV 38407-47 (2017-07/88) (

CONTRACT.

AG Hildesheim Geschäftsführer HRS 200557 D. Paul Winner Ust NAT-D-Nr Dr. Jens Radde DE 186 666 523 Dr. Carlo G. Peict Selle 1 von 2

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.de



Datum	07.04.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRÜFBERICHT 2020177 - 789215

	Enhel	Ergebris	Best Or.	Grenzwert. Bew	ertung Methode
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	lugi	1.7	0.03		Devi 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) (#
4-Aminoantipyrin	ug1	2,0	0.03		DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -4
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	pol	<0,03 (+)	0,03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 44
4-Formylaminoantipyrin	pgi	10	0.03		D8138407-47:2017-07(88) 9
Pflanzenschutzmittel und	Biozidprodukte (P	SM)			
AMDA	Inel	0.40	0.03		DIN (SD 16308 2017-09/08) ui

AMPA	991	0,49	0.03	CITE GEO TERRET 2010-Debite (UI
Glyphosat	ug/	0,061	0.03	DIN 180 19308 2017-06(88) VI
Terbuthylazin	ligu	<0.015 (NWG)	0,03	DEV.38407/38 (2014-06/38) -4

niv) Die Bestimmung-, bzw. Nachweisgnerze musste erhöht werden, da zur Analyse das zu vermessende Material aufgrund seiner Probenbeschaffanheit verdunnt warden mussle

Problembeschaftentret versommt worden missele. Erikuterung: Das Zeichen "<" oder n.b. in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Staff ist bei rebendehender Bestimmungsgrenze micht quertifizierber Das Zeichen "<...(MWG)" oder n.n. in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Staff ist bei nebende hender Nechweisgrenze nicht nachzuweisen: Das Zeichen "<...(+/" in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Staff wurde im Bereich zeischen Nachweisgrenze und Bestimmungsgrenze opstitutet nachgewiesen. Die personeterspezifischen Messunscherfenten sowie informationen zum Bereichnungsverlahren sind auf Anfrege verfagbar, sofern die heichtigten Bereichter der stehethet die nachgewiesen Bestimmen neuen einementen dereite

berichteten Ergebnisse oberhalb der parameterspezifischen Bestimmungsgrenze legen

u) Verpiète an ein akkreditiertes Agrolab-Gruppen-Labor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labore

Uniersuchung durch

(B5) AGROLAS Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moosstrasse 5 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee

Methoden DIN 36407-47 : 2017-07

(86) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moossirasse 6 a, 62279 Eching / Ammersee, für die diterte Methode aktreditert nach ISO/IEC 17025:2005, Aktroditiorungsurkunde: D-PL-14299_01_00 Methoden

DN ISO 18308 : 2017-09; DN 38407-36 : 2014-09; DN 38407-47 : 2017-07; DN 38407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Präfungen: 31.03.2020 Ende der Präfungen: 07.04.2020

Die Ergebnisse beziehen sich ausschließlich auf die geprüften Gegenstände. In Fallen, wo das Pröflabor nicht für die Probenahme verantwortlich war, gelten die berichteten Ergebnisse für die Proben wie erhalten. Die auszugeweise Verniefäßigung die Berichts ohne unsere schriftliche Genehmigung ist nicht zulässig. Die Ergebnisse in desem Pröfbericht werden gemäß der mit Ihnen schriftlich gemäß Auftragebestätigung getrofferen Vereinbarung in vereinfachter Weise. I.S. der DW EN ISOREC 17025:2016, Abs. 7.8.1.3 berichtet.

M. Gollar

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung Sicker-/Grund-/Oberflächenwasser

AG Hikkeheim ANT-D-Hr

ach@idChas Dr. Paul Wrreser Dr. Jees Razidole Dr. Corto C. Pelot Selle 2 von 2



Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.da

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwell Dt.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Linnologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel

Datum	07.04.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRÜFBERICHT 2020177 - 789216

Autrag	2020177 08			berflächenwasseruntersuchung, Projekt Edelkreb-				
Analysennr.	789216 Obe	789216 Oberflächenwasser						
Probeneingang	31.03.2020							
Probenahme	31.03.2020							
Kunden-Probenbezeichnung	KA-C							
	Einheit	Ergebris	BestGr.	Grenzwert.	Bewertung	Methode		

Physikalisch-chemische Par-	ameter			
pH-Wert (vor Ort)		7,93	.2	DIN EN ISO 10523 2012-04
Wassertemperatur (vor Ort)	C	6,5	0	DIN 38404-4 : 1976-12
Leitfilhigkeit (vor Ort) bei 25°C	pS/cm	524	10	DIN EN 27888 : 1993-11
Gasförmige Komponenten				
Saverstoffsättigungsindex (vor Ort)	1%	65		Beechnung
Arzneimittelrückstände - Anz	sloetika. Lipi	dsenker, u.a.	- saevili	
Acetylsalicylsäure (ASS)	ngil	<100 (NWG)***	300	DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07 vi (mod 8755)
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	ligu	<0.010 (NWG)	0.03	DRV 35407-47 : 2017-07(98) - 4
Bezafbrat	ug/I	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DRV 38407-47 (2017-07(88) - 4
Carbamazepin	legi	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DW/38407-47:2017-07(88) //
Clofibrinsäure	leu	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 38407-47 (2017-07 U) (mod.8550)
Crotamiton	sol	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DFX38407-47:2017-07(BB) VI
Diazepam	lou	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(58) VI
Diciotenac	ug1	<0.03(+)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(55) - 4
Etofibrat	rigit	<10 (NWG)	30	Dev 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) u
Fenofbrat	ng/	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB). ut
Fenotbrinsäure	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DEV 35407-47 : 2017-07(55): 44
Fenoprofen	ng/I	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(55) M
Gemfibrozii	ugi	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) 14
Heptabarbital	log	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
buprofen	hði	<0,10 (NWG) ^(m)	0,3	DEN 38407-47 - 2017-07 - 44 (mod.855)
Indometacin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) M
Ketoprofen	pgi	<0.03 (NWG)	0.05	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) U
Lidocain	agl	<0,015 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 33407-47 : 2017-07(55) - 4
Mettormin	ug/	0,09	0.05	D#135407-47 : 2017-07(98) M
Naproxen	light	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) M
Norethindron	IP91	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DEV 35407-47 : 2017-07(BB) M
Paracetamol	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(86) -4
Pentostfyllin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 0
Phenapetin	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DEN 38407-47 : 20(7-07(88) - 4
Phenazon	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -4
Primidon	pgt	<0,01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -4
Propyphanazon	light	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) M
Tris-2-Chlorethylphosphat	1/gk	<0,10	0,1	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) M
10H schooly 12,11-ditystresarbemoznam	lugi	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DEV 38407-47 (2017-07\BB) 44

SNIN-SER

AG Hikkestein HRB 200557 Ust./VAT-D-RF DE 198 666 523

Geschäftsführen Dr. Paul Winner Dr. Jens Rackke Dr. Carlo G. Peich Selle 1 von 2

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.de



Datum	07.04.2020		
Kundennr.	20086508		

PRÜFBERICHT 2020177 - 789216

	Enhel	Ergebris	BestOr.	Grenzwert	Beverlung Methode
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	lug1	0,07	0.03		D89 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) (#
4-Aminoantipyrin	1gu	0,04	0.03		DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -4
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	pot	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) M
4-Formylaminoamipyrin	pgi	0,04	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) V
Pflanzenschutzmittel und I	Biozidprodukte	(PSM)			
444754	A DOLLAR STORE STORE STORE STORE				THE LET ARTICLE TOLET, SOUTH AND

D 10308 2013-Debita) u
C 16308 2017-06(68) ···
8407-38 (2014-09(88)) 4
84

nin) Die Bestimmung-, bzw. Nachweisgnerze musste erhöht werden, da zur Analyse das zu vermessende Material aufgrund seiner Probenbeschaffanheit verdunnt warden mussle

berichteten Ergebnisse oberhalb der parameterspezifischen Bestimmungsgrenze legen

u) Verpiète an ein akkreditiertes Agrolab-Gruppen-Labor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labore

Uniersuchung durch

(B5) AGROLAS Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moosstrasse 5 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee

Methoden DIN 36407-47 : 2017-07

(86) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moossirasse 6 a, 62279 Eching / Ammersee, für die diterte Methode aktreditert nach ISO/IEC 17025:2005, Aktroditiorungsurkunde: D-PL-14299_01_00 Methoden

DN ISO 18308 : 2017-09; DN 38407-36 : 2014-09; DN 38407-47 : 2017-07; DN 38407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Präfungen: 31.03.2020 Ende der Präfungen: 07.04.2020

Die Ergebnisse beziehen sich ausschließlich auf die geprüften Gegenstände. In Fallen, wo das Pröflabor nicht für die Probenahme verantwortlich war, gelten die berichteten Ergebnisse für die Proben wie erhalten. Die auszugeweise Verniefäßigung die Berichts ohne unsere schriftliche Genehmigung ist nicht zulässig. Die Ergebnisse in desem Pröfbericht werden gemäß der mit Ihnen schriftlich gemäß Auftragebestätigung getrofferen Vereinbarung in vereinfachter Weise. I.S. der DW EN ISOREC 17025:2016, Abs. 7.8.1.3 berichtet.

M. Goldiner

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung Sicker-/Grund-/Oberflächenwasser

š AG Hikkeheim 201567 NAT-D-R2

ach@idChas Dr. Paul Wrreser Dr. Jees Razidole Dr. Corto C. Pelot Selle 2 von 2



Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Klet, Germany www.agrolab.da

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwell Dt.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Linnologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel

Datum	07.04.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRÜFBERICHT 2020177 - 789217

Autrag	2020177 Ob	erflächer	wassen	untersuch	ung, Proje	kt Edelkrebs
Analysennr.	789217 Obe	rflächers	wasser		1922/1923	
Probeneingang	31.03.2020					
Probenahme	31.03.2020					
Kunden-Probenbezeichnung	KA-D					
	Einheit	Ergebris	BestGr.	Grenzwert	Bevertung N	Aethode

pH-Wert (vor Ort)		7,96	.2	DIN EN ISO 10523 2012-04
Wassertemperatur (vor Ort)	C	6,6	0	DIN 38404-4 : 1976-12
Leittinigkeit (vor Ort) bei 25°C	pS/cm	524	10	DIN EN 27888 : 1993-11
Gasförmige Komponenten				
Sauerstoffsättigungsindex (vor Ort)	1%	88		Berechnung
Arzneimittelrückstände - Anz	sigetika, Lipis	dsenker, u.a.		
Acetylsalicylsaure (ASS)	ngil	<100 (NWG)***	300	Dev 38407-47 : 2017-07 vi (mod 8755)
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	ligu	<0.010 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(55) -4
Bezafbrat	ug/i	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DRV 38407-47 (2017-07(88) 4
Carbamazepin	legi	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DW/38407-47 : 2017-07(88) //
Clofibrinsäure	201	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	Dev 38407-47 : 2017-07 U
Crotamiton	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DF43840747 : 2017-07(BB) H
Diazecam	Lot	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(58) V
Diciofenso	ug/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(56) 9
Etofibrat	rigit	<10 (NWG)	30	Dev 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 4
Fenofbrat	ngi	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V 38407-47 (2017-07(88) U
Fenotbrinsäure	ngi	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(55) 4
Fenoprofen	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DW38407-47:2017-07(93) M
Gemfibrozil	µg1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	C4N 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) U
Heptabarbital	/gq	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
buprofen	hði	<0,10 (NWG) ^{init}	0,3	DEN 38407-47 - 2017-07 44 (mod.855)
Indometacin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) M
Ketoprofen	pgt	<0.03 (NWG)	0.05	DIN 38407-47 (2017-07(BB) U
Lidocain	aal	<0,015 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 33407-47 : 2017-07(55) - 4
Mettormin	ugi	0,09	0.05	DHI 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) U
Naproxen	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-37(BB) M
Norethindron	P91	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DEV 35407-47 : 2017-07(BB) M
Paracetamol	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(86) 4
Pentostfylin	ng/	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 0
Phenapetin	Jug1	<0,01 (NWG)	0.03	DEV 38407-47 : 20(7-07(88) - 9
Phenazon	1gu	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(B5) -4
Primidon	pg4	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(B5) M
Propyphenazon	pgi	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 4
Tris-2-Chlorethylphosphat	1/gt	<0,10	0,1	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) M
10H phary 12,11-ditylitearbenezeni	lug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV/38407-47 (2017-07(BB)) 4

STILLER.

AG Highestein HPB-200557 Use.WAT-ID-Nr DE 198.666.523

GeschiltsAtren Dr. Paul Werener Dr. Jens Radide Dr. Certo C. Petet Selle 1 von 2

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.de

PRÜFBERICHT 2020177 - 789217



Datu	m	07.04.2020		
Kun	dennr.	20086508		

	Enhel	Ergebnis	Best-Or.	Grenzweit	Beverlung Methode
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	Log1	0.07	0.03	T	Devi 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) 14
4-Aminoantipyrin	ug/	<0.02 (NWG) **	0.06		Ditvi 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) -44
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	pot	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 44
4-Formylaminoantipyrin	pgi	0,05	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - V
Pflanzenschutzmittel und	Biozidprodukte	(PSM)			
AMPA	leg	0,03	0.03		DIN (SD 16308 : 2017-09(88) ut

recongacin	:201	S0,015 (1990)	0,05	er variter die Laar verstaan -
Taskastiveinets	Large L	20.015 (60.60)	0.02	DEV 38407/381 2014-09/885 14
Giyphosat	ug/l	<0,030 (+)	0,03	DIN (SO 16308 2017-06(68) VI
runno	121	216.61	378.6	

m) Die Nachweis-, bzw. Besteinmungsgeerze musste erhöht werden, da Matrixeffeite bzw. Substanzüberlagerungen eine Quartifizierung e/schwalen.

mi De Sestimmung-, tzv. Nechweisgrenze musste erhöht wenten, de zur Anelyse des zu vermessende Meteriel aufgrund seiner Probenbescheffenheit verdiamt werden musste.

Erlauterung: Das Zeichen "<" oder n.b. in der Spalte Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei nabersteinender Bedimmungsgrenze nicht quentifizierber. Das Zeichen "<...(NMG)" oder n.n. in der Spalte Ergebnis bedeutet, der betmitlende Stoff ist bei nebesatehender Nachweispresse nicht nachtuweiten.

Das Zeichen "<....(+)" in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff erunde im Bereich zwischen Nechweisgnerze und

Bestimmungsgrenz e qualitativ nachgewiezen. Die parameterspezifischen Messunsisherheiten sowie informationen zum Berechnungsverfahren sind auf Antrage verfügdar, sofern die barichteten Ergebrisse oberhalb der paremetarspezifischen Bestimmungagerine legen

u) Vergabe an ein aktreofiliertes Agrolab-Gruppen-Labor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labore

Untersuchung durch

(BB) AGRCLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Mossabasse 6 a. 82279 Eching / Ammersee

Methoden

DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07

(BS) AGROLAS Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moesatrasse 6 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee, für die zijierte Methode akkreditiert nach ISC/IEC 17025/2006, Akkreditierungsurkunde: D-PL-14289_01_00 Methoden

DIN ISO 16308 : 2017-09: DIN 35407-36 : 2014-09: DIN 35407-47 : 2017-07: DIN 35407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Prüfungen: 31 03.2020

Ende der Prüfungen: 07.04.2020

Die Ergebnisse beniehen sich ausschließlich auf die geprüften Gegenstände. In Fisien, wo das Pröffebor nicht für die Probenahme waantwortlich wat, gelen die berichteten Ergebnisse für die Proben wie erhalten. Die auszugsweise Versiefliktigung die Benichts ohne unsere schriftliche Genehmigung ist nicht zulässig. Die Ergebnisse in diesem Prüfbericht werden gemäß der reit Ihnen schriftlich gemäß Aufnagsbestätigung getroffenen Vereinbarung in vereinfachter Weise. IS. der DW EW ISOREC 17025/2018. Abs. 7.8.1.3 berichtet.

A. Geller

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung Sicker-/Grund-/Oberflächenwasser

AG Hikkeheim 201567 AAT-D-R2

ach@idChas Dr. Paul Wrreser Dr. Jess Radide Dr. Corto C. Pelot Selle 2 von 2


Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Klet, Germany www.agrolab.da

AOROLAB Agrar&Unwell Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Limnologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel

Datum	11.05.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRUFBERICHT 2026685 - 804157

Autrag	
Analysennr.	
Probeneingang	
Probenahme	
Probenehmer	
Kunden-Probenbezeichnung	

2026685 Oberflächenwasseruntersuchung, Projekt Edelkrebs 804157 Oberflächenwasser 27.04.2020 27.04.2020 13:50 Jan Lorenzen KA-A Ergebnis Best.-Gr. Grenzwert Bewertung Methode

Enhelt Discribulicals observicable Darameter

pH-Wert (vor Ort)		7,83	2	DIN EN ISO 10623 : 2012-04
Wassertemperatur (vor Ort)	°C	14,7	0	DIN 38404-4 1976-12
Leitfähigkeit (vor Ort) bei 25'C	µS/cm	1110	10	DIN EN 27888 : 1993-11
Gasförmige Komponenten	S. Stan St.			

Savenstoffsättigungsindex (vor Ort)	14	59		Berechnung
Arzneimittelrückstände - An	algetika, Lip	idsenker, u.a.		
Acetylsalicylsäure (ASS)	ngvi	<100 (NWG)***	300	DIV 35407-47 (2017-07 (# (#xxd 805))
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	pig1	0,041	0.03	DEV 38407-47 (2017-07(BB) U
Bezafibrat	ligu	0,17	0.03	D84 38407-47 (2017-07(98) U
Carbamazepin	ligu	2,5	0.03	D8V 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) 98
Clofibrinskure	199 1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#3.35407-47 : 2017-07 Mil (mod.802)
Crotamiton	Po4	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DAV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) U
Diazepam	pg4	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07(58): 44
Diciofenec	ligit	2,9	0.03	DIV 35407-47 ; 2017-07(55) 44
Etofiorat	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIN 38407-47 ; 2017-07(98) .ui
Fenofibrat	ing/l	<10 (NWG)	30	08V38407-47 : 2017-07(98) .ut
Fenofbrinsäure	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(5B) 44
Fenoprofen	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -4
Gemfibrozil	logi	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	D8V38407-47;2017-07(88) vi
Heptabarbital	pg1	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
buprofen	pgi	<0.30 (+) ^{erri}	0,3	CIN 38407-47 2017-07 41 (mod 855)
Indometecin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) . 44
Ketoprofen	1 PQL	<0.03 (NWG)	0.05	D#V 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - U
Lidocain	pg4	0,167	0.03	DIN 35407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -41
Metformin	lipel .	1,83	0,05	DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 44
Naproxen	lug/	0,23	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 48
Norethindron	light	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	D4V38407-47 : 2017-07(RB) ///
Paracetamol	ng/l	43	30	DIV 38407-47 (2017-07(BB) (4)
Pentoxifylin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DHV 38407-47 (2017-07(88) U
Phenapetin	ligu	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) W
Phenazon	ligu	0,27	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) (ii
Primidon	lug/l	0,90	0.03	D84 38407-47 (2017-07(88) - 44
Propyphenazon	light	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(55) - M
Trie-2-Chlorethylphosphat	P31	<0,20**	0,2	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) VI

ŝ

60

Geschilltelührer Dr. Paul Winnerer Dr. Jens Racklee Dr. Cerlo G. Peick

AG Hikkestein HRB 200557 Ust./VAT-ID-RP DE 198 666 523

Saita 1 von 2

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.de



Datum	11.05.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRÜFBERICHT 2026685 - 804157

	Earthed	Ergebris	Best. Or.	Chargenet	Beverlung Methode
10+1 yokcary-10,11-dihyotrocarbamaarapin	lug1	1,3	0.03	T	Dev 38407-47 : 20(7-07(88) - 0
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	ug1	1,8	0.03		DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) -44
4-Aminoantipyrin	i pot	0,89	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(86) M
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	pgl	<0,03 (+)	0.03		D9V38407-47:2017-07(88) V
4 Formylaminoantipyrin	1 Igu	12	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) 44
Pflanzenschutzmittel und Bie	ozidprodukte	(PSM)	1 23874		Contraction and the second second
AMPA	logi	0,74	0,03		DIN 180 18308 (2017-06(88)) 4
Glyphosat	P01	0,16	0.03		DIN (SC) 19308 (2017-09(88) +
Terbuthstazin	1003	<0.015 (NWG)	0.03		DIV 35407-35 : 2014-09(55) W

Terbuthylazin <0,015 (NWG) 0.03 ug1 m) Die Nachweis-, bzw. Bestimmungsgreize musste erhöht werden, die Mahwelfekte bzw. Subatenzüberlegenungen eine Quartifizierung

evacuation. nvi Die Bestimmung-, tzw. Nachweisgrenze musste erhöht werden, da zur Analyse das zu vermessende Material aufgrund seiner Probenbescheffenheit verdamt werden muzste

Erlauterung: Das Zeichen "<" oder n.b. in der Spalte Ergebnis bedautet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei rebersstefender Bestimmungsgrenze nicht quantifizierber. Das Zeichen "<....(MMG)" oder n.n. in der Spalte Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei neberstehender Nachweisgresse nicht

Bestimmungsgreitze quaritativ nachgewiesen. Die parameterspezifischen Messunsicherheiten sowie informationen zum Berechnungsverfahren sind auf Antrage verfügdar, sofern die berichteten Ergebnisse oberhalb der parameterspezifischen Bestimmungsgrenze liegen.

u) Vergebe an ein akkreditiertes Agrolab-Gruppen-Labor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labora

Untersuchung durch

(66) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moosstrasse 6 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee

Methoden

D#4 36407-47 : 2017-07

(88) AOROLAS Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moceatrasse 6 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee, für die zitierte Methode akkreditiert nach ISO/IEC 17025/2005, Akkreditierungsurkunde: D-PL-14289_01_00

Methodan

DIN ISO 16308 : 2017-09, DIN 38407-36 : 2014-09, DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07, DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Prüfungen: 27.04.0020 Ende der Prüfungen: 11.05.2020

Die Espehnisse beziehen sich ausschließlich auf die geprüften Gegenstände. In Fallen, wo das Prüftebor nicht für die Probenahme verantwortlich wat, gelten die berichteten Ergebnisse für die Proben wie erhalten. Die auszugsweise Vervießlätigung die Berichts ohne unsere achtelliche Genehmigung ist nicht zulässig. Die Ergebnisse in diesem Prüfbericht werden gemäß der mit Minen schriftlich gemäß Außragsbestätigung getrofferen Vereinberung in vereinfachter Weise. i.S. der DW EN ISOREC 17025/2018, Abs. 7.8.1.3 berichtet.

M. Gillow

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung

ģ AG Hikkeheim ANT-D-HP

ach@idChas Dr. Paul Wrreser Dr. Jees Razidole Dr. Corto C. Pelot



Dr. Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Klet, Germany www.agrotab.do

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwell Dt.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Linnologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel

Datum	11.05.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRÜFBERICHT 2026685 - 804158

Autrag	2026685
Analysennr.	804158 O
Probeneingang	27.04.202
Probenahme	27.04.202
Probenehmer	Jan Lorer
Kunden-Probenbezeichnung	KA-D

Oberflächenwasseruntersuchung, Projekt Edelkrebs berflächenwasser 0 0 14:20 nzen

	Enhel	Ergebnis	Best Gr.	Grenzwert	Bewertung Mathoda
Physikalisch-chemische Par	ameter				
pH-Wert (vor Ort)		7,97	2		DIN EN ISO 10623 : 2012-04
Wassertemperatur (vor Ort)	°C	11,4	0		DIN 38404-4 1976-12
Leitfähigkeit (vor Ort) bei 25'C	µS/cm	577	10		DIN EN 27888 : 1993-11
Gasförmige Komponenten					
Sauerstoffsättigungsindex (vor Ort)	16	65			Berechnung
Arzneimittelrückstände - Ana	algetika, Lipid	isenker, u.a.			
Acetylsalicylsäure (ASS)	ngđ	<100 (NWG)***	300		DIV 38407-47 2017-07 (
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	pal	<0.010 (NWG)	0.03	-	D#V38407-4712017-07(B8)
Bezafbrat	uol	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	-	DEV 38407-47 (2017-07(BB) 4
Carbamazeoin	Log	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07(56) +
Clofibrinsiture	led	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIV.35407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.3000)
Crotamiton	µg1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		D4V 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) 14
Diazepam	pg4	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07(56) -
Dictofenac	Fore	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		D#V36407-47 (2017-07(56) +
Elofibrat	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) -
Fenofibrat	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30		09V38407-47:2017-07(98) <
Fenofbrinsäure	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30		DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(98) +
Fenoprofen	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	36		DEV 35407-47 : 2017-07(98) +
Gemfibrozil	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		Dev 38407-47 ; 2017-07(88) V
Heptabarbital	i sgi	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
buprofen	pgi	<0,10 (NWG)**	0,3		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07 - 4 (mol 1850)
Indometacin	ngit	<10 (NWG)	30		Devi 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 1
Ketoprofen	ug1	<0,03 (NWG)	0.05	_	D4V 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 4
Lidocain	pg1	<0,015 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(86) -
Metformin	pg1	<0,05 (+)	0,05		D#V38407-47 : 2017-07(88) <
Naproxen	lug/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) A
Norethindron	light	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03		DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07(RB) /
Paracetamol	ngd	<10 (NWG)	30		DHV.38407-47 (2017-07(BB) +
Pentoxifyllin	ngA	<10 (NWG)	30		DHV 35407-47 (2017-07(BB))
Phenacetin	light	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) /
Phenazon	light	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIVI 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) (
Primidon	lug/l	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		D8438407-4712017-07(88) -
Propyphenazori	lug/l	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(58) - 4
Tris-2-Chlorethylphosphat	Lal	<0.10	0,1		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) 1

5

5-200567 AVAT-ID-H2: 1.86.666.523

Geschilltelührer Dr. Paul Winner Dr. Jens Rackde Dr. Carlo G. Peich

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Klet, Germany wew.agrolab.do



Datum	Datum	
Kunde	ner.	20086508

PRÜFBERICHT 2026685 - 80	4158					
	Einheit	Ergebnis	BestOr.	Grenzwert	Beverlung Methode	
10+1 yokcey-10,11-dihydrocarbanaaxeein	lug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	1	Devi 38407-47 : 2017-07(Bib	0.14
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	lug1	0,05	0.03		D#V 38407-47 : 2017-07088	6.4
4-Aminoantipyrin	(pg)	0,04	0,03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88	5.48
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	lug/l	<0,01 (NWG)	0,03		D9138407-47 : 2017-07(88	0.98
4-Formylaminoantipyrin	/gu	0,09	0.03		Dev 38407-47 : 2017-07(88	þ.M
Pflanzenschutzmittel und Bie	ozidprodukte	(PSM)				
AMPA	ug/	0,03	0.03		DIN 180 18308 2017-06(88	<u>n u</u>
Glyphosat	ug1	<0,010 (NWG)	0.03		DIN ISO 19308 2017-06(88	ŋы
Terbuthstazin	Pal	<0,015 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 35407-35 : 2014-09/55	0.14

mij Die Bestimmung-, bzw. Nachweisgrenze musste erhöht werden, de zur Anelyse das zu vermessende Meteral aufgrund zeiner Probenbescheffenheit verdiant werden musste

Enlasterung: Das Zeichen "<" oder n.b. in der Spaße Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei neberstehender

Bestminungsgreize nicht gwentilizierber. Des Zeichen "<....(MWG)" oder n.n. in der Spelle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei neberatehender Nechweisgreiste nicht

nachzuweisen. Das Zeichen "<....(+)" in der Spalle Ergebris bedeutet, der betreffende Staff wurde im Bereich zwischen Nachweisgrenze und

Bestmungsgreize qualitativ nachgewiesen. Die parameterspezifischen Massunache feeben sowie informationen zum Berechnungsverfahren and auf Antrage verfügdar, sofern die berichteten Ergebnisse oberhalb der parameterspezitlischen Bestimmungsgrenze Aegen

u) Vergabe an ein ekknedtiertes Agroleb-Gruppen-Lebor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labora

Terbuthylazin

Untersuchung durch

(BB) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Mocestrasse 6 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee Methoden

'ug1

DIN 38407-47 . 2017-07

(BB) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moosstrasse 6 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee, für die zitierte Methode aktreditiert nach ISO/IEC 17625: 2005, Aktreditierungsurkunde: D-PL-14289_01_00 Methoden

DIN ISO 16308 : 2017-09: DIN 38407-36 : 2014-09: DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07: DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Prüfungen: 27.04.2020 Ende der Prüfungen: 11.05.2020

Die Ergebnisse beziehen sich ausschließlich auf die geprüften Gegeinstände. In Fallen, wo das Proflabor nicht für die Probenahme verantwortlich var. gelten die berichteten Ergebolsse für die Proben wie erhaten. Die auszugsweite Verwießstigung des Berichts ohne unsere schriftliche Genehmigung ist nicht zulässig. Die Ergebolsse in desem Prüfbericht werden gemilit der mit Ihnen schriftlich gemilit Auftragsbedätigung gehaftenen Vereinberung in verwintschler Weise. (5. der DIV EN ISOREG 17025/2018, Abs. 7.8.1.3 berlahtet.

H. Geller

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung



ach@idChas Dr. Paul Wrreser Dr. Jess Radide Dr. Corto C. Pelot



Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Klet, Germany www.agrolab.de

AGROLAS Agrar&Univell Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Limnologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel

Datum	11.05.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRÜFBERICHT 2026685 - 804159

Autrag	- 3
Analysennr.	- 3
Probeneingang	- 3
Probenahme	3
Probenehmer	- 5
Kunden-Probenbezeichnung	an secola

2026685 Oberflächenwasseruntersuchung, Projekt Edelkrebs 804159 Oberflächenwasser 27.04.2020 27.04.2020 14:15 Jan Lorenzen KA-B

Kunden-Probenbezeichnung	KA	8		
	Entret	Ergebnis	Best Gr.	Grenzwert Bewertung Mathode
Physikalisch-chemische Para	ameter			
pH-Wert (vor Ort)		7,93	2	DIN EN ISO 10623 : 2012-0
Wassertemperatur (vor Ort)	°C	11.2	0	DIN 38404-4 : 1976-12
Leitfähigkeit (vor Ort) bei 25°C	µS/cm	578	10	DIN EN 27888 : 1993-11
Gasförmige Komponenten				
Sauerstoffsättigungsindex (vor Ort)	196	88		Berechnung
Arzneimittelrückstände - Ana	dgetika. Lipid	isenker, u.a.		
Acetylsalicylsäure (ASS)	ngit	<100 (NWG)***	300	DW 35407-47 2017-07 (mod 855)
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	µg1	<0.010 (NWG)	0.03	Dev 38407-47 (2017-07(BB)
Bezafbrat	Pou lou	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D84 38407-47 (2017-07(98))
Carbamazepin	lou	<0.03 (+)	0.03	D#V 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Clofibrinsture	1991	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#3.35407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.(D2)
Crotamiton	lou	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D4V 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Diazepam	log	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DEN 38407-47 : 2017-07(58)
Diciofenac	Fore	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#V36407-47 : 2017-07(56)
Elofiorat	ngi	<10 (NWG)	30	DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Fenotbrat	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Fenofibrinsaure	nail	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V.38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Fenoprofen	ngi	<10 (NWG)	36	D8V(35407-47 : 2017-07(5b)
Gemfibrozil	uo1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DEV 38407-47 ; 2017-07(88)
Heptabarbital	log l	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88
buprofen	µg1	<0,10 (NWG) ^{rel}	0,3	DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07 (mod 855)
Indometecin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DEV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Ketoprofen	uo1	<0.03 (NWG)	0.05	D#V 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
Lidocain	pol	<0.015 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(86)
Metformin	µal	<0.05(+)	0.05	DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
Naproxen	lugi	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Norethindron	logi	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#V 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Paracetamol	ngA	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V.38407-47 (2017-07(88))
Pentovifyllin	ngA	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V 38407-47 (2017-07(88)
Phenacetin	lou	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#V 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)
Phenazon	lou	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
Primidon	Lug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#4 38407-47 (2017-07(88)
Propyphenazori	lugi	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#V35407-47 : 2017-07(58)
Trie-2-Chlorethylphosphat	lugi	<0.10	0.1	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98)

100

200557 NAT-D-Hz Geschiltsführer Dr. Paul Wirrerer Dr. Jens Rackke Dr. Cerlo G. Peict

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.de



Datum	11.05.2020
Kundenn:	20086508

DIV 35407-35 : 2014-09(55) 1/

PRÜFBERICHT 2026685 - 804159

		- Law of the second second	200726	
	Enhel	Ergebris	Best. Or.	Grenzweit. Bewertung Methode
10+i joktary-10,11-dihydrocarbamazepin	ug1	<0.03 (+)	0.03	Devi 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	ug1	0,04	0.03	D#V38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
4-Aminoantipyrin	i pot	<0,03 (+)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(86)
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	pal	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(89)
4-Formylaminoantipyrin	l lgu	0,12	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
Pflanzenschutzmittel und Bie	ozidprodukte	(PSM)		
AMPA	lugi	0,04	0.03	DIN (80 18308 2017-06(88)
Givehesat	uo/	<0.010 (NWG)	0.03	DIN (SC 16306 (2017-06/88)

<0,015 (NWG) 0.03

mij Die Bestimmung-, bzw. Nachweisgrenze musste erhöht werden, de zur Anelyse das zu vermessende Meteral aufgrund zeiner Probenbescheffenheit verdiant werden musste

Enlasterung: Das Zeichen "<" oder n.b. in der Spaße Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei neberstehender

ppl

Bestmmungsgrenze nicht guenfillzierber. Das Zeichen "<...(MWG)" oder n.n. in der Spelle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei meberstehender Nechweisgenze nicht

nachzuweisen. Das Zeichen "<....(+)" in der Spalle Ergebris bedeutet, der betreffende Staff wurde im Bereich zwischen Nachweisgrenze und

Bestmungsgreize qualitativ nachgewiesen. Die parameterspezifischen Massunache feeben sowie informationen zum Berechnungsverfahren and auf Antrage verfügdar, sofern die berichteten Ergebnisse oberhalb der parameterspezifischen Bestimmungsgrenze Aegen

u) Vergabe an ein eksnedtiertes Agroleb-Gruppen-Lebor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labora

Terbuthylazin

Untersuchung durch

(BB) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Mocestrasse 8 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee

Methoden

DIN 38407-47 . 2017-07

(BB) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moosshasse 6 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee, für die zillerte Methode aktreditieri nach ISO/IEC 17625:2005, Aktreditierungsurkunde: D-PL-14289_01_00 Methoden

DIN ISO 16308 : 2017-09: DIN 38407-36 : 2014-09: DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07: DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Prüfungen: 27.04.2020 Ends der Pröfungen: 11.05.2020

Die Ergebnisse beziehen sich ausschließlich auf die geprüften Gegeinstände. In Fallen, wo das Proflabor nicht für die Probenahme verantwortlich var. gelten die berichteten Ergebolsse für die Proben wie erhaten. Die auszugsweite Verwießstigung des Berichts ohne unsere schriftliche Genehmigung ist nicht zulässig. Die Ergebolsse in desem Prüfbericht werden gemilit der mit Ihnen schriftlich gemilit Auftragsbedätigung gehaftenen Vereinberung in verwintschler Weise. (5. der DIV EN ISOREG 17025/2018, Abs. 7.8.1.3 berlahtet.

H. Geller

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung



ach@idChas Dr. Paul Wrreser Dr. Jees Razidole Dr. Corto C. Pelot



Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Klet, Germany www.agrolab.de

ADROLAS Agrar&Univelt Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Limnologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel

25.06.2020
20086508

PRÜFBERICHT 2030849 - 836570

Autrag
Analysennr.
Probeneingang
Probenahme
Kunden-Probenbezeichnung

2030849 Oberflächenwasseruntersuchung, Projekt Edelkrebs 836570 Oberflächenwasser 12.06.2020 12.06,2020 19:00 KA-A

Ergebris Best.-Gr. Grenzwert Bewertung Methode

Einheit

Physikalisch-chemische Par-	ameter			
pH-Wert (vor Ort)		7,95	.2	Kundeninformation
Wassertemperatur (vor Ort)	C	17,4	0	Kundeninformation
Leitlihigkeit (vor Ort) bei 25°C	pS/cm	1090	10	Kundeninformation
Gasförmige Komponenten				
Sauerstoffsättigungsindex (vor Ort)	1%	59		Kundeninformation
Arzneimittelrückstände - Anz	sloetika. Lipi	dsenker, u.a.	- saestlik	
Acetylsalicylsäure (ASS)	ngil	<100 (NWG) ^{mi}	300	DitN 38407-47: 2017-07 vi (mod 105)
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	ligu	<0.010 (NWG)	0.03	D#V38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 44
Bezafbrat	ug/I	0,04	0.03	D#4 38407-47 (2017-07(88) -44
Carbamazepin	light	3,1	0,03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) .00
Clofibrinsäure	leu	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DW 38407-47 (2017-07 (4) (mod.)(55))
Crotamiton	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DEV.38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) 14
Diazepam	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(58) VI
Diciofenso	ug1	2,8	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) 1/
Etofibrat	rigit	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) UI
Fenotbrat	ngi	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V38407-47 (2017-07(88) UK
Fenofbrinsäure	ngi	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(95) 44
Fenoprofen	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DW/35407-47:2017-07(55) M
Gemfibrozil	µg/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	Ditvi 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) UI
Heptabarbital	l l g u	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
buprofen	höj	<0,10 (NWG) ⁽¹¹⁾	0,3	DBN 33407-47 - 2017-07 44 (mod.855)
Indometacin	ng/l	<30(+)	30	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) 14
Ketoprofen	pg1	<0.05 (+)	0.05	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) .ul
Lidocain	agl	0,177	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) · ···
Metformin	ug1	0,63	0.05	D#438407-47 : 2017-07(88) un
Naproxen	liggt	0,08	0,03	D#V38407-47 : 2017-07(B8) VI
Norethindron	IP91	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(85) HI
Perecetamol	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV/38407-47 : 2017-01(88) 44
Pentostfylin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(RB) - 0
Phenapetin	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 38407-97 : 2017-07(BB) 9
Phenazon	log	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 35407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -4
Primidon	pgt	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 35407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -4
Propyphenezon	light	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) -48
Tris-2-Chlorethylphosphat	1 log	<0,10	0,1	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 4
10H phony-12,11-dity/itrearbemozegin	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	Dev 38407-47 (2017-07(88) -4

UNION P

AG Hiblesheim Geschäftelühren HRB-300257 Dr. Paul Winner Usz WAT-10-Nm DE 198 606 523 Dr. Carlo C. Prict Soite 1 von 2

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.de



Datum	25.06.2020		
Kundennr.	20086508		

PRÜFBERICHT 2030849 - 836570

	Enhel	Ergebris	Best. Or.	Grenzwert. Bewertung Methode	
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	ug1	1,0	0.03	Divi 38407-47 : 2017-0	7(88) (#
4-Aminoantipyrin	ug1	1,3	0.03	D#vi 38407-47 : 2017-0	7(88) 41
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	pat	<0,03(+)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-0	7(85) 4
4-Formylaminoantipyrin	pg1	10	0.03	D8V38407-47 : 2017-0	7(88) 9
Pflanzenschutzmittel und	Biozidprodukte (P	SM)			
AMPA	leaf	1,5	0.03	DIN (SD 16304 2017-0	in (180)ac

Terbuthylazin	1gu	<0,030 (+)	0,03	Devidenciae (2014-06088); 4
	10.00		2,22	Particular and the later of the shakes
Glyphosat	lou	5.8	0.03	DIN ISO 16308 (2017-06(68) VI
			37.972	and the second state of the second

niv) Die Bestimmung-, bzw. Nachweisgnerze musste erhöht werden, da zur Analyse das zu vermessende Material aufgrund seiner Probenbeschaffanheit verdunnt warden mussle

Problembeschaftkontet versommt worden missele. Erikuterung: Das Zeichen "<" oder n.b. in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei rebendehender Bestimmungsgrenze micht quertifizierber Das Zeichen "<...(MWG)" oder n.n. in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei nebende hender Nechweisgrenze nicht nachzuweisen: Das Zeichen "<...(+/" in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff wurde im Bereich zeischen Nachweisgrenze und Bestimmungsgrenze qualitativ nachgewiesen. Die personeterspezifischen Messunscherferben sowie informationen zum Bereichnungsverlahren sind auf Anfrege verfagbar, sofern die heichtigten Bereichter der stehetbel die restregebreise Bettimmen zum Bereichnungsverlahren sind auf Anfrege verfagbar, sofern die heichtigten Bereichter die stehetbel die restregebreise Bettimmen gewannenzen diesen

berichteten Ergebnisse oberhalb der parameterspezillischen Bestimmungsgrenze legen

u) Verpiète an ein akkreditiertes Agrolab-Gruppen-Labor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labore

Uniersuchung durch

(B5) AGROLAS Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moosstrasse 5 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee

Methoden DIN 36407-47 : 2017-07

(86) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moossirasse 6 a, 62279 Eching / Ammersee, für die diterte Methode aktreditert nach ISO/IEC 17025/2005, Aktroditionungsurkunde: D-PL-14299_01_00 Methoden

DIN ISO 18308 : 2017-09; DIN 38407-36 : 2014-09; DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07; DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Präfungen: 12.06.2020 Ende der Pröfungen: 25.06.2020

Die Ergebnisse beziehen sich ausschließlich auf die geprüften Gegenstände. In Fallen, wo das Pröflabor nicht für die Probenahme verantwortlich war, gelten die berichteten Ergebnisse für die Proben wie erhalten. Die auszugeweise Verniefäßigung die Berichts ohne unsere schriftliche Genehmigung ist nicht zulässig. Die Ergebnisse in desem Pröfbericht werden gemäß der mit Ihnen schriftlich gemäß Auftragebestätigung getrofferen Vereinbarung in vereinfachter Weise. I.S. der DW EN ISOREC 17025:2016, Abs. 7.8.1.3 berichtet.

M. Goldiner

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung



ach@idChas Dr. Paul Wrreser Dr. Jees Razidole Dr. Corto C. Pelot

Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany wew.agrolab.de

AGROLAS Agrar&Unwell Dr.-Hell-Str. 5, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Limologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel



Datum	25.06.2020		
Kundennr.	20086508		

PRUFBERICHT 203	30849 - 8	36571			
Autrag Analysennr. Probeneingang Probenahme	20 83 12 12	2030849 Oberflächenwasseruntersuchung, Projekt Edelkrebs 836571 Oberflächenwasser 12.06.2020 12.06.2020			
Kunden-Probenbezeichnung	Einheit	Ergebris	Best-Gr.	Grenzwert	Bewerlung Methode
Gasförmige Komponenten	144	65	2008/215 7	areaeses	Kundeninformation
Armainittelninketinde - Am	dentilen Lini	denoter un	i		- Buristerin Borniazan
Arzheimiteruckstande - Anz	sigenka upi	useriker, u.a.	300	1	08438407-47-3013-07 14
(Abergisalicyisaure (ASS)	nga	<100 fixing)	300		(nod (BB)
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	pg1	<0,010 (NWG)	0,03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(85) - 4
Bezafbrat	201	<0,01 (NWG)	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) ui
Carbamazepin	light 1	<0.03 (+)	0.03		D##38407-47 : 2017-07(88) 01
Clofibrinsaure	pgi	<0,01 (NWG)	0,03		DIV 38407-47 2017-07 ui (mod VBB)
Crotamiton	ug/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	-	D#V 38407-47 ; 2017-07(88) - 01
Distector	lou	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		D4N 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - VI
Diclotenac	ug1	0,04	0.03		DEV-38407-47 (2017-07(88) 44
Etofibrat	navl	<10 (NWG)	30		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(86) 44
Fenotbrat	Ingil	<10 (NWG)	30		Dev 38407-47 : 2017-07(86) : 9
Fenofbrinsäure	ngA	<10 (NWG)	30		D#438407-47:2017-07(88) (#
Fenoprofen	ng/	<10 (NWG)	30		D#V.38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) UI
Gemfibrozil	vol	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		D#V.38407-47 (2017-07(98) \
Heptabarbital	LOU IOU	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
buprofen	1901	<0,10 (NWG)**	0,3		DIV 38407-47 2017-07 VI
Indometacin	ngA	<10 (NWG)	30		D#4 38407-47 (2017-07/98) U
Ketoprofen	lugi	<0.03 (NWG)	0.05		DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(88) +4
Lidocain	ug1	<0.015 (NWG)	0.03		DWI 35407-47 : 2017-07(55) +#
Mettormin	1991	<0.03 (NWG)	0.05		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) UI
Naproxen	ug/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DitN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 41
Norethindron	ug/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) -4
Paracetamol	ngA	<10 (NWG)	30		DIN 33407-47 : 2017-07(85) 40
Pentoxifylin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	36		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) vi
Phenacetin	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03		D8V 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) UI
Phenazon	pal	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) ····
Primidon	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		D#V 38407-47 ; 2017-07(88) ···
Propyphenazon	lug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		Dev 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) vit
Tris-2-Chlorethylphosphat	lug/	<0,10	0,1		DIN 38407-47 ; 2017-07(Bib) M
10H schery-10.11-dihydrocarbamates n	pgt	0,03	0,03		DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(85) - 44
4-Acetamidoantipytin	pgi	0,09	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-01/88) (#
4-Aminoantipyrin	ug1	<0,03(+)	0.03		Devi 38407-47 : 2017-07(98): 16
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	1/2 L	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) 1/
4-Formylaminoantipyrin	log	0.35	0.03	1	DIV 35407-47 : 2017-07(85) W

4

AG Hikkestein HRB 200557 List, WAT-ID-Re DE 186 666 523 Geschilltelührer Dr. Paul Winner Dr. Jens Rackde Dr. Cerlo G. Peich Soito 1 von 2



Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 94107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.de

				Datum	25.06.2020
				Kundenm	20086508
PRÜFBERICHT 20308	49 - 836571				
	Enhel	Ergebris	BestOr.	Grenzwert, Bewertung Mo	thode
Pflanzenschutzmittel	und Biozidprodukte (PSM)			
AMPA	logi	0,07	0,03		DIN ISO 10306 2017-09(58) 0
Glyphosat	last	<0,030 (+)	0.03	1	DIN ISD 10304 (2017-DR)58) (#
Terbuthylazin	lige	<0,030 (+)	0.03		DIN 38407-36 : 2014-09(98) - II

mi) Die Beistimmung-, bzw. Nachweisgrenze musste erhöht wenden, da zur Analyse das zu vermessende Material aufgrund seiner Probenbeschaftenheit versionn wenden musste. Erläuterung: Das Zeichen *<* oder n.b. in der Spalte Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei nebenstehender Bestimmungsgrenze nicht quantifizierbar. Das Zeichen *<- _(MMG)* oder n.n. in der Spalte Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei nebenstehender Nachtweiserben.

nectrumeten

Das Zeichen *<...(+)" in der Spalte Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff wurde im Bereich zwischen Nechweisgenze und

Bedimmungsgrenz e qualitativ nachgewiesen. Die parameterspezifischen Messunsicherheiten sowie informationen zum Berechnungsverlahren sind auf Antrage verlägdar, sofern die benchteten Engebrazie oberhalb der parameterspezifischen Beatenmungsgrenze legen.

10 Vergabe an ein akkreditiertes Agrolab-Gruppen-Labor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labore

Untersuchung durch (BB) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Mocsatrasse 6 a, 82270 Eching / Ammersee

Methoden

DIN 38407-47 2017-07

(SB) AGROLAS Standort Eching / Ammerses, Mocesshasse 5 a, 82279 Eching / Ammersee, für die zitierte Methode akkreditiert nach ISO/IEC 17025: 2005, Akkreditierungsununde: D-PL-14289_01_00

Methoden

DIN ISO 16306 : 2017-09; DIN 36407-36 : 2014-09; DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07; DIN 36407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Pröfungen: 12.06.2020

Ende der Prüfungen: 25.06.2020 (Verlängerung w.g. Nacherfassung undibder Plausibilitätsprüfung)

M. Gollins

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung



Geschäftsöhrer Dr. Paul Wineser Dr. Jess Radidie Dr. Corlo G. Pelot Solto Zuon Z



Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Klet, Germany www.agrolab.do

ADROLAS Agrar&Univelt Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel

Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel Limnologie, Kai Lehmann Am Botanischen Garten 1-9 24118 Kiel

Datum	25.06.2020
Kundennr.	20086508

PRUFBERICHT 2030849 - 836572

Autrag	
Analysennr.	
Probeneingang	
Probenahme	
Kunden-Probenbezeichnung	

2030849 Oberflächenwasseruntersuchung, Projekt Edelkrebs 836572 Oberflächenwasser 12.06.2020 12.06.2020 10:10 KA-B

Ergebris Best.-Gr. Grenzwert Bewertung Methode

Einheit

Physikalisch-chemische Par	ameter			
gH-Wert (vor Orl)		7,81	.2	Kundeninformation
Wassertemperatur (vor Ort)	C	14,0	0	Kundeninformation
Leitfilhigkeit (vor Ort) bei 25°C	pS/cm	617	10	Kundeninformation
Gasförmige Komponenten				
Sauerstoffsättigungsindex (vor Ort)	*	88		Kundeninformation
Arzneimittelrückstände - An	algetika, Lipi	dsenker, u.a.		
Acetylsalicylsäure (ASS)	ngil	<100 (NWG)***	300	Dev 38-407-47 : 2017-07 vi (mod 105)
Acetylsulfamethoxazol	lug/	<0,010 (NWG)	0.03	DRV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) - 44
Bezafbrat	ug/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#4 38407-47 (2017-07(98) 14
Carbamazepin	lug/	<0.03 (+)	0,03	DW/38407-47:2017-07(88) //
Clofibrinsäure	hðj	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07 (# (mod.) 555)
Crotamiton	pol	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	D#4.38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) Ht
Diazepam	lou	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(58) VI
Diciotenac	ug1	0,04	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(55) VI
Etofibrat	ing/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DHV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) UI
Fenofbrat	ng/	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V 38407-47 (2017-07(BB)) UK
Fenofbrinsäure	ngil	<10 (NWG)	30	D#V 35407-47 : 2017-07(55) 44
Fenoprofen	- ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DW/35407-47:2017-07(55) M
Gemfibrozil	µg/	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	Ditvi 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) 14
Heptabarbital	Mod No.	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88)
buprofen	hði	<0,10 (NWG) ^(m)	0,3	Din 33407-47 (2017-07 44) (mod 855)
Indometacin	ng/l	<10 (NWG)	30	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) M
Ketoprofen	pg4	<0.03 (NWG)	0.05	D#V38407-47 : 2017-07(B8) U
Lidocain	agi	<0,015 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 33407-47 : 2017-07(55) ++
Metformin	ugi	<0.03 (NWG)	0.05	D#9.35407-47 : 2017-07(55) (iii
Naproxen	lug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-37(B8) M
Norethindron	P01	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) H
Perecetamol	ngil	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV/38407-47 : 2017-07(86) 44
Pentostfylin	ng/	<10 (NWG)	30	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) - 0
Phenapetin	ug1	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIV 38407-47 : 20(7-07(88) 1/4
Phenazon	1QV	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(86) -4
Primidon	pgt	<0,01 (NWG)	0,03	DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(B5) -41
Propyphanazon	pg4	<0.01 (NWG)	0,03	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) AF
Tris-2-Chlorethylphosphat	1/gk	<0,10	0,1	DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(98) All
10H phony-12,11-dinythear bemozen m	ug/	0.03	0.03	Dev 38407-47 (2017-07(BB) -4

CARD IN COMP.

AG Hildeshein Geschätsführer HRS 200257 Dr. Paul Woreser Ust With D-Ver Dr. Jess Raddee DE 186 696 523 Dr. Carlo C. Prixt Saita 1 von 2



Dr.-Hell-Str. 6, 24107 Kiel, Germany www.agrolab.de

			Datum	25.06.2020
			Kundennr.	20086508
Fundam	Best de	Stanzard	Researchance SdeFords	

PRÜFBERICHT 2030849 - 836572

	Einheit	Ergebris	BestOr.	Grenzwert	Beverlung Methode
4-Acetamidoantipyrin	lug1	0,08	0.03	1	DEV 38407-47 : 20(7-07(BB) (#
4-Aminoantipyrin	ug1	<0.03 (+)	0.03		Dev 38407-47 : 2017-07(BB) -4
4-Dimethylaminoantipyrin	pgt	<0.01 (NWG)	0.03		DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) -44
4-Formylaminoamipyrin	pgi	0,34	0.03		DIV 38407-47 : 2017-07(88) VI
Pflanzenschutzmittel und	Biozidprodukte	(PSM)	, waa		

AMPA	leg	0,08	0.03	DIN (SD 10308 : 2017-56(88) u
Glyphosat	ug1	<0,030 (+)	0.03	DIN 150 16308 (2017-06(58) 4
Terbuthylazin	Line Line Line Line Line Line Line Line	<0,030 (+)	0,03	D#4.38407-38 2014-08/88) -4
Provide the second s				

mir) Die Bestimmung-, tzw. Nachweisgrenze musste erhöht werden, da zur Analyse das zu vermessende Material aufgrund seiner

Probenbeschaffanheit verdünnt warden mussle

Proof to be variant and when an above master. Enkuterung: Das Zeichen "<" oder n.b. in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei nebendehender Bestimmungsgrenze micht quertifizienter. Das Zeichen "<__(MWS)" oder n.n. in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff ist bei nebende hender Nachweisgrenze nicht nachzuweisen. Das Zeichen "<__(HVS)" oder n.n. in der Spalle Ergebnis bedeutet, der betreffende Stoff wurde im Bereich zwischen Nachweisgrenze und Bestimmungsgrenze methalts gehremisteren.

Der personen zum eine einer ergenne bereichten ander einer Die personererspezifischen Messunsicherheiten sowie informationen zum Bereichnungsverfahren sind auf Anfrage verfügbar, sofern die berichteten Ergebnisse oberhalb der persyneterspezifischen Bestimmungsgrenze fegen.

u) Vergabe an ein ekknedtiertes Agroleb-Gruppen-Lebor

Agrolab-Gruppen-Labore

Untersuchung durch

(85) AGROLAS Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moosstrasse 6 a. 82279 Eching / Ammersee

Methoden DBI 38407-47 : 2017-07

(86) AGROLAB Standort Eching / Ammersee, Moossirasse 6 a, 62279 Eching / Ammersee, für die diterte Methode aktreditert nach ISO/IEC 17025:2005, Aktroditiorungsurkunde: D-PL-14239_01_00

Methoden.

DIN ISO 16308 : 2017-09; DIN 38407-38 : 2014-09; DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07; DIN 38407-47 : 2017-07 (mod.)

Beginn der Prühingen: 12.06.2020 Ende der Prühingen: 25.06.2020 (Verlängerung og. Nacherfaszung undisder Plauzbaltätzprähing)

Die Ergebnisse beziehen sich ausschließlich auf die geprüften Gegenstände. In Follen, wo das Pröflabor nicht für die Probenahme verantwortlich war, gelten die berichteten Ergebnisse für die Proben wie erhalten. Die auszugeweise Verniefäßigung die Berichts ohne unsere schröfliche Genehmigung ist nicht zulässig. Die Ergebnisse in desem Pröfbericht werden gemäß der mit Ihnen schröflich gemäß Auftragebestätigung getrofferen Vereinbarung in vereinfachter Weise. IS. der DW EN ISOREC 17025/2016, Abs. 7.8.1.3 berichtet.

M. Gollar

AGROLAB Agrar&Umwelt Frau Melina Göllner, Tel. 0431/22138-546 Kundenbetreuung



exch38e%chare Dr. Paul Wereser Dr. Jees Radidue Dr. Carlo C. Peich Saite 2 von 2

Sample/Group	А	В	С	D
1	26	40	40	48
2	17	43	47	38
3	18	54	53	49
4	24	54	45	42
5	17	51	43	41
6	25	52	37	46
7	18	44	40	35
8	17	47	41	41
9	23	49	42	38
10	20	51	44	52
11	19	40	54	45
12	17	48	48	43
13	24	44	47	50
14	17	36	37	53
15	17	44	49	53
16	19	39	38	51
17	20	50	51	51
18	24	54	38	44
19	18	50	48	45
20	20	35	50	38
21	19	37	55	34
22	19	50	36	47
23	23	37	46	50
24	21	49	39	51
25	26	52	40	36
26	19	35	50	44
27	19	46	54	39
28	25	40	48	50
29	24	44	36	52
30	18	38	44	36
31	16	50	43	46
32	20	52	51	44
33	22	38	48	46
34	25	35	50	42
35	26	37	45	48
36	24	37	48	45
37	21	35	40	49
38	24	44	50	49
39	24	44	43	47
40	21	41	44	47

Table 6.13: Number of B-Cells/Hepathopancreas Cell of noble crayfish juveniles exposed to different areas near a STP influence

Sample/Group	А	В	С	D
41	23	41	37	50
42	25	48	40	51
43	22	47	49	45
44	21	39	53	38
45	19	39	49	37
46	22	51	49	34
47	16	54	49	45
48	24	35	55	47
49	26	42	39	40
50	21	35	43	44
51	18	35	48	37
52	24	39	41	53
53	19	48	53	47
54	22	52	36	37
55	23	46	54	34
56	25	50	46	50
57	16	42	38	46
58	25	43	45	48
59	26	54	38	35
60	26	49	47	52
Average	20.90	44.15	45.05	45.13
SD	3.08	6.23	5.32	5.27

Table 6.14: continuation of: Number of B-Cells/Hepathopancreas Cell of noble crayfish juveniles exposed to different areas near a STP influence

6.7 Acknowledgments

By the end of my dissertation, a long list of people has emerged to whom I am grateful for their support in completing this work and overcoming all the other problems that have arisen in recent years. So, I would like to take this opportunity to thank some of them.

First and foremost, of course, **Prof. Dr. Heinz Brendelberger**. Without your support right from the beginning, from the elaboration of the topic and the application to the DBU, to the corrections of the manuscripts, to the help with the dissertation itself. Who would have expected 7 years ago, when I first entered the working group, that in the end a whole dissertation would come out? Thank you very much for your trust, without which I would never have come so far.

And so, I stood there at the beginning. An idea for a doctoral thesis that could even contribute to nature conservation, a working group in which I could implement this idea, but no idea how to finance me and the investigation. Fortunately, for such cases there is the "**Deutsche Bundesstiftung Umwelt**". But here I am not only grateful for the financing. Through the seminars and the supervision by **Dr. Wachendörfer** I was able to make contacts that opened up new worlds of my subject. I hope that many more committed scientists can benefit from the good work of the DBU, as I did.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Carsten Schulz for the sacrificed time of the second correction.

All co-authors: Kai Lehmann, Arne Georg, Lena Lietz and Thekla Schultheiß and **Prof Dr. Brendelberger**, for the productive discussions, the insightful inputs and constantly pleasant collaborations and Jessica Lichte, who was a huge help at the laboratory and with the histological studies.

The members of the Limnology group. During the long time in the department I have not only met colleagues but also close friends. In particular I would like to mention Jessika Lichte, Sophie Bodenstein, Kai Lehman and Arne Georg as constant companions. But also, Nadine Lefering, Johanna Fuhrmann, Jannis Hofmann and Adrian Schörle should not remain unmentioned. Through this great group, the work, but especially my social life was significantly enhanced. I also have to apologize for all your pencils that I have lost. *I'm sure they'll turn up again some time*.

For the cooperation's with **Helmut Jeske**, who provided us with experimental animals and also taught me one or two things from practical experience and the **LLUR** whose data significantly advanced the planning of the experiments.

My family, but especially my **mother Maria** and, **sisters Vera and Silke** and all my friends, who always reminded me that life is not only about crayfish, but still endured it when I could not stop talking about it. It is thanks to you that I have become like this. I think that went quite well And now to the most important person of all: **Judith**, I was allowed to experience so much support from you. You have helped me up again after every setback and given me the best motivation in the world. I can hardly wait for the future with you and our little family. Thank you, Judith.

7 Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit bestätige ich, Jan Laurenz, dass die folgende Dissertation

Sublethal and lethal effects of pharmaceuticals and agricultural chemicals on the reproduction of freshwater crayfish

von mir, unter Beratung meines Betreuers, selbstständig verfasst wurde, nach Inhalt und Form meine eigene Arbeit ist und keine weiteren Quellen und Hilfsmittel als die angegebenen verwendet wurden.

Die vorliegende Arbeit ist unter Einhaltung der Regeln guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis der Deutschen Forschungsgemeinschaft entstanden und wurde nicht im Rahmen eines Prüfungsverfahrens an anderer Stelle vorgelegt. Zur Veröffentlichung eingereichte Manuskripte wurden kenntlich gemacht. Mir wurde kein akademischer Grad entzogen

Kiel, 25.09.2020

Jan Laurenz